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shanks group is europe’s largest listed
independent waste management company
operating in the Netherlands, Belgium,
UK and Canada

shanks at a glance

Netherlands  Belgium UK  Canada Group
El;ployees at year end 2,074 1,016 943 7 4,040
Total operating centres B 35 18 43 1 97
Operating centres with recycling/recovery 26 10 35 1 72
Operational landflll sites 1 2 6 - B 9
Collection and transportTorrles 240 350 270 - 1,560
Tonnes waste handled {million tonnes) 43 15 28 01 ;;
Tonnes materlals recovered {mlillon tonnes) 3565 076 062 002 495
Overall recycling and recovery rate 83% 51% 22% 50% 5;%
Energy generated (megawatt hours) 8,789 58,222 28,873 _ 95,884
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Shanks is a leading European waste processing and resource
management company providing its customers with sustainable solutions
to their waste and environmental obligations

our vision is to be europe’s leading
provider of sustainable waste
management solutions

Our Strategy
1 Invest to drive organic growth where returns are greatest

2 Develop our infrastructure further to support sustainable waste
management and conversion of waste to renewable energy
Share core capabilities and technologies across the Group
Maximise asset utilisation and minimise unit costs
Continue to use acquisitions to improve asset utilisation and

re orient the portfolio to high growth markets
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growth on 2007

11% 11% 15%

10%

5%

Revenue Headline Profit EBITDA Adjusted EPS Dividend
financial highlights
2008 2007

Revenue £564m £509m
Headline profit* £44 8m £40.3m
Amortisation of acquisttion intangibles? £(2.5)m £(1 1)m
Exceptional items

profit on disposal of properties® £1.9m £0 0m

change In fair value of PFl interest rate swaps® £(2.9)m £6 9m
Profit before tax £41.3m £46 1m
Adjusted basic earnings per share* 12.9p 117p
Basic earnings per share 12.0p 13.3p
Dividend per share 6.2p 5.9p
EBITDA® £92.7m £80 6m
Core Business net debt £212m £134m
PFl Companies net debt® £11im £123m
Total Group net debt before fair value adjustment £323m £257m
Fair Value of PFl interest rate swaps £4m £0m
Total Group net debt £327m £257Tm

Befare amortisation of acquisition mtangibles exceplional items and tax

Before amortisation of acquisition sntangibles and exceptional tems, net of associated tax
Earmnings bafore interest, tax depreciation and amortisation {EBITDA}
Nonvecourse net debt in the PRl companies excluding fair value of interest rate swaps

[+ PR P R NI

Revenue Headline profit
(£m) {£m)
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Acquisition intangibles comprisa mtangible assets ansing on acquisitions excluding landfill void and computer scftware
The Group considers these tems as exceptional for the purposes of determining headline profit

Profit before tax from

continuing operations

(£m)




We have a clear strategy for growing
the business to create long term value
for all our stakeholders

chairman’s statement

Financlal Performance

| am pleased to be able to report upon
another good set of financial results for
the year to 31 March 2008 Group
revenue increased by 11% to £564m and
headline profit rose 11% to £44 8m This
improvement reflects strong trading Iin the
majority of our businesses, the principal
exception being landfill in Belgium which,
as expected, reported a reduced
contribution as new legislative restrictions
came into effect Adjusted basic earnings
per share improved by 10% to 12 9p after
a reduction In the headline tax rate of 1%
to 32%

Recognising the improving lang term
growth prospects of the Group the Board
n future intends to follow a progressive
dividend policy, which balances earnings
growth and cash generation with the
future investment needs of the Group
This year your Board 1s recommending a
final dividend of 4 2p per share which
together with the intenim dividend
produces a total dividend of 6 2p, a 5%
Increase on last year

People

The good results for the year reflect the
efforts of all our employees across the
Group Shanks 1s a service business and
delivering consistently high levels of
customer service In such an emaronment
15 only possible with a highly committed
workforce On behalf of the Board | would
like to thank them for their hard work and
commitment

During the year Tomn Drury took over from
Michael Avenll as Group Chief Executive
The Board 1s very pleased with the smooth
transition and the fresh perspective that
he has brought to the Group At the

Board's request Tom undertook a thorough
review of the Group’s activities and we
helieve that this has provided us with
clarity of direction and focus for our
investment plans going forward This 1s
described In the Chief Executive’'s
statement and the Business Overview

At the end of March 2008 the Head of
our Dutch business Fred Knitef retired
from the Group after 14 years of
dedicated service to Shanks and its
predecessor companies Fred led the
development of qur Dutch business as
managing director from 2000 and was
successful in positioning Shanks as one
of the leading waste management
compames in the Netherlands with a clear
market focus and strong financial
performance We would iike to thank Fred
for hus contribution to the Group and wish
him well for the future

| am delighted that we were able to
replace Fred through an internal
appointment and on 1 Apnl 2008 Michael
van Hulst was appointed managing
director of the Netherlands Michael was
previously general manager of lcova, one
of our largest companies in the
Netherlands and has 17 years experience
tin the waste industry

Corporate Responsibility

Shanks operates In a highly regulated
industry which nghtly requires high
standards of health and safety and
environmental complance It i1s also an
industry that 1s undergoing considerable
change and ts ingreasingly seen as an
important contnbutor to supporting
governments’ efforts to manage
resources and control climate change
Shanks 15 committed to playing rts fullest

part in this challenge and achieving the
highest professional standards in all i1ts
operations Whilst we have a proud record
in this area we will continue to examine
ways to improve further our performance
and measure our contribution to a soctety
based upcn more sustainable waste
management techniques We will be
setting specific targets dunng 2008

It was pleasing during the year to report a
21% reduction in reportable accrdent rate,
with particular improvements in our
Belghian bustness Whilst there were some
enforcement actions by regulators relating
to qur environmental permits, these were
relatively minor and our performance
remains good In this area compared to
our peers Finally, last year we submitted
a response to the Business in the
Environment (BIE) index of corporate
environmental engagement and | am
pleased that we improved our
assessment from a silver to a gold band

Outlook

The Board I1s confident concerning the
future prospects for the Group The full
year effect of the recent dechne in landfilt
volumes in Belgium should be more than
compensated by improved performances
in the rest of the Group As a resuit the
Board continues to expect a good overall
performance in 2009 with increasing
growth thereafter as the Group benefits
from 1ts more focused investment plans

~

Adrnian Auer
Chairman
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Our vision 1s to be Europe’s leading
provider of sustatnable waste
management solutions

chief executive’s statement

4
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I joined as Group Chief Executive on

1 October 2007 and since then have
managed to visit all of our major sites In
the Netherlands, Belgium, Canada and
the UK and met many of the people upon
whom we rely for our success My overall
impression I1s that Shanks 1s a great
company to be joining at an exciting time
for the industry Governments across the
world are urging the waste industry to
support them in recovering more
resources and energy from the things that
society throws away They are providing
economic Incentives to mcrease recycling
through taxation on landfilt and in some
cases Incineration, alongside subsidies
for treatment processes that support the
production of renewable energy from
waste The new European Directive on
Waste currently moving through the
European Parliament witl provide further
legistative support for this trend

Shanks 1s well placed to prosper in this
changing environment Qur Group
operates In countries with the highest
recycling rates in Europe and has
exparience of a number of treatment
processes capable of producing
renewable energy from waste We have
set ourselves the aspiration to be
regarded as Eurcpe's leading sustainable
waste management company and will be
working hard over the coming years to
achieve this goal

Strategy

Having reviewed the business during my
first six months | believe there 1s an
exciting opportunity to generate attractive
returns for investors by focusing our
investment around sustainable waste
management in all of the countries in
which we operate There 1s sufficient
market opportunity for us to generate high
organic growth rates from such
investment with a lower risk profile than a
growth strategy based solely on
acquisitions

Our Group strategy going forward I1s
therefore a simple one to deliver organic
growth by investing In assets that support
sustainable waste management and are
capable of delivenng attractive returns on
capital Alongside this we will actively
share expertise and technology across
the Group whiist retaining a very strong
focus on keeping our unit costs amongst
the lowest in the industry Finally, we will
use acquisitions to improve capacity
utihsation (our “tuck " model) or to
secure capabiliies that re-orient the
Group to higher growth activities

The potential for this growth strategy was
shown in this year's financial results with
all major business units growing well
ahead of inflation other than our Belgian
landfill which, as expected, delivered a
reduced contribution

Qur investments in each of our country
operations dunng the year reflected the
strategic intent highlighted above




The Netherlands

Strategy

Maintain our premium margins and grow
our Solid and Hazardous Waste
husinesses ahead of GDP with higher
growth coming frem Orgaworld and tuck in
acquisitions

Our Dutch business generated a trading
margin of 13% in 2008, a performance
which compares favourably with its peers
Our goal 15 to maintain this premium
position whilst growing the business

The acquisition of Orgaworld in Apri) 2007
for €30m plus a five year earn-out of up
to €20m provides the Group with strong
capabilities to process source segregated
organic waste using advanced composting
or anaergbic digestion technologies
These are technologies that have very
attractive growth potenbal in a number of
international markets Already a leading
player in the Dutch organics market
serving both munictpal and commercial
customers, we have been able to achieve
a strong market position In the Canadian
market through the application of
Orgaworld’s composting product Long
term contracts in Toronte and Ottawa with
a total contract value of approximately
Can$250m were secured durnng the year
We are also actively looking to introduce
its products into the UK and Belgian
markets

We invested a further €18m (including
€3m of deferred payments) in 4 small
tuck in acquisitions in the Netherlands
aimed at improving capacity utihsation
and increasing our local market share
Our commitment (o keeping at the
forefrant of recycling in the Dutch market
was demanstrated by the completion of
an investment of €3m in the latest
recycling technology at our Viike plant In
Leiderdorp

Belgium

Strategy

Grow our Industnal & Commercial (1&C)
Solid Waste business to replace declining
landfilt profits by securing competitive
disposal outlets and through renewable
energy production

In 2008 landfill accounted for around a
third of the Belgian profits, already down
from nearly 50% in 2007 The
contribution from this activity is falling as
the government seeks to ban mumctpal
biodegradable waste from going to landfill
and we are therefore creating profitable
alternatives by focusing on processing
1&C, organic and wood waste in a way
that creates a fuel source or renewable
energdy at a lower gverali cost than
traditional alternatives

We invested in organic growth projects to
produce solid recovered fuel {SRF) from
1&C customers at our Ghent plant and in
the provision of anaerobic digestion and
wastewater treatment at ocur Roeselare
ptant Both of these will generate energy
from waste and support strong growth for
our non-landfill {&C business in Belgium

Shortly after the year end we announced
the acguisition of the Foronex Group for a
constderation of €23m Foronex 1s &
leading player in the wood waste and by
products market in the Benelux and a
significant provider of wood based
products to the rapidly growing energy
from biomass marketplace We see good
opportunities to support the continued
growth of this exciting business and to
access more profitable outlets for the
230,000 wonnes of waste wood we
currently process each year In the
Benelux

UK

Strategy

Make Shanks the preferred alternative to
landfill By establishing a network of
processing centres based on the Shanks
Benelux model

Having sold sts landfilf assets n 2004,
Shanks 15 well positioned to take
advantage of nsing landfill taxation to
divert waste we collect to processing
centres that we will create similar to
those 0 our Benelux businesses We will
continue to grow our municipal treatment
business through participation in Public
Finance Imtiative {PFl) projects

In November 2007 we completed the
acquisition of Wastecom for £11m to
provide us with advanced recycling
capabibty in the Kettering area Bullding
on the success of recent Investments in
Scotland, this further supports our belief
that there 1s a profitable opportunity in the
UK to develop a strong recycling business
using our expertise from the Benelux in
Apnl 2008 landfill tax rose by the highest
amount ever (£8 per tonne) on its way to a
target of £48 per tonne by 2010 The
government has confirmed its commitment
to further increases beyond this point and
this provtdes the nght incentive for
investment in recycling and reprocessing
centres We have targeted three regions in
the UK which in the short to medium term
will provide the geographic focus to build
our business These are the Central Belt
of Scotland, the East Midlands and the
Northern Home Counties We have
identified the sites that we would like to
develop and will be applving for planning
permission shortly These, together with
continued tuek In acquisitions, will support
the development of a profitable UK
recycling business

shanks annual report 2008 &




chief executive’s statement ...
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We continue to believe that the UK PFI
market offers attractive opportunities for
Shanks Over the next ten years the
government estimates £1Cbn of funding
will be required to upgrade the
infrastructure needed to divert the
biodegradable municipal sohd waste away
from landfill Shanks has taken a strong
position In the market through ts
proposition based upon the innovative
EcoDeco mecharucal brological treatrent
(MBT) technology We believe this remains
a very attractive solution to the needs of
local authorities and so creates a strong
pipeline of opportunities as authorities
move to meet ther 2010 and 2013
reduction targets We continue our
negotiations with Cumbna County Council
where we are preferred bidder and expect
this opportunity to reach financial closure
dunng the current financiat year

Culture

Shanks has a highly decentralised
structure that has allowed It to keep its
central overheads low and mamtain an
entrepreneurial culture in 1ts operating
urts This, in my view, has been a
strength of Shanks and one which |
ntend to retain Waste collection and
processing remains essentially a local
business and it 1s important that decision
making 18 as close to the customer as
possible It has also proved an rmportant
factor in persuading entrepreneurial
managers who join the Group through
acquisition to remain with us

This said however, our strategy going
forward will be to fecus on buikding
recycling and energy recovery activities
across the Group and 1t makes good
sense to share the technologies and
years of expertise that we have within the
Group The Executive Committee, which

consists of the managing directors of the
three countries together with myself and
the Group Finance Director, meets
regularly and part of its remit 1s to ensure
that such knowledge transfer takes place
We will focus on specific projects and
opportunities and will not seek to
centralise activities that are best done
logally, thereby avoiding the build up of
unnecessary overhead

Performance

We are committed to producing attractive
returns for the owners of the business
We have apalysed our portfolio and have
identified where the best opportunities for
maximising returns on capital employed
{ROCE) are Whilst our current overall
ROCE of 12% 1s ahead of our weighted
average cost of capital (WACC), we believe
that we can and should generate greater
returns from our capital base and will be
looking for our new Investments to
contnbute to this improvement alongside
improving the cash generation and
profitability of our underlying existing
businesses

Tom Drury
Grotup Chief Executive




business overview

As last year much of the background
information remains unchanged This Is
repeated below, updated where
appropriate

Each year the Group reviews its strategy
This year, following the appointment of
Tom Drury as Group Chief Executive tn
Cctober 2007, a more in depth exercise
was undertaken In order to give a clearer
understanding of the Group's strategy this
section has been expanded

The European Waste Market

Waste management 1s an essential
service In societies where there 1s a high
level of regulation and enforcement, it 15 @
sophisticated industry using advanced
technologies tn societies with little or no
regulation or enforcement, waste tends to
be treated indiscriminately

In the European Union (EU} the tevel of
environmental regulation 1s high, however
unhke trade regulations, there are no
commaon standards for waste
management EU legislation on waste
sets mimimum standards which member
nations must meet, however they are free
to exceed these standards in order to
follow their own political and
environmental agendas The result is that,
within the EY, national regulations differ
and there 15 no single market

The waste management market can be
subdivided into non hazardous and
hazardous waste The former tends to be
a local business, as the relatively low unit
cost of treatment makes transport a
significant part of the gverall cost
Hazardous waste treatment costs tend to
be higher making 1t @ more regional
business

Both the public and the private sector are
active 1n the waste market The degree of
privatisation varies across Europe, it 1s
high in the UK and France but lower in
Germany, the Netherlands and Belgium
Advancing EU legistation 1s necessitating
substantial investment In new
Infrastructure This mvestment combined
with budgetary constramts I1s drnving
privatisation inhiatives in many EU
countnes Within the private sector,
consolidation of the industry has been a
feature for many years The new
infrastructure requirements and the long
term nature of the business have recently
attracted \nfrastructure funds

Within the national markets a further
distinction may be made between
“collection, transfer and recychng” and
“treatment and disposal” The former has
historically had low barriers to entry and
hence has been made up of many small
participants Increasing recycling reguires
greater investment In ifrastructure which
1s moving this market towards the farger
ptayers Treatment and disposal have high
barriers to entry as facilities tend to be
capital intensive and projects have long
gestation periods These activities are
therefore the domain of well capitalised
companies, and are populated by a few
large players, often multinationais

The markets may also be split between
the industnat and cemmercial (1&C) sector
and the municipal sector In most EU
countnes the municipalities have a
statutory duty to deal with household
waste, which they etther do themselves or
use private sector contractors They have
no such duty in respect of 1&C waste The
municipal sector is therefore typified by
long term contracts which tend to be 5 to
10 years for collection and often In

excess of 20 years for treatment and
disposal The 1&C sector tends to be a
much more short term market, with
contracts In excess of a couple of years
being rare

Market Trends and Drivers

in Europe, and indeed elsewhere in the
world, the general market trend can be
summarised as

“Less waste, more materals recovery,
energy from waste and much less
landfil”

The high level factors behind this are
climate change, soaring fossi fuel prices
and increasing environmental awareness,
specifically an increasing appreciation
within society of the need to develop
sustainable waste solutions These
factors are driving a convergence hetween
the waste, energy intensive and power
tndustnes

In terms of specific legislative and market
drivers these can be summarised as
follows

The European Landfill Directive —
biodegradable waste in landfill is a major
source of methane emissions to the
atmosphere Methane 15 a potent
greenhouse gas with 25 times the impact
of a carbon dioxide emission of the same
mass A key objective of this directive 1s
to significantly reduce the fandfiling of
biodegradable waste, a major component
of municipal waste, that is landfilled by
European member states The directive
also aims to reduce the polluting impact
of landfills by substantially restricting
other types of waste that may be
landfilled
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business overview .....

Landfill tax s a significant mechanism
being used by many Eurcpean states to
drive waste out of landfill to more
environmentally acceptable options such
as recycling and energy recovery

Soaring energy prices have increased the
pressure to find alternative fuels, waste 1s
one of these

Carbon emisslons quotas have further
increased the cost of using fossil fuels
Waste derved fuels can be exempt from
carbon emissions calculations, increasing
Interest in this source of fuel

Renewable electricity — many waste
based electncity generation projects
qualify for renewable electricity subsrdies
and credits, available in varnous forms
across Europe This is because a major
component of waste derived fuels
compiises renewable short carbon cycle
maternals, e g wood, paper, and other
vegetable matter

European Waste Directive - this 1s
currently being revised and the changes
should be endorsed by the European
Parliament dunng the course of 2008 1t
1s likely this will Impose even higher
targets on recycling and energy recovery
from waste on European member states
gotng forwards

The effects of these drivers vary from
couniry 1o country

The Netherlands

The Netherlands has had some of the
most advanced environmental legislation
In Europe in place for some time They
also have high levels of landfill tax
{currently €88 per tonne) These, together
with the geological characteristics of the
country, have resufted in a low reliance on
landfill, incineration being the
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predominant final disposal route The
higher cost and imited capacity of final
disposal outlets has made sorting and
recycling in the Netherlands more viable
and it 1s not uncommon for recychng rates
to be 70% or above The Dutch market s
therefore relatively stable and not subject
to major changes

Belglum

In Belgium, environmental responsibtlity 1s
devolved to the three Regions Flanders,
Wallonia and Brussels Flemush
environmental legislation and landfill tax
levels are very similar 1o those in the
Netherlands resulting in similar market
charactenstics, high levels of recyching, a
reliance on incineration for final disposal
and very little landfiil

In the Walloon Reglon landfill tax on 1&C
waste at an effective rate of €53 per
tonne 15 sufficient to drive reasonable
high levels of recycling This rate will nse
to €90 per tonne in 2010, which
combined with a lack of incineration
capacity will promote increased recycling
and other forms of energy recovery The
effective cost of landfill tax 15 52% higher
than the actual tax because 1t 15 non-
deductible for corporation tax purposes

In January 2008 new legislation was
introduced which has had a major impact
on the municipal waste treatment sector
Prior to tanuary 2008 a reasonable
proportion of municipal waste was stll
landfilled as, unltke 1&C waste, it
attracted very Iittle landfill tax In January
2008 the Walloon Regron adopted a strct
interpretation of the Landfill Directive
requirement for pre-treatment of non-
hazardous waste which stopped restdual
waste collected from households from
being landfifled without pre-treatment At
the same time landfill tax was Introduced
onh other municipal waste streams at €20

per tonne This is scheduled to rise to
€60 per tonne in 2010

The Brussels Region has little landfill
capacity It has its own incinerator but
heyond that it s reliant on the other
Regions for final disposal

UK

The UK's histonical heavy rehance on
landfill means that the imposition of the
European Landfilt Directive 1s having a
major impact, particularly on the
municipal sector Implementation of the
directive imphes that some 14 million
tonnes per annum of biodegradable
muntcipal waste needs to be diverted
from landfill between 2006 and 2020 In
November 2006 DEFRA estimated that
the investment in new Infrastructure
required to achieve this 1s hetween £38bn
and £11bn in an endeavour to secure
least cost compliance the Government
has introduced the Landfill Allowance
Trading Scheme (LATS), a tradeable
permit scheme between local authonties
Here authonties who overachteve against
their landfill diversion reguirements may
sell therr overachievement to an
underachieving authonty Failure by an
authority either to meet its diversion
requirements or to secure the necessary
LATS, results in a £150 per tonne penalty
for the excess

In parallel, the government has stated
that landfill tax will increase Landfill tax
15 one of the pnmary drivers for diverting
I1&C waste In the 2007 Budget the
Government increased the annual tandfill
tax escalator from £3 per tonne per
annum to £8 starting in April 2008 and
committed to keeping it at this level until
Apnl 2010 In the 2008 Budget it was
indicated that landfill tax may continue to
rise post 2010 This means that UK
landfill tax, which increased to £32 per




tonne in April 2008, wil nse to £48 per
tonne 1n 2010, a similar ameount to the
tax on {&C waste in the Benelux

Another driver for the 1&C waste market 1s
restniction of the type of waste that can
be landfilled A significant miestone of
the European Landfll Directive ts the
restriction on landfilling of untreated non-
hazardous waste The government has
Introduced new legislation which required
pretreatment of non hazardous waste
pnior to landfilling from October 2007
Whilst the authorities have taken a fairly
soft handed approach to the enforcement
of this legislation initially, it 1s expected 1t
will become more assiduous In the future

Canada

As part of the Orgaworld acquisition
completed in Aprl 2007 the Group
acquired a start up operation in Canada
In Canada there 1s strong public opinion
against landfill, which in some areas has
led to a shortage of consented capacity
Like in Europe therefore there 1s a drive
to reduce waste going to landfill
Orgaworld identified an opportunity i the
Canadian market to offer biological
treatment of source segregated organic
municipal waste, a market which has
significant potential in terms of volumes
and to date has few competitors

Strategy
Group Vislon

“To be Europe's leading provider of
sustalnable waste management
solutions 7

This will be achieved by firmly positioning
the Group in the Recycling and Energy
Recovery area of the Waste Hierarchy
(see Figure 1)

Corporate strategy

¢ Invest to dnve arganic growth where
returns are greatest

* Develop our infrastructure further to
support sustainable waste management
and conversion of waste to renewable
energy

* Share core capabilities and
technologies across the Group

+ Maximise asset utilisation and
mintmise unit costs

+ Continue to use acquisitilons to tmprove
asset utilisatton and re-onent the
portfolio to high growth markets

This provides a strong corporate
framework for clear individual country
strategies

Dutch Strategy

The strategic goal for the Dutch
operations 15 to maintain the premium
operating margins we currently enjoy and
to grow beth the Solid and Hazardous
Waste businesses ahead of gross
domestic product This will be achieved
by

* mamntaimng the current decentralised
structure and culture but seeking out
greater benefits from collaboration
between the business units,

upgrading existing recyching facilities to
improve their efficiency and thereby
maintain our market leadership in
processing costs,

focusing on new niche mono-stream
markets such as the depleted growth
media from the Dutch greenhouse
industry we already process,

continue the successful track record of
tuck in acquisitions,

maintam the current strong cash
generation from the business

In addition the recent Orgaworld
acquisition provides significant
opportunities for higher rates of growth 1n

the organic waste treatment sector not
only in the Netherlands, but alsc in the
UK, Belgium and Canada

Belgian Strategy

In Belgium the strategy 1s to grow the 1&C
Sohd Waste business to replace the
declining contnbution from landfill By
focusing on sold recovered fuel (SRF)
production from 18&C waste we will be able
to create sustamnable competitive
advantage by securing long term energy
from waste outlets at lower costs than
landfill or mass burn incineration (€120-
€130/tonne)

The recent acquisition of Foronex builds
on this strategy by moving us into the
European waste wood processing market
which creates further opportunities in the
biomass and co-generation areas with the
potential for Shanks to both supply and
invest in energy from waste projects
There are also further opportunities to
mvest In additional green energy
production at our landfill and hazardous
waste plants

UK Strategy

In the UK the aim 1s 1o make Shanks the
preferred alternative to landfill In the I&C
waste area we will bulld a resource
management and reprocessing business
with improved margins by importing more
than ten years of Dutch know how in this
area Initially we will focus on building
density mn the three regions where we
already have critical mass, Scotland, the
East Midlands and the Northern Home
Counties

We will continue to bid for PFI residual
waste contracts, using those that we win
as a base from which to expand our 1&C
business At the same time we intend to
secure a share of the significant UK
demand for anaerobic digestion and
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business overview ...

composting both in the municipal and 1&C
sectors using the Orgaworld and other
technologies as appropnate

Having established an enabling platform
of a strong regional business with a
differentiated and profitable business
model, we may then consider more
aggressive consolidation options

Key Objectives

The key objectives over the coming three

years are

= Grow UK Solid Waste trading margins
{post overheads) to a high single digit
percentage,

* Launch Orgaworld in the UK,

» Grow trading profit from non landfill
Belgium business by an average of 15%
per annum,

« Win PFl contracts in the UK increasing
residual municipal waste under
management to 1 5m tonnes per
annum {currently O 6m tonnes)

By achieving the above the Group will
maintain strong underlying organic growth

Principal Risks and their Mitigation

The performance of our I&C businesses ts
linked to the economic actmity in the
sectors we serve We are therefore
exposed to fluctuations in these sectors
across ouwr nationat markets We mitigate
this risk by drversifying our customer base
where possible

In addhition to this general economic nsk
there are a number of waste industry
specific nsks

Environmental Legistation and Hs
Interpretation

As already mentioned, regulation 1s a key
driver of the waste market The ability of
individual countries, and indeed regions in
the case of Belgium, to set therr own
legislation makes this a very complex field
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Thus 1s further complicated by the rapid
rate of change In legisiation resulting from
the increased profile of envirenmental
1ssues Changes in the legislation or its
interpretation can have a significant and
far reaching impact on markets The Group
endeavours to mitigate this nsk by
employing high gquality management in
each of our dwisions to influence the
evolving legislative framework We
therefore actively lobby for our interests at
furopean, National and Regionat levels

Environmental Compliance

AH operating sites and activities are
regulated by environmental authonties in
Iine with the requirements set out within
licences and permits These licences and
perrmuts are required to carry on the
husiness, therefore the negotiation of,
and compliance with, their terms 15 of
paramount /mportance Maintaining the
highest envircnmental standards Is also
important to ensure continuing
acceptance of operations by host
communities, and to satisfy customers

Detalls of how the Group monitors and
controls environmental compliance are
given it the Corporate Responsibihty
section

Health and Safety

The waste management industry is
recognised as one of the most hazardous
sectors in which to work Shanks’
employees are the Group's most
important and valuable asset and their
health and safety 1s paramount As a
result the Group devotes considerable
management resources to ensuring the
highest health and safety practices are
imposed and mamntamned

Detalls can be found in the Corporate
Responsibility section under Health and
Safety

The Pace of the UK Municipal Waste
Contracts Tender Process

Significant resources are devoted to the
bidding process due 1o the size and
complexity of these contracts A
consequence s that there are often
unforeseen delays in, and in extreme
cases, cancellation of the process As the
Investment in the bidding process 1s only
recouped i the event a contract s won,
the Group regularly reviews the risks and
rewards The Group also tnes to have s
advisors work on a contingency fee basis
wherever possible, and restnct
expendrture in the early stage of a bid
when the certainty of success s less

Activities and Structure

The Group 15 a major player in the
Netherlands, Belgium and the UK There
are also some coperations in France close
to the Belgian border which are managed
from Belgium Due to their smail size these
are combined with the Belglan operations

In Apnl 2007 the Group acquired
Orgaworld, a Dutch business specialising
In the treatment of source segregated
organic waste streams from both the
municipal and 1&C sectors The business
uses In house tunnel composting and
anaerobic digestion technologles some of
which are patented The acguisition also
included a start up operation in Canada,
which 1s currently small but has
significant growth potential This has
therefore expanded our geographical
presence to Canada

The Group’s organisational structure
reflects the national nature of the
markets In which 1t operates, with
divisions in the Netherlands, Belgium, UK
and Canada Management of the Group IS
decentralised to ensure that the people
making the decisions are close to, and
understand, thewr markets This structure
15 underpinned by strong central financial




control Throughout the organisation we
employ high calibre management who are
properly trained and motivated

Table 1 summarises the Group's waste
activities 1in each country and table 2
shows how these activittes are grouped in
the segmental reporting

in addstion to the waste activities detailed
above we also operate a sand quarry
adjacent to our landfill site in Wallonta and
have small infrastructure and groundworks
operations in Ghent In Belgium and
Amersfoort in the Netherlands Due to
their small size the infrastructure and
groundworks activities are reported as
part of the Solid Waste activities

Key Performance Indicators {KPls)
The Group's KPls can be divided into
three categories, health and safety,
environmental and operational

Health and Safety

Reporting of Injuries Diseases and
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations
(RIDDOR) 15 UK law which reguires
companies to report specified more
serous accidents and incidents to the
Health and Safety Executive While
RIDDOR 1s UK law the Group requires alt
of its operations, no matter which country
they are based In, to report monthly to this
common format Minor incidents are also
reported The minor and RIDDOR KPis for
the current and pnor years are given In the
Health and Safety section

Ervironmental

The Group closely monitors compliance
with environmental permits at locations
All 1ssues are reviewed at monthly
divisional meetrings and, at least
quarterly, at Group Board leve! Detaills of
convictions dunng 2008 are given mn the
Environment section

Operatlonal

The number of waste activities undertaken
by the Group i1s significant, with each site
involved In differing ranges of activities
The performance indicators used to
monitor these actvities are vaned and
range from lifts per day, lifts per kilometre
and tonnes per lift for collection activities,
to Input and output tonnages and final
elimination diversion rates for treatment
and recycling activities Also, even where
two sites perform simiar activities, the
type of customer or urban characternstics
of the area the site serves may be quite

different The result 15 that whilst non-
financial measures are extremely important
at an activity or site fevel, they are of very
hmited value when aggregated across sites
or activities  For this reason the KPIs used
at a regional or country level are financial
in nature, being those common to most
businesses namely revenue, trading profit,
cash flows and return on capital employed
Details of these for the main business
units are included in the Operating Review
section

Table 1
Group Activitles Industral &

Commerclal Munlcipal
Non-hazardous Solid Waste B B
Collection NL, BE, UK NL, BE
Transfer & recycling NL, BE, UK Ni, BE, UK
Treatment NL, BE NL, UK, CA
Landfilt disposal & power UK, NL, BE UK, BE
Hazardous Waste
Industnal cleaning and transport NL, BE
Treatment and disposal NL, BE
Contaminated land remediation NL, BE, UK

Table 2
Waste Activities In Segmental Reporting

Solid Waste
Landfill and Power

Non hazardous solid waste collections, transfer and recycling
Landfill disposal {including contaminated soils) and power

generation from landfill gas

Hazardous W:;ste

Industrial cleaning, hazardous waste transport, treatment

(including contaminated soils) and disposal and contaminated

land remediation

Organle Treatment

Anaerchic ai:gestlon and tunne! composting of source

segregated organic waste streams

PFI cor?tractsw

Long term UK municipal waste treatment contracts
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operating review

Table 3

Revenue and Trading Profit by Geographical Region

Revenue Trading Profit
2008 2007 Vanance 2008 2007 Vanance

£m £m £m % £m £m £m %

Netherlands 295 253 42 17% 377 320 57 18%
Belgium 125 124 1 1% 162 173 {1 1) 6%
United Kingdom 145 133 12 % 69 33 36 109%
Canada 1 1 n/a o1 a1 n/a
Central Services (2) {1} (1) 100% (50) (53 03 6%
Total 564 509 55 11% 5859 473 86 18%

Table 4

Operating Cashflow and Return on Capltal Employed net of PFl Project Financing

Operating Cashflow*

Return on Capital Empioyec?®

2008 2007 Variance 2008 2007 Vanance

£m £m Em % % %

Netherlands 362 332 30 10 11 (1)
Belgium 186 218 (32) 60 60

United Kingdom (150) (143) (O7 11 10 1

Canada (19) {(19) 3 n/a n/a

Central Services {(46) (586) 10 n/a n/a n/a

Total 333 351 (18 12 13 (1)

1 Net cashflow after project financing before core financing, tax and acquisitions
2 Trading profit divided by average net assets excluding core debt tax and pension obligations
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In order to come into ine with general
practice amongst listed companies we
have redefined our headline profit to
exclude amortisation of intangible assets,
excluding landfill void and computer
software, arising on acquisition This
charge 1s also excluded from operating
profit in the denvation of trading profit
The definitions of these two financial
measures therefore become

Trading Profit — operating profit before
amortisation of acquisition intangibles
and exceptional items,

Headting Profit — profit before tax,
amortisation of acquisition intangibles
and exceptional items, where the [atter
Includes the 1AS 39 finance income or
charge relating to the mark to market of
Interest rate swaps on PRl borrowings

In the years prior to 2007 the impact of
this reclassification 1s immatenal

Due to the significant impact of
movements in foreign currency exchange
rates, commentary on the operating
performance of the Netherlands and
Belgium businesses has been given In
Euros to demonstrate the underlying
trading performance

Thanks are once again due to the staff
who have responded superbly to the
industry’s rapidly changing conditrons to
deliver a 18% improvement in trading
profit which increased £8 6m to £55 9m
{2007 £47 3m) Tables 3 and 4 and
chart 1 give an overview of the Group’s
operating returns by geographical region




The Netherlands

Trading profit in the Netherlands improved
18% to £37 7m (2007 £32 Om) of which
£1 4m (4%} 15 attnbutable to exchange
Tables 5 and 6 provide a breakdown by
activity of the key financial performance
indicators

In Solid Waste four tuck in acquisitions
were completed dunng the year for a total
gross consideration of €18m {Including
€3m of deferred payments) These
combined with the full year effect of last
year's acquisitions contnbuted some

€2 9m of additional trading profit The full
year effect of the acquisition of Smink
Beheer BV on 30 June 2006 was
relatively modest as last year's result
benefited from a large Job dunng the
months immed:ately following the
acquisition

Profits from the existing Solid Waste
businesses have improved shghtly by 1%
There have been a number of factors
contnbuting to thhs performance In May
2007 the Amsterdam municipal
incinerator commisstoned an additional

0 6m tonnes per annum of capacity A
stgnificant proportion of this capacity has
been taken by the major waste
companies, Including Shanks, on long
term agreements at a rate below current
market rates This has increased
competitive pressure for commercial
volumes in the market place The
construction industry, a major source of
customers, remains buoyant aithough
competition for volumes has also
increased here as operators from outside
the Randstad area, attracted by the new
lower incineration prices in Amsterdarm,
backload construction and demolition
waste for recychng Sprralling fuel costs
and increasing labour costs have also put
pressure on margins

Qur Hazardous Waste activities performed
extremely well during the year showing a
9% year on year improvement Our
industrial cleaning business Reym
continued to benefit from Increased
activity in the petrochemical sector,
stimulated by ever increasing oil prices
ATM, our one million tonne per annum
treatment faciity in the south of the
Netherlands, benefited from buoyant
market conditions with increases in both
volumes and prices

In Apnl 2007 the Group acquired the
organic waste treatment business,

Qrgaworld, for a gross consideration of
£€30m, €5m of which Is deferred, with the
potential for further payments up to €20m
dependent on future profits growth The
bulk of the business 1s In the
Netherlands, however it also included a
start up operation 1n Canada more detail
of which s given below The Dutch
operations have performed slightly below
the acquisition plan following the
contarnination of a batch of inputs at one
of its anaercbic digestion plants This
1ssue has now been resolved and
performance I1s back i line with our
acquisition plan

Table 5

Netherlands Revenue and Trading Profit by Activity

Revenue Trading Profit
2008 2007 varance 2008 2007 Vanance
€m €m €m % €m €m €m %
Solid Waste 269 249 20 8% 426 393 33 8%
Hazardous Waste 143 127 16 13% 134 123 11 9%
Organic Treatment 10 106 n/a 23 23 n/a
Country Central Services (4) (3) (1y 33% (49) (44) {05 11%
Total (€m) 418 373 45 12% 534 472 62 13%
Total (Em at avge FX rate) 295 253 42 17% 377 320 57 18%
Table 6
Netherlands Trading Margins and Return on Capltal Employed by Activity
(after allocation of Country Central Services)
Trading Margin ROCE
2008 2007 Vanance 2008 2007 Vvanance
% % % % . % %
Solid Waste 15 15 10 11 (1)
Hazardous Waste 8 8 13 12 1
Organc Treatment 21 n/a n/a 7 n/a n/a
Total 13 13 10 11 (1)
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operating rQView continued

Table 7
Belgium Revenue and Trading Profit by Actlvity

Revenue Trading Profit
2008 2007 Vanance 2008 2007 Vanance
£€m €m €m % €m €m €m %
Sohd Waste 109 104 5 5% 104 86 18 21%
Landfill & Power 26 31 {(5) 16% 11,9 163 44) 27%
Hazardous Waste 58 64 {B) 9% 47 50 {0 3) 6%
Sand Quarry 3 4 1y 25% 10 12 (02 17%
Country central services (19)  (21) 2 10% (50 (57) o7 12%
Total (€m} 177 182 5) 3% 230 254 (24) 9%
Total {£m at avge FX rate) 125 124 1 1% 162 173 {11) 6%
Table 8
Belgium Trading Margins and Return on Capital Emploved by Actlvity
(after allocation of Country Central Services)
Tracing Margin ROCE
2008 2007 Vanance 2008 2007 Variance
% % % % % %
Solid Waste 7 5 2 18 13 5
Landfill & Power 44 50 {6) n/a* n/at n/a
Hazardous Waste 5 5 20 22 (2)
Sand Quarry 30 30 n/at n/at n/a
Total 13 i4 (1) 60 80

1 Due to provisions for environmentat iabilibes these activities have net habilities so ROCE 1s not a valid measure
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Belgium

Trading profit reduced 6% on last year to
£16 2m (2007 £17 3m) This reduction
15 net of a £0 6m (3%} increase due to
exchange Tables 7 and 8 prowide a
breakdown by activity of the key financial
performance indicators

Sohd Waste has performed extremely well
dunng the period aided by a significant
industrial disposal contract and progress
on prices During the year two smal! tuck
n acquisthions with a combined gross
consideration of €1m were completed
These together with the full year effect of
last year's acquisition account for €0 5m
{6%) of the trading profit increase

As predicted 1n previous reports, the
contnbution from our Landfill & Power
business has declined sharply in the year
ended 31 March 2008 Several factors
contributed to this bonus volumes
receved In the pnor year did not repeat,
increased competition from other fandfills
in the region resuited in lost inputs and
finally, from January 2008 the Walloon
Region introduced new restrictions on the
landfilling of municipal waste further
reducing inputs in the last quarter
Landfill volumes are now believed to have
stabilised, however next year 1s likely to
show a further dechne in profitability due
to the fult year effect of the current
reduced inputs In the longer term we
expect a further dechine in [andfill profits
as landfill tax 1s increased and further
restnictions come into force from 2010

Hazardous Waste, whilst still generating
reasonable returns on invested capital,
had a difficult start to the year due to stff
competition In the last quarter this has
eased and the outlock I1s now more
promising

At the sand quarry volumes were down
due to reduced construction activities In
the surrounding area




UK

Trading profit in the UK improved 109% to
£6 9m (2007 £3 3m) £3 4m of this
increase s attributable to the operations
which increased 77% to £7 8m, the
remaining £0 2m 1s due to lower PFI
bidding costs Tables 9 and 10 provide a
breakdown by actvity of the key financial
performance indicators

Solid Waste improved significantly on prior
year with £1 3m (28%) of the increase
coming from organic growth mainly driven
by pricing Acquisitions contnbuted a
further £0 5m {11%) with a full year's
contribution from the 2007 Scottish
acqwsitions and four months of
contribution from the current year
acqursition of Wastecom Lid, a recychng
business in the East Midlands acquired
for a gross consideration of £11m

Across the board recyclhing levels are
increasing as we move towards our
Benelux mode! of collection fleets feeding
large regionat recycling centres which
allow waste to be dverted from landfill to
more cost effective outlets We see this
as a significant competitive advantage as
the market shifts to accommodate the
escalatron in the rate of landfill tax, now
at £32 per tonne and scheduled to
ncrease by £8 per tonne per annum for
at least the next two years

Landfili & Power mproved due to
increased waste inputs and additional
green electncity production at our
Avondale joint venture, in Scottand

Hazardous Waste, which compnses our
Contaminated Land Services business,
improved due to the contrnibution from our
“soll hosprtal” outside Edinburgh, which
opened In May 2007 The performance
fell short of expectations due to a delay
in work from the clean up of the sites for
the 2012 London Olympics which has
started in the final quarter but only

contributed £0 1m of trading profit in the
year

The innovative Mechanical Biological
Treatment {MBT) facilities used at two
sites on the East London Waste Authority
(ELWA} PFI contract and one on the
Dumfries and Galloway (D&G}) contract are
now fully operational At ELWA the
scheduled significant increase in gate fee
came into effect in July 2007, which
substantially increased the cash inflows
from the contract This only produced a
Iimited uplift on trading profit as under
IFRS accounting most of the increased
income 15 allocated to repayment of the

financial asset and the interest thereon
Interest from the cement and other
energy intensive industnes in the SRF
produced by the MBT process continues
to increase and we have a secured long
term outlet contract for 50,000 tonnes
per annum, with negotiations at an
advanced stage for a further 150,000
tonnes Whilst profits on our ELWA and
Argyll and Bute {A&B) contracts are
tmproving, these increases have been
offset by a set back at D&G due to an
interruption of inputs to a cement kiln
North Wales following a problem at the
plant unrelated to the processing of SRF
This has resulted in a temporary increase

Table 9

United Kingdom Revenue and Trading Profit by Activity

Revenue Trading Profit
2008 2007 vVarance 2008 2007 variance

£m £m £m % £m £m £m %

Solid Waste 75 70 5 % 64 46 18 39%

Landfill & Power 18 13 3  23% 50 38 12 32%

Hazardous Waste 11 10 1 10% 17 12 05 42%

PA Contracts 43 40 3 8% 04 o2 02 100%

Country Central Services 87 (B4 (03) 6%

UK Operations 145 133 12 9% 7.8 44 34 T1%

PFl Bit Tearn (09) (11) 02 18%

Total 145 133 12 9% 6.9 33 36 109%
Table 10

Unlted Kingdom Trading Margins and Retum on Capital Employed by Activity

(after allocation of Country Central Services)

Trading Margin ROCE

2008 2007 Vanance 2008 2007 Vanance

*% % % % % %

Solid Waste 3 3 8 1 4
Landfill & Power 33 28 5 48 37 11
Hazardous Waste 11 8 3 47 86 {39
PFl Contracts (2) (2) (1) (5) 4
Yotal 5 3 2 11 10 1
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In disposal costs for the contract The
operators of the facility \n North Wales
have made significant progress with
repairs and it 1s expected that the kitn wall
be functioning again dunng the first
quarter of the 2009 financial year At the
same time we are also pursuing
alternative outlets for this SRF stream

Country Central Services costs of £5 7m
were net of disposal profits totalling

£0 6m relating to several small surplus
property sales A similar amount was
included in the 2007 cost of £5 4m

Canada

As mentioned above the acquisition of
Orgaworld 1n the Netherlands included a
start up operation Iin Canada At the ttime
of the acquisition 1n April 2007 Orgaworld
had already secured a 10 year contract
with the City of York tin Ontano to treat
33,000 tonnes per annum of source
segregated organic municipal waste using
tunnel composting Since acquisition two
further contracts have been won, a five
year contract for Toronto for 70,000
tennes per annum and a 20 year contract
for Ottawa for 100,000 tonnes per
annum The construction of a facility in
London Ontano to process York's waste
was underway at the tme of acquisttion
and started accepting waste in June
2007 Thes facility 1s currently being
extended to handle the Toronto waste
resulting 1n a combined facility capable of
processing 150,000 tennes per annum
The Ottawa contract will be serviced from
a second Can$15m facility capable of
processing 100,000 tonnes per annum 1
the outskirts of Ottawa This I1s scheduled
to be operational In summer 2009

Group Central Services

Group Central Services costs reduced by
£0 3m to £5 Om (2007 £5 3m) due to
the non repeat of recruitment costs
experienced last year associated with the
appointment of new Board Directors
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financial review

The major factors impacting revenue,
trading and headline profit are
summansed In table 12 Operating profit,
which includes exceptional property
disposals tn the UK of £1 9m and
amortisation of acquisition intangibles

£46 2m)

has increased 20% to £55 3m (2007

Details of the Group's trading
performance and acquisitions are given in
the Operating Review

Table 11,
Summarised Group Income Statement

2008 2007 variance

£m £m £m %
Revenue 564 509 58 11
Operating profit B53 46.2 9.1 20
Exceptional profits on disposals 19) (19 n/a
Amaortisation of acquisition intangibles 25 11 14 127
Trading profit T 559 473 8.6 18
Net financial iIncome from PFI o7 01 06 >100
Core finance charges 118 (71 @47 66
Headline Profit 448 403 45 11
Tax Headhine 32% (2007 33%) (144) (129) (15) 12
Headline profit after tax 304 274 30 11
Exceptional profits on disposails 19 19
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (net of tax} (19) (09 (10
1AS 39 adustment (net of tax) (21) 48 (689
Profit for the year 283 313 (30)
Table 12

Revenue, Trading and Headline Profit Bridge

Revenue
£m
2007 509 100%
Current year acguisitions 16 3%
Full year of prior year acquisitions 7 1%
Belgtum landfill dechne {4) 1%
Organic growth (excluding Belgium landfill} 21 4%
Exchange 15 3%
2008 564 111%

Trading Profit

£m
473 100%
29 6%
15 3%
(3 0) 6%
52 11%
20 4%
559 118%

Headline profit

£m
403 100%
08 2%
o7 2%
(30) 7%
44 11%
16 4%
448 111%




Table 13 shows the average and year end
exchange rates used to translate our
foreign currency denorminated results The
Euro has strengthened significantly versus
Sterting particularly in the latter part of
our financial year This has caused a
moderate 4% enhancement 1o Euro

denommated profits, the impact on the
Euro denominated year end balances 15
much more substantial at 17% The
Group only entered Canada during the
current year so there has been no impact
year on year

Table 13
Exchange Rates

2008 2007 Change
Euro
Average 1419 1473 4%
Closing 1254 1474 17%
Canadian Dollar o T
Average 2044 n/a  n/a
Closing e 2039 n/a n/fa
Table 14
Net Financial Income from PFl
2008 2007 variance

£m £m £m %
Interest income from financial assets 88 77 11 14
Interest charge on PFl net debt® (81} (76) (05) 7
Net Financlal Income from PFl 07 01 06 =100

1 P net debt 12 the externat net debt in the Special Purpose Vehuctes set up (o progect finance the UK PFL contracts

Table 15
Core Finance Charges

2008 2007 Change

£m £m £m

Finance charge on core borrowings (107} {68 (39
Discount unwind on deferred cansideration (09 (01) (08
Loan fee amortisation {09 (04 (05
Discount unwind on other long term provisions 07 8 (01}
Finance income from defined benefit pension schemes 14 08 06
Core Finance Charges (118 (71) (47

Net Financial Income from PF increased
to £0 7m (2007 £0 1m) As shown in
table 14 this comprises interest income
on financral assets ansing on the UK PR
contracts net of the interest charge on
the PFI net debt before taking into
account the International Financial
Reporting Standard 1AS 39 change in
market value of financial instruments

The £1 1im increase In interest income
from financial assets results from the
increase i the financial asset value
driven by ongoing capital expenditure,
principally on the ELWA project The

£0 5m Increase in interest charge on PFI
net debt reflects the higher average level
of debt dunng 2008 than during 2007,
despite the balance being lower at the
year end than at the start of the year PFI
net debt rose during the first nine months
as It funded the ongoing PR capital
expenditure, then in December 2007, the
Group injected £23m of subordinated
debt and equity into the ELWA PFI
company which was used to repay project
funding causing the fall at the year end

Core Finance Charges increased £4 7m to
£11 8m (2007 £7 1m), the main
components of which are given In table 15
The major factors behind the increase In
the finance charge on core borrowings are
detalled n table 16

The factors behind the increase in the
level of core borrowing are covered In the
cash flow section below For reasons
explained in the Treasury section, a
significant proportion of the Group’s
borrowings s i Euros and therefore
attracts Euro denominated interest The
Sterling value of this has therefore
increased due to the strengtheming of the
Euro Over the last two years the Group
has opted to leave a significant
proportion of the debt on variahle interest
rates due to the forward profile of interest
rate curves The variable rate borrowings
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finaHCial reView continued

Table 16
Finance Charge on Core Borrowings Major Factor Analysis

2008 2007 Change

Em Em £m

Finance Charge on Core Borrowings (107) (68 (39
Major Factors

increase in core borrowing levels {25)

Increase in bank interest rates (10)

Exchange (0 4)

Total (39
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are at a margin over the London Inter
Bank Offer Rates (LIBOR) the annual
averages of which have rnisen by nearly
30% over the last two years as
demonstrated in chart 2

Under IFRS all long term habilties and
provisions, except for deferred tax, have to
be stated at current value This Involves
discounting the nommnal valie of a future
habiity which then unwinds as time
progresses The Group uses a 5% discount
rate, this being an estimate of long term
Iinterest rates The acquisition of Orgaworld
in April 2007 included a €25m deferred
element, €20m of which 1s dependent on
achieving future profitability targets The
conditional element has been recognised
tn full at the acquisition date so Is
generating a significant finance charge
even though the trading profits en which it
depends will only anse in the future

The average tax rate on headline profit fell
to 32% (2007 33%) This was attnibutable
to a full year of the reduction m the Dutch
headline rate from 29 6% to 25 5% mn
January 2007 The underlying rates of tax
in the UK and Belgium remained
unchanged at 30% and 34% respectively
In Belgium the effective rate on landfill
derived profits i1s higher as landfill tax 1s
non-deductible for corporation tax This is
mitigated via a deduction for notional
interest on Belgian equity

The exceptional disposal profits of £1 9m
relate to the disposal of two surplus
properties in the UK These have been
excluded from headhne profit due to their
exceptional size There was no tax
payable on these disposals as the capital
gains ansing were sheftered by significant
brought forward capital tax losses within
the Group




The [AS 39 change In market value of
financial Instruments relates to interest
rate swaps which fix the interest rate on
PFI contract borrowing At the financial
close of a PA contract the price of the
service 1s determined by, inter alha, the
long term interest rate available in the
market The Group therefore protects
ntself aganst future fluctuations n
interest rates by entering into interest
rate swaps to match its future cash
inflows and outflows Under IAS 39 these
swaps must be valued at current market
value irrespective of the commercial
reasons for entenng into them
Revaluation of these swaps can lead to
large accounting gains or losses but does
not affect the long term profitability of the
contract as the Group has matched its
long term revenue and costs Whilst IAS
39 does allow these gains and losses to
be taken directly to reserves, it 1s on the
proviso that onerous verficatton
requirements are fulfiled The Group
believes it 1s not worth expending
significant resources fulfilling these
requirements in respect of an item that
does not reflect commercial reality These
changes in value are excluded from our
headhne profit There was a £2 9m
adverse (2007 £6 9m favourable) change
in the market value of these swaps dunng
the year

Cash Flow

Detalls of the Group's cash flow
performance are summansed in Table 17
below

The underlying cash generated by the
core business was £21m after net capital
expendsiture of £42m The £22m cross
funding represents the net cash flow
between the core and PFl activities
(tncluding the PF1 bud team) the major

element of this was the injection of £23m
of subordinated debt and equity into the
ELWA PFl company mentioned above The
£48m outflow on acquisitions 1S the
amount paid plus £21m of net debt in the
acquired entiies There was a £32m
adverse movement on the translation of
Group’s Euro denominated debt into
Sterhing, giving an overall increase in core
net debt of £79m

The non-recourse aggregated net debt in
the PFl companies, excluding fair value of
interest rate swaps, reduced by £12m to
£111m {2007 £123m)}, increases due to
funding of ongoing capital investment
principally at ELWA being offset by a
repayment resulting from the £23m equity

and subordinated debt injection nto the
ELWA PFl company

Capltal Expenditure

The Group spent £51m net on capital
expenditure (2007 £66m) of which £42m
was In the core business and £9m on PFI
contracts The core business
maintenance capital expenditure was
£32m, net of disposal proceeds of £2m
from assets being replaced Gross
expenditure on growth projects was £14m
and proceeds from sale of surplus assets
was £4m Major projects In the core
business Included the installation of SRF
production facihies in Belgium,
construction of tunnel composting
facilities in Canada, the expansion of a

Table 17
Summarised Group Cashflow

2008 2007
Core PFl Total Total Difference
£m £m £m £m Em
Trading profit 57 (1) b6 47 9
Depreciation & landfill provisions 37 37 34 3
EBITDA 94 (1) 93 81 12
Workung capital movement and other? 3 3 3
Net capial expenditure (42) (9) (51) (66) 15
Interest, tax & dividends (34) (34) {30} 4
Underlying cashflow 21 {10} 11 (12) 23
Cross funding (22) 22
Acquisitions (48) (48) (65) 17
Discontinued / restructunng (3) 3
Issue of shares 2 2 2
Net cashflow (47} 12 (35} {(80) 45
Exchange (32} (32} 4 {36)
Debt Movement _ _ (79, 12  (67) (76) 9

1 Other compnises nordandfilt provision mavements and add back of share based payments and nonexceptional

disposal profits
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final‘Cial reView continued

recycling centre In the Netherlands and
the installation of additional green energy
generation at our joint venture landfill in
Scotland

The capital expenchture on PFL contracts
compnsed £17m (2007 £31m) of
financial asset advances net of £9m
(2007 £1m) of financial asset
repayments and £1im of captalised bid
costs relating to the Cumbna contract
where we are preferred bidder The
financial asset advances related
principally to the completion of the MBT
facilities at our ELWA and D&G contracts
The £8m increase in the repayments
reflected the step up in the ELWA gate fee
in July 2007 mentioned in the Operating
Review above

Treasury

The Group's treasury policy 1s to use
financral mstruments with a spread of
maturity dates and sources in order to
reduce funding risk Borrowings are drawn
tn the same currencies as the underlying
investment to reduce cash and net
translation exposure an exchange rate
movements No other currency hedging
mechanisms are used The Group
maintains a significant proportion of its
debt on fixed rates of interest i order to
protect interest cover

The Group's principal financing 1s a
£250m multicurrency revolving credit
facilty with five major banks expiring in
Apnil 2010 Adjusting for cash on depostt,
this facility was less than 65% utiised at
31 March 2008 The 2001 notes issued
under the Group’s private placement of
£41m have maturity dates between 2008
and 2013 The Group also has £27m of
working capital facilities with various
banks
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Each of the Group’s PFl projects has
senlor debt facilities which contribute
approximately 85% of the capital funding
required These facilities are secured on
the future cash flows of the PFI
companles with ho recourse to the Group
as a whole Repayment of these facilities,
and any equity bridge facility in respect of
the remaining capital funding, commences
when construction is complete and
concludes one to two years pnor to the
expiry of the PFl contract pencd As the
Group currently holds 100% of the equity
in its PFl compantes, the net debt of
£111m s fully consolidated in the Group
balance sheet The maximum which couid
be drawn down under these facilities at
31 March 2008 18 £18m

Insurance

The Group places all its insurance with
leading tnsurance compantes with sound
financial credentials For obligatory
nsurances, the policy I1s to obtain the
necessary cover at competitive rates For
other areas, regular risk assessments are
undertaken to identify and assess risks,
where appropriate Insurance Is then used
to mitigate these risks The level of cover
put 1n place will depend on the nature of
the risks and the cost and extent of cover
avallable in the market The majority of
QUr Insurances are renewed annually

The Group uses renowned International
brokers to advise on risk management,
appropnate insurers, cover levels and
benchmarking

Insurance requirements for our UK PFI
contracts are set out in the funding and
project agreements

Pensions

The Group uses 1AS 19 Employee
Benefits ta account for pensions The
pension charge for the year has increased
to £7 7m (2007 £6 6m) Using
assumptions fard down In IAS 13 there
was a net retirement benefit surplus of
£9 4m (2007 £8 4m deficit) This relates
solely to the defined benefit section of
our UK schemes The defined benefit
section of the UK scheme was closed to
new mernbers in September 2002 and
new employees are now offered a defined
contribution arrangement

The pension arrangements within our
Belgian and Dutch operations are
considered to be defined contribution in
nature




corporate responsibility

Environmental legislation, both European
and national, plays a cntical role in
determining how all companies operate
This 1s particularly so for waste
management companies and large
portions of environmental law are aimed
specifically at the industry Such
legislation does not only pose a threat In
terms of penalties, but also shapes the
commercial environment within which the
Group operates Few other industries can
see such a direct hink between the law
and how they run therr business

Waste management, whilst an essential
service, 1S hot always a popular industry
and companies which operate in the
sector have to be conscious of public and
political perception  Simply complytng with
legislation 1s not sufficient and we
consider it a minimum requirement rather
than an ultimate goal

While the Group 15 subject to the same
health and safety and employment law as
other companies, the potenttal impacts
for those involved In waste management
are higher than for most other industry
sectors Waste management 1s
acknowledged to be one of the highest
nsk industrnies a company can operate In,
with fatal and senous accident rates at
least as high as those for construction,
agnculture and other sectors with known
elevated nsk profiles

Virtually all of Shanks operations need to
hold local licences, permits and other
permissions to operate These
permissions determine the basic critena
under which a waste management site
can operate, such as how much and what
types of waste a site 1s allowed to accept,
its opening and closing times, restrictions
on noise, emissions and other key

parameters Failure to abide by the
conditions of local permissions can result
in them being withdrawn and the site
being closed or restricted in its
operations

Beyond the potential closure of existing
facilities, each time the Group wishes to
expand a site's operations, such as by
accepting greater volumes of waste or a
different waste type, it must apply for a
vanation to that facility’s local
pemmussions The same applies to new
sites which must obtain the appropnate
local permissions before being atlowed to
operate

Waste management companies with a
poor enforcement record or those which
have attracted public or pohtical concern
will find it more difficult to obtain and
revise local permissions than businesses
which have a more positive image Of
course new or expanded waste
management facilities will never be
popular, at best they are ¢ften viewed as
a necessary evil However, a waste
management concern with a positive
Image 1s far more likely to be successful
in gaining the permissions it needs to
operate and expand

One of the greatest potential impacts on
image for a waste management company
15 the attitudes displayed and approach
taken by its local employees A company
may have high quality management
systems and good intentions, but if local
management and operational employees
do not reflect this corporate ethic the
outcome will be poor local image The
development, training, competence and
attitudes of local employees I1s therefore
of crucial iImportance to the Group to
ensure we masntain hughly motivated
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corporate responsibility ...

employees who understand clearly the
effect they can have on the environment,
health and safety and the Group’s pubhc
image

The above gives an nsight into the
complex and changing web of law,
regutation and perception the Group
operates within The Group considers
legal compliance as an absolute minimum
requirement but understands that going
beyond simple compliance 1s critical to
the Group’s continued development

There 1s currently no requirement on
companies to calculate thewr carbon
footprint, but the Group has already done
so for its UK operations and 15 in the
process of extending this to cover its
other areas of activity The Group
understands that it must be prepared

for future developments in carbon trading
and charging and that being ahead of
the pack s critical to the Group's
development Notwithstanding any
financial impact, managing our carbon
footprint responsibly makes good sense
and 15 supportive of our brand
posihioning

Equally there s no cbligation on
companies to publicly declare accidents
and incidents suffered by its employees,
but the Group firmly believes that it must
make clear and unambiguous statements
to all stakeholders, internal and external,
of the standards 1t expects and the extent
to which they are attained

There 1s also no legislation which requires
companies to engage with local
populations around their sites and
operations, but the Group does so
through liaison groups, education centres
and drect contact The importance of a
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good local image is well appreciated by
the Group

It 1s only by taking such a pro-active
approach, going beyond simple
compliance, that the Group will fulfil its
ambitions as a sustainable and
developing waste management company

The Environment

Waste management and the environment
are Intrinsically inked not only in public
and politrical perception, but In reality as
this 1s an ndustry whose actions can
have a direct and serious impact on the
environment The Group aims to minimise
any detnimental impact iis activities may
have on the environment The Group’s
over arching environmental policy 15
avallable on the Group’s web site and
further detatls of indwidual environmental
management systems are avalable by
contacting the Group

All of the Group's sites operate under
strict environmental management
systems, many of which have been
accredited to the international 15014001
environmental management standard
Reporting of key environmental
performance indicators i1s Group-wide
and communicated to all levels of
management and to the Group Board
Any failings are addressed through

country based specialist departments and
review and improvement of systems i1s a
key area of activity

The Group benchmarks its environmental
performance against its peers using
technigues such as the annual Business
in the Environment {BIE} Index of
corporate environmental engagement In
2007 the Group scored In excess of 92
per cent In this index (compared to 83
per cent i 2006), a score well above the
sector average and one achieved by
targeted improvement in specific areas
identified by analysis of previous index
assessments

Due to the Group's size and the highly
regulated environment in which it
operates It 1$ almost inevitable that there
will be some level of enforcement action
by regulators Table 18 shows
envirgnmental convictions against the
Group dunng the 2008 financal year
Whilst any enforcement action Is
disappointing the number of incidents 1s
low compared to our peers Where these
incidents do anse they are thoroughly
investigated, the issues addressed and
the lessons fearnt incorporated into the
ongoing management systems

Table 18
Environmental Convictions in 2008

Fine {£k) Details

Netherlands
Netherlands
Belgium None
United Kingdom None

2 3 Four breaches of hazardous waste tra;s;;ort regulations
10 Breach of fire incident reporting deadlines




Enforcement actions are, by their nature,
a reactive meastre of environmental
performance The Group believes It has a
positive role to play in improving the
environmental performance of both nself
and its stakeholders, such as its
customers Recycling rates are one
measure of this By encouraging
customers to recycle and by providing the
services and operations to allow recycling
rates to improve, the Group 1s making a
significant and benefictal impact on the
environment Table 19 illustrates this
point and shows a synopsis of recycling
rates achieved by the Group

Table 19
Overall Recycling and Recovery Rate

Recycling also has positive benefits in
reducing carbon emissions Qur
commitment to finding innovative and
significant ways of efficiently generating
energy from waste 1s another way in which
we can help sooety reduce its overall
carbon emissions

Carbon management 1s a key future area
for development and one which the Group
1s committed to being involved in For
2009 the Group has set itself the
qualitative target of caleulating its carbon
footprint (a task which has already
commenced} Based on these
calculations quantitative targets will be
set to stimulate reductions in the Group’s
carbon impact in the future This aspect
of the Group's activities will be reported
on In the 2009 Annual Report

Health and Safety

The health, safety and wellbeing of its
employees 1s a pnme consideration for
the Group Companes which have a poor
record i this area are unlikely to have the
highly motivated employees they need to

Netherlands 83%
Belgium 51%
Umited Kingdom 22%
Canada 50%
Group 58%
Table 20

Accldent Numbers and Rates

2008 2007

Minor RIDDOR Minor RIDDOR

Minor rate RIDDOR rate Minor rate RIDDOR rate

Netherlands 51 2,800 35 1,800 48 2,550 41 2,350
Belgium* 113 11,900 39 4,100 89 9,800 57 6,300
United Kingdom 101 9,100 27 2,400 109 10,400 27 2,500
Group* 265 6,800 101 2,600 246 6,700 125 3,300

Reporting of Injuries Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations {RIDDOR} 1s LK law which requires companies to
report specified more serious accidents and incidents to the Health and Safety Executive While RICDOR s UK law the
Group requires all of its operations, no matter which country they are based in to report to this commaon format

* 2007 figures have been adjusted since last year s Annual Report followang correction of incident numbers 1n Belgium
due pnncipally to reclassification of incidents between minor and RIDDOR

ensure good nsk management and to
allow the development of their facilities

For the past five years the Group has set
itself the quantified target of improving its
RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries, Diseases
and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations)
employee imury rate by 1.0% year-onyear
RIDDOR 15 UK law, but the Group has
applied it across all of its operations no
matter which country they are in Thisis
Jjust one example of the setting of
commen and quantifiable targets for key
performance Indicators across the Group

Duning 2008 the Group improved its
overall RIDDOR rate by more than 21%

in addition, each country of operation
showed Improvement, although this varied
across the Group For 2009 the Group will
maimntain its 10% overall improvement
target and 1s also seeking to develop
addittonal quantifiable goals dunng the
comung year

Employees and Business Ethics

All of the Group's employment and
tramning policies are compliant with
relevant employment [egistation and
regulatory obligations The Group 1s an
equal opportunities employer Full and fair
consideration 1s given to applications
from, and the continuing employment,
career development and trainmg of
disabled people A culture of two way
communications 1$ actively promoted and
trade untons, works councils and other
employee groups are involved wherever
appropriate

The Group’s approach to its business 1s
clearly outhined in its Statement of
Business Principles and Corporate Ethics
This 1s publicly available alongside other
corporate publications on the Group’s web
site
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The commitment to achieve business
goals by acting with honesty, integnty,
openness and fairness 1s plamly stated,
together with a clear and public definition
of acceptable business practice The
statement also includes the Group’s
vision and guidance on dealings with
stakeholders such as shareholders,
employees, customers, suppliers and
contractors, as well as covenng the
specific areas of environmental protection
and health and safety

This statement 1s communicated directiy
to all managers within the Group and
through documents such as employee
handbooks to other personnel The Group
1s committed to ensuring that this
statement of ethics 1s a Imng document
and monitors its application at
operational level and has an established
‘whistle-blowing’ system
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The Wider Community

Because of the nature and extent of its
actvities, the Group understands that it 1s
essential to keep good commumication
lines open with its neighbours and other
stakeholders More than this the Group
has a positive role to play in promoting
recycling and other more environmentally
sustainable waste management practices
to the public and its closer stakeholders
such as customers

The Group has an open door pelicy and
encourages visits from local communities
and other interested persons and parties
Open days are held at some sites, while
at others education centres have been
established for the use of local schools
and other bodies Formal haison groups
are encouraged at high profile sites and
engagement with local political systems Is
a direct duty of operational management

The Group cannot rely on its regulators
and internal monitoring systems
completely when assessing the potential
impacts of its operations 1t 1s essential
that local populace opinion and concerns
are accounted for The Group has put in
place complaint and comment tracking
and response systems at all of its sites
Trends in complamts are tracked centrally
with the aim of addressing any 1ssues
before they either come to the regulator's
attention or start to impact significantly
on the Group’'s image and reputation We
are more than aware that local perception
1s a critical factor which can have a direct
effect on site development and success

Corporate Responsibility Data-Set

It 1s not practical to include here all the
environmental, health and safety and
other corporate responsibility measures
the Group uses to assess 1ts
performance However, we understand
that some stakeholders may wish access
to a more complete analysis and spread
of indicators To address this need we
have produced a corporate responsibility
data set The data-set is avallable on the
Group’s web site {www.shanks co uk} for
any interested party to view.

In addition, each of the Group's three
main countries of operation i1s producing
its own corporate responsibility report
within the country concerned These
reports will be available in September
2008



board of directors

Non-executive Directors

Adrian Auer BA, MBA, ACT (Age 59)
Chairman
Adnan Jjoined the Board in 2005 and was
appointed Chairman n July 2006 He
chairs the Nommnation Committee and is
also a member of the Remuneration
Committee Adrian i1s alse Chawman of
Readymix plc and a Non-executive Director of Filtrona ple
Previously he has held the position of Finance Director in a
number of major companies, notably in the buitding matenals
and construction sectors, as well as senior finance posttions
with BP and ICI In September 2007 he was appointed
Charman of Addaction, Britam's largest specialist drug and
alcahol treatment charnty Adnan will be standing for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM and 1s considered by the Board to be
independent

Eric van Amerengen, (Age 54)

Senior Independent Director

Enc was appointed to the Board in

February 2007 and sits on the Audit,

Remuneration and Nomination

Committees In July 2007 he was

appomted Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and Sentor independent Director He was untit March
2008 a Non-executive Director of Corus Group pl¢, & position he
held for seven years Eric also has wide ranging European
business experience and holds a number of Non-executive and
adwisory positions

Executive Directors

Tom Drury, MA, ACMA (Age 46)

Group Chlef Executlve

Tom joined the Company as Group Chief

Executive Designate in September 2007

and succeeded Michael Averil as Group

Chief Executive in October of that year

Following an early career with Unitever
and PricewaterhouseCoopers he went on to a distinguished
career with United Utilities ple, being appainted a main Board
Director 1n 2005 In 1996 he was appointed Managing Director
of a new commercial enterprise, Vertex, which grew to become
the second largest firm in the UK's business process
outsourcing sector untd the sale of that business in March
2007 to US private equity Tom will be standing for election at
the forthcoming AGM

Peter Johnson, BA, ACA (Age 54)
Peter joined the Board in May 2008 and
1s the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and also sits on the Remuneration and
Nomination Committees Peter s a
chartered accountant and Finance
Director of Taylor Wimpey plc and a Non
Executive Director of Onel Secunties Limited Previously he has
held a number of senior positions in the Fitnancial Services
sector including those of Group Finance Director of Henderson
plc, Chief Financial Officer for Pearl Assurance and Finance
Director of Norwich Union Life

Stephen Riley, B Eng, PhD (Age 46}
Steve was appointed to the Board in
March 2007 and 15 a member of the
Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees He is currently an Executive
Director with International Power plg
having joined that business 1n 1985
Steve has extensive operational experience In the power
industry having held senior positions in the UK and Australia

Fraser Wetham, BSc, ACA (Age 43)
Group Finance Director
Fraser joined the Board in May 2005 and
was appointed Group Finance Director in
June of that year He was previously
Finance Director of Shanks Belgium for
seven years and has held finance
positions with the Group for over twelve years Fraser is a
chartered accountant and prior to Jjoining the Company he held
finance pasitions with other leading waste management
companies
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directors’ report

The Directars present therr Annual Report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008

Directors

The composttion of the Board of Directors at the date of this report 1s shown on the previous page together with their biographical
details Mr A Auer, Mr E van Amerongen, Mr P Johnson, Dr S Riley and Mr F Welham all served on the Board throughout the financial
year under review, white Mr T Drury joined the Company on 3 September 2007 and was appointed to the Board as Group Chief
Executive on 1 October 2007 Non-executive Directors Mr P Delaunois and Mr B Pointon retired from the Board at the conclusion of
the AGM on 26 July 2007 Mr M Aver|l| stepped down from his position as Group Chief Executive on 30 September 2007 and was
retained to work for the Company on an advisory basis until the end of May 2008 Mr T Drury will be standing for election at the
forthcoming AGM and Mr A Auer, who will be retinng by rotation, will be offening himself for re-election Mr T Drury has a service
contract terminable on twelve months notice The Board commends to shareholders the election of both Mr A Auer and Mr T Drury
both of whom they regard as possessing the requisite skills and attributes to continue making significant contributions in thewr
respective roles as Chairman and Group Chief Executive

Details of the Directors' interests are shown in the Remuneration Report

Principal Activities and Business Revlew
The principal activities of the Group continue to be waste processing and waste management in the Netherlands, Belgium, UK, and
since April 2007, Canada

The Chairman’'s Statement, Chief Executive's Statement, Business Overview, Operating Review, Financial Review and Corporate
Responsibility on pages 3 to 24 refer to the objectives and strategy, competiion and the markets in which the Group operates, the
prncipal nsks and uncertainties facing the Group, a review of the development and performance of the business for the year ended
31 March 2008, the financial position of the Group as at the financial year end, key performance indicators and hkely future
developments of the business

The information referred to above fulfilis the requirements of the business review provisions in sectton 234Z78 of the Companies
Act 1985 and 1s incorporated by reference into, and shall be deemed to form part of, this report together with the other information
referred to in this Directors’ Report

Acquisitions and Disposals

Acquisitions have been made dunng the year at a total cost of £47 5m (2007 £65 3m} and are described in note 13 to the
financial statements There have been no disposals during the year (2007 £Ni) Subsequent to the year end the Group announced
In April 2008 that it had acquired the Belgian Foronex Group for a cash consideration of £10 4m

Research and Development
The Group spent £Nil (2007 £NH) on research and development during the vear ended 31 March 2008

Results and Dividends

The Group’s Consolidated Income Statement appears on page 43 and note 2 to the financial statements shows the contribution to
revenue and profits made by the different segments of the Group's business The Group's profit for the year amounted to £28 3m
(2007 £31 3m)

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 4 2p (2007 4 Op) per share be paid on 1 August 2008 to ordinary shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members at close of business on 11 July 2008 This dividend, together with the interim
dwidend of 2 Op (2007 1 9p) per share already paid on 9 lanuary 2008, If approved by shareholders, will make a total dividend for
the year of 6 2p per share (2007 5 9p)
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Statement of Going Concern

After making enquirtes the Directors have formed the view, at the time of approving the financial statements, that the Company and
Group have adequate resources to continue In operational existence for the foreseeable future For this reason the Directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis In prepanng the financial statements

Notifiable Interests
As at 27 May 2008, the Company had been notified of the following direct and indirect interests I1n voting nights equal to or
exceeding 3% of the ordinary share capital of the Company

Number of shares Percentage

Legal & General Group plg 41,705,994 17 60
Schroder Investment Management Limited 30,983,387 1308
Aberforth Partners LLP 17,202,200 732
Liontrust Investment Services Limited 11,682,512 492
Artemis Investment Management Limited 10,337,324 438
Credit Suisse Securities {Europe) Limited 9,947 564 422

Share Capital

During the year ended 31 March 2008 no ordinary shares were issued other than those issued 1n respect of exercises of options
under the Company's share option schemes and long term incentive plan, details of which are given n note 5 to the financial
statements As at 31 March 2008 and as at the date of this report the authonsed ordinary share capital was and 1s £35,000,000
represented by 350,000,000 ordinary shares of 10 pence each As at 31 March 2008 and as at the date of this report there were
236,928,379 ordinary shares i 1ssue The rights and obligations attaching to the shares are

*  Dividend nights — holders of the Company's ordinary shares may, by ordinary resolution, declare dividends but may not declare
dividends in excess of the amount recommended by the Directors The Directors may also pay intenm dividends No dividend
may be paid other than out of profits avaitable for distribution Payment or satisfaction of a dvitdend may be made wholly or
partly by distnbution of specific assets, including fully paid shares or debentures of any other company Such action must be
directed by the general meeting which declared the dividend and upon the recommendation of the Directors

+ Volng rights — voling at any general meeting 1s by a show of hands unless a poll 1s duly demanded On a show of hands every
shareholder who 1s present in person at a general meeting (and every proxy appomnted by a shareholder and present at a
general meeting) has one vote regardless of the number of shares held by the shareholder (or represented by the proxy) On a
poll, every shareholder who 1s present in person or by proxy has one vote for every share held by that shareholder {the deadiine
for exercising voting nghts by proxy 1s set out in the form of proxy) A poll may be demanded by any of the following (a) the
chairman of the meeting, (b) at least 5 sharehotders entitled to vote and present in person or by proxy at the meeting, (c) any
shareholder or shareholders present in person or by proxy and representing in the aggregate not less than one tenth of the
total voting rghts of all shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the meeting, or {d) any shareholder or shareholders present
in persan or by proxy and holding shares conferning a night to attend and vote at the meeting on which there have been paid up
sums in the aggregate equal to not less than onetenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares confernng that right [n the
case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman of the meeting 15 entitled to cast the
deciding vote in addition to any other votes he may have

* Return of capital — in the event of the liquidation of the Company, after payment of all hiabihties and deductions taking prnionty
in accordance with statute, the balance of assets avarlable for distribution will be distributed among the holders of ordinary
shares according to the amounts paid up on the shares held by them A liquidator may with the sanction of a special resolution
of the shareholders and any other sanction required by the Comparies Acts, dvide among the shareholders the whole or any
part of the Company's assets Alternatively, a liguidator may, upon the adoption of a special resolution of the shareholders,
veslt the assels in whoie or in part In trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of shareholders, but no shareholder 1s
compelled to accept any assets upon which there i1s a habihty
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directors’ report

conttnued

Powers of Directors

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company provides that the business of the Company shall be managed by the
Board which may exercise all the powers of the Company whether relating to the management of the business of the Company or
not This power Is subject to any mtations (imposed on the Company by legislation It s also limited by the provisions of the
Memorandum and Articles of Asscciation of the Company and any directions given by special resolution of the members of the
Company which are applicable on the date that any power I1s exercised Specific provisions relevant to the exercise of power by the
Directors mclude

+ Pre-emptive rights and new 1ssues of shares - while holders of ordinary shares have no pre-emptive nghts under the Articles of
Association, the ability of the Directors to cause the Company to 1ssue shares, securities convertible into shares or nghts to
shares, otherwise than pursuant to an employee share scheme, 1s restricted Under the Companies Acts, the Directors of a
company are, with certain exceptions, unable to allot any equity securities without express authorisation, which may be
contatned In a company's Articles of Association or given by 1ts shareholders in general mesting, but which in erther event
cannot last for more than five years Under the Companies Acts, the Company may also not allot shares for cash (ctherwise
than pursuant to an employee share scheme) without first making an offer to existing shareholders to allot such shares to
them on the same or more favourable terms In proportion to thetr respective shareholdmgs, unless this requirement is waived
by a special resolution of the shareholders

+ Repurchase of shares — subject to authonsation by shareholder resolution, the Company may purchase its own shares in
accordance with the Companies Acts Any shares which have been bought back may be held as treasury shares o, if not so
held, must be cancelied immediately upon completion of the purchase, thereby reducing the amount of the Company's 1ssued
share capital

« Borrowing powers — the Directors are empowered to exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, subject to the
Iimitation that the aggregate amount of all net external barrowings of the Group outstanding at any time shall not exceed an
amount equal to three times the aggregate of the Group’s adjusted capital and reserves calculated in the manner prescribed in
the Artrcles of Association, unless sanctioned by an ordinary resolution of the Company's shareholders

Amendment to Company’s Articles
The Company may alter its Articles of Association by special resolution passed at a general meeting

Corporate Governance

The Board s fully committed to high standards of corporate governance Detalls relating to the Company's compliance with the
Combined Code con Corporate Governance for the financial year are given in the Corporate Governance and Remuneration Reports
on pages 30 to 39 These sections contan details of Directors’ service contracts and further nformation on the appointment of
Directors and the responsibitities of the Board Subyect to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the Memorandum and Articles of
Association and directions given by special resolution, the business of the Company 1s managed by the Board, which may exercise
all the powers of the Company

Corporate Responsibiilty
Infermation on Corporate Responsibility matters including the environment, employment policies, health and safety and community
relations are set out on pages 21 to 24

Charitable and Political Donatlons

During the penod donations made by the Group for charitable purposes amounted to £2,430 (2007 £2,980) No donations were
made for political purposes during the year {2007 £Nu)
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Payment of Suppliers

It 15 the Group's payment policy to agree payment terms with all supphers and to abide by them The amount owed to trade
creditors at the year end in proportion to the amounts invoiced by suppliers dunng the year, expressed as a number of days, was
65 days (2007 53 days) for the Group and was 25 days (2007 31 days) for the Company

Signiflcant Agreements

The Group’s principal financing Instrument, the multicurrency £250m revolving credit facility with five major banks, contains an
option for those banks to declare that all sums outstanding under that agreement are repayable immediately in the event of a
change of control This notice takes effect no earlier than thirty days from change of control and, if exercised at 31 March 2008,
would have required the repayment of £211 7m in pnncipal and interest

The 2001 notes Issued under the Group’s private placement contain an option for the noteholders to enforce prepayment between
thirty days and sixty days from change of control of outstanding principal and interest which would have amounted in total at

31 March 2008 to £41 8m In addition, an amount of make-whole amounting to £6 9m which 1s not provided for in these accounts
would be payable to private placement noteholders based on treasury yields at 31 March 2008

Disclosure of Information to the Company's auditors

In accordance with section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, each of the Company's Directors in office as at the date of thus report
confirms that, so far as he 15 aware, there 1s no relevant audit information in connection with preparing their report of which the
Company's auchitors are unaware Each Director has taken all steps which he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make
himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that infermation

Annual General Meeting

The AGM will be held on 24 July 2008, the notice for which 1s set out on pages 86 to 93 A form of proxy has also been included in
a separate document sent to shareholders with this report Resoluttons will be proposed to declare a final dividend, receive the
2008 report and accounts, approve the 2008 Remuneration Report, elect Directors, reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as
auditors of the Company and authorise the Directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration Shareholders will also be asked to
renew the general authonty of the Directors to Issue shares, together with the authanty to disapply pre-emption rights and authonse
the Company to make purchase of its own shares In addition, a resolution will be proposed to revise the Articles of Association to
reflect some of the new provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and to reflect a number of other legislative, regulatory and best
practice developments which are explamned further in the appendix to the notice of the AGM

The Directors consider that all the resolutions proposed at the AGM to be held on 24 July 2008 are in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole and they unanimously recommend that all shareholders vote in favour of the resolutions,
as they intend to do in respect of their own shareholdings

By Order of the Bo

0)

Philip Griffin-Smith
Company Secretary
29 May 2008
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Combined Code

The Group 1s committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance and integrity and exemplary ethical standards in all its
business dealings This statement, together with the Remuneration Report on pages 34 to 39, explains how the Group has applied
the provisions of the Combined Code on Comporate Governance published in 2003 by the Financtal Reporting Council and updated
subsequently in 2006 The Board considers that it has complied with Section 1 of the Combined Code n all matenal respects
throughout the year

The Board of Directors

The Board currently compnses the Chairman, a further three independent Non-executive Directors, the Group Chief Executive and
Group Finance Director The Chairman has pnmary responstbiiity for running the Board and the Group Chief Executive 1s responsible
for the operations of the Group and for the development of strategic plans and initiatives for consideration by the Board The
dmston of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Group Chief Executive has been clearly established, set out in wnting and
agreed by the Board

The Non-executive Directors bring a wide range of expenence to the Group and are considered by the Board to be independent of
management and free from any business or other relationship which could matenally interfere with the exercise of therr independent
Judgement During the year, until his retirement in July 2007, Mr P Delaunois was not deemed to be independent in accordance with
the cntena set out 1n the Combined Code owing to his receving fees for providing consultancy advice to the Group's Belglan
subsidiaries In addition to the fees recewved for acting as a Director The Nor-executive Directors make a significant contnibution to
the functioning of the Board, thereby ensurning that no one individual or group dominates the decision making process Non-
executive Directors are not eligible to participate in any of the Company's share option or penston schemes The Chairman also
meets as necessary with the other Nonexecutive Directors without the executives present

The Combined Code also recommends that the Board appoints one of its independent Non executive Directors to be the Senior
Independent Director This Director 1s avallable to shareholders should they have concerns which contact through the normal
channels of Chairman, Group Chief Executive or Group Finance Director has falled to resolve or for which such contact 1s
inappropriate  During the year this role was fuifilled by Mr B Pointon until his retirement in July 2007 and thereafter by

Mr E van Amerongen

The Beard meets reguiarly, having met nine times during the year In addition, separate strategic discussions take place Several
meetings are held at subsidiary company sites 1in the UK and overseas where local operations are reviewed [n line with the
requirement of sound corporate governance, there 1s a formal schedule of matters reserved specifically for the Board's decision
These include approval of financial statements, strategic policy, acquisitions and disposals, capital projects over defined himits,
annual plans and new borrowing facilities

The Board operates under agreed terms of reference, which together with those of its Committees are decumented formally and
updated as necessary The Board is provided with appropriate information i a timely manner to enable 1t to effectively discharge its
duties All Directors have access to the Company Secretary whose role includes ensunng that Board procedures and regulations are
followed In addition, Directors are entitled, iIf necessary, to seek independent professional advice in the furtherance of thewr duties
at the Company’s expense

Performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors dunng the year was undertaken through the
mechanism of formalised self assessment questionnaires Key results, all of which were positive and constructive, continue to be
acted on by the Chairman and the Board The performance evaluation of the Chairman was undertaken by the Nonexecutive
Directors, led by the Senior Independent Director

All Directors submit themselves for re-electton by shareholders in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, and all
Non executive Directors are appotnted initially for a three year term Any new Director appointed to the Board will be subject to
election by shareholders at the first opportunity after their appointment It has heen agreed that any Non-executive Directors who
have served for a period greater than nine years from initial appointment wil submit themselves for annual re election
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On appointment, Directors are given an ntroduction to the Group's operations, including visits to pnincipal sites and meetings with
operational management Specific training requirements of Directors are met erther directly or by the Company through
legal/regulatory updates Board succession planning 1s kept under review by the Nomination Committee

The tahle betow details the number of formal Board and Committee meetings held in the year and the attendance of each Director
In addition, the Board held a two day strategy meeting with senior management attending for part of the time There was also
regular communication hetween the Non-executive Directors without the presence of the Executive Directors

Audit Remuneration Normination

Drector Group Board Committee Commiiee Committee
A Auer 9(9) n/a 4 {4) 2(2)
M Avenltl (retired 30 September 2007) 5 (5) n/a n/a nfa
P Delfaunais {retired 26 July 2007} 3 (4) 1(1) 2(2) 21{2)
T Drury {appointed 1 October 2007) 4 (4} n/a n/a n/a
P Johnson 9(9) 3(3) 4 (4) 2(2)
B Pointon (retired 26 July 2007) 4 {4) 1{1) 2{2) 2(2)
S Riley 9(9) 3(3) 4 (4) 2 {2}
E van Amerongen 7 (9) 3(3) 3{4) 1(2)
F Welham 9 {9} n/a n/a n/a

Figures tn brackets indicate maximum number of meetings dunng the pertod in which each individual was a Board/Committee
member

Audlt Committee

The Audit Commttee, which met three times in the year, is formally constituted with wntten terms of reference which are avarable
on the Group’s website The Committee 1s comprised solely of Non-executive Directors, Mr P Johnson, Dr S Riley and Mr E van
Amerongen Mr P Johnson, who continues to have current and relevant financial expenience under Combined Code requirements,
chaired the Committee throughout the year During the year both Mr P Delaunois and Mr B Pointon also served on the Committee
until their retirement in July 2007 The external auditors, the Chairman and the Executive Directors are regularly invited to attend
meetings and the Committee has access 1o the external auditors™ advice wrthout the presence of the Executive Directors The Audit
Committee has the authonty to examine any matters relating to the financial affairs of the Group This includes the appointment,
terms of engagement, objectivity and independence of the external auditors, the nature and scope of the audit, revtews of the
interim and annita! financial statements, internal control procedures, accounting policies, adherence with accounting standards and
such other related functions as the Board may require The Commiuttee also considers and reviews other nsk management and
control documentation, including the Group's policy on ‘whistleblowing’ and secunty reporting procedures

The policy on engagement of the external auditors for non-audit services s that, where the work 15 closely related to the audit, or If
the work requires a detalled understanding of the Group, or when a significant benefit can be obtained from work previousty

conducted, the work may be awarded to the auditors without compramising their independence and objectivity

Durnng the year the performance of the external auditors was formally reviewed A resolution proposing the re-appomntment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Group auditors will be put to shareholders at the forthcoming AGM
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continued

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, which met four tumes in the year, 1s formally constrtuted wrth written terms of reference which are
available on the Group’s website The Committee Is compnised solely of Non-executive Directors, Mr E van Amerongen, Mr A Auer,
Mr P Johnson and Dr S Riley and has been chaired since July 2007 by Mr E van Amerongen Duning the year Mr P Delaunois served
on and Mr B Pointon chaired the Committee unti their retirement in July 2007 The Committee determines the Company’s policy on
remuneration and on a specific package for each of the Executive Directors It also determines the terms on which the Long Term
incentive Plan (LTIP) and the Save As You Earn (SAYE) share options are awarded to employees The Committee also determines
the remuneration of the Group's senior management and that of the Charrman It recommends the remuneration of the Non-
executive Directors for determmation by the Board In exercising 1ts responsibilities the Committee has access to professional
advice, both internally and externally, and may consult the Group Chief Executive about its proposals The Remuneration Report on
pages 34 to 39 contauns particulars of Directors’ remuneration and interests in the Company's shares

Nomination Committee

The Nomunation Committee 1s chaired by Mr A Auer and 1s compnsed solely of Non-executive Directors, Mr E van Amerangen,

Mr P Johnson and Dr S Riley Duning the year both Mr P Delaunois and Mr B Pointon alse served on the Commuttee until therr
retirement in July 2007 The Committee 1s formally constituted with written terms of reference which are available on the Group’s
website 1t met twice during the year and 1s responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors
and successian planning Dunng the year, the structure, composition and balance of skills of the Board were reviewed ncluding
ensuring that all members of the Board had devoted sufficient tme and contributed adequately to the work of the Board Dunng the
year the Committee implemented succession planning in respect of Mr M Avenll's retirement in September 2007 and the
appointment of Mr T Drury as successor to the position of Group Chief Executive All appointments were made using the services of
an external executive search consultant

Pensions

The assets of both the final salary and money purchase schemes in the UK are held separately from those of the Group These are
invested by Independent professional investment managers and cannect be invested directly in the Company There are two member
nominated trustees and three trustees appointed by the Company Senior employees in Belgium are provided with defined
contnibution pension benefits In the Netherlands, employees participate in compulsory collective transport industry wide pension
schemes, or equivalent schemes, which provide benefits up to a certain level of pay Senior employees in the Netherlands earning
in excess of the maximum level of pay allowed for within the compulsory pension schemes also participate in a defined contrbution
arrangement for the excess amount

Investor Relations

The Company has an active investor relations programme, with designated members of the Board regularly meeting institutional
investors, analysts, press and other parttes The Board obtains feedback from its broker, Hoare Govett on the views of institutional
shareholders and the Chairman attends meetings with major shareholders whose views are communicated to the Board as a whole
The Group also communicates with private and institutional investors through its AGM The Group's website www shanks co uk
provides additional information for shareholders and the general public

Risk Management

The Board confirms that processes for identifying, evaluating and managing the matenat nsks faced by the Group have been in
place for the financial year 2008 and to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts These include a formal review by
each business unit to 1dentify and evaluate material strategic, operational, commercial and financial risks affecting the achievement
of their objectives This review also identifies key procedures and controls used to mutigate the nisks to an acceptable level and,
where appropniate, actions reguired to further manage and reduce them |n addition the Executive Directors consider those risks to
the Group’s strategic objectives that may not be identified and managed at the business unit levet The sk summanes developed
out of this process are discussed with both the Board and the Audit Commuittee in accordance with Turnbull Guidance

Risk management also forms part of major decision making processes such as acquisiions or major contract tenders It 1s also
embedded in the day to day management of operations including health, safety and environmental compliance aspects
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Internal Control

The Directors are responstble for and have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's system of internal control dunng the pernod
covered by the annual report and accounts The system 1s desighed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
matenal avoidable loss or misstatement of financial information The key features of the control system are as follows

{1 monthly wisits by Executive Directors to key operating locations to attend local board or management meetings,
() regular Executive Commrttee meetings of the Group's most senior managers and Executive Directors,
{m} formal wrnitten financial policies and procedures applicable to all business units,

(iv) comprehensive annual budgets, requinng Board and business unit approval, reviewed on a regular basis, with performance
measured aganst budgets and explanations sought for significant vanances,

(v} a formal clearly defined framework for control and approval of capital expenditure and investment programmes, with cash
authgnsation imits and post investment appraisals along with contract authonsation levels,

{(v1) 1dentificatton and evaluation of key nisks applicable to each area of business assessed on a continuing basis at both operating
Board and Group Board level,

{wn} appointment of expenenced and professional staff of the necessary calibre to meet their responsibilities,

(viiy) annual peer reviews where the adequacy of the procedures and controls In each business unit's operations are reviewed by
sentor staff from elsewhere in the Group with the aid of extensive checklists Summaries of findings from these reviews and
the status on follow up actions are discussed by the Group Board,

(%) a programme of internal site audits performed by senior finance staff A selection of these audits 1s performed by indwiduals
from other business units or, where language 1s an 1ssue, by a local firm of external auditors Findings from these audits are
discussed at the monthly business unit Board meetings Summares of audit findings and the status of follow up actions are
discussed at the Group Board and Audit Commitiee meetings on a regular basis,

(x) arange of quality assurance and environmental management systems are used at the Group's sites Where appropnate these
are independently certified to internationally recognised standards including ISO 9001 and ISO 14001, and as such are subject

to regular external audits,

(x1} an Environmental Advisory Board which during the year provided an independent assessment of the Group's health, safety
and environmental performance, and

(i1} an Audit Commitiee compnsing Non-executive Directors, the responsibihties of which are set out on page 31
To strengthen the controls provided by the above the Audit Committee recommended and the Board agreed to the establishment of

an independent internal audsit function in February 2008 A Group Risk Management and Internal Audit Manager has been recruited
to head up this function He will join the Group In June 2008
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Remuneration Policy

The pricipai objectives of the Remuneration Committee, which 1s chaired by Mr E van Amerongen and comprises the Non-executive
Directors are to attract, retain and motivate high quality senior management with a competitive package of incentives and awards
linked to performance and the interests of shareholders The Committee seeks to ensure that the Executive Directors are fairly
rewarded taking into account all elements of their remuneration package in the light of the Group's performance

The Cormmittee has appointed Deloitte & Touche LLP to provide independent market information and advice relating to executive
remuneration and benefits Deloitte & Touche LLP are considered to be independent as they provide only very imited other services
to the Group The Commitiee also engaged the services of an independent consultant, B Partndge Consulting Ltd, to assist in the
review of executive remuneration for the year to 31 March 2008

As described below, a significant proportion of potential total remuneration 1s performance related and 1s built around annual and
longer term incentives For Directors achleving median performance, performance retated pay would represent approximately 40% of
total remuneration If performance were such that the maximum award available under each incentive scheme was paid,
performance related pay would represent approximately 87% of total remuneration

Baslc Salary

The basic salary element 15 determined primarily by reference to external data which takes into account the Executive Director's
duttes and responsibiities Basic satary I1s generally reviewed on an annual basis or following a significant change in
responsibilities Dunng the year Mr F Welham's basic salary was increased from £220,000 to £250,000 per annum and from

1 April 2008 to £257 500 Mr T Drury’s basic salary of £375,000 was increased from 1 Apnt 2008 to £390,000

Annual Cash Bonuses

Annual cash bonuses are payable at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee as a percentage of basic salary dependent on
corporate profit and operating ¢ash flow performance compared to target For the year to 31 March 2008, the Executive Directors’
potential cash bonus ranged from 30% for achieving target performance to a maximum bonus of 100% for achieving a performance
of approximately 15% above target performance Cash bonuses are not pensionable

For the year ending 31 March 2009, the component of the annual bonus relating to operating cash flow targets has been replaced
by individual personal objectives The maximum bonus for this component remains 25% of basic salary The maximum total bonus
for the Group Chief Executive will be 125% and 100% for the Group Finance Director

Long Term Incentive Plan

Under the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) senior employees may be granted an award annually, the vesting of which 15 subject to
the attainment of two pre-determined performance condittons measured over a three year period Awards are in the form of Shanks
Group plc shares The maximum value i any financial year cannot be more than 100% of basic satary as at the date of grant and
15 calculated on the Company’s share price at that time

The first performance condition 1s based on Total Shareholder Return (TSR), where the Company's TSR achieved duning the three
year performance penod 1s measured against the TSR achieved by those compamies that consttuted the FISE Support Services
Sector immediately before the date of grant of an award An award will only vest in full if the Company's TSR results in it being
ranked in the upper quartile of the companies in the comparator group where the company with the highest TSR (s ranked first If
the TSR of the Company results in a median position n the comparator group, then 25% of the award will vest Vesting above the
median position 15 on a shiding scale, with 3% of the award vesung for each percentile increase i the Company’s rank above the
median positton up to the maximum award If the Company's TSR for the performance period results in a position below the median
then the award will lapse

The second performance conditton s based on Earnings Per Share (EPS} and for an award to vest, the average growth in the
Company's adjusted EPS calculated on a consistent basis must exceed the growth in the Retail Price Index over the same period by
at least nine percentage points Having reviewed this performance condition and in light of market condittons the Remuneration
Committee has decided to increase this to at least 12 percentage points for any grants awarded dunng the financral year 2008/9
and thereafter This condition will be kept under review for future awards

No amendment may be made to the performance conditions which would be to the matenial advantage of participants without the
prior approval of shareholders in general meeting

34 shanks annual report 2008




During the year the Committee confirmed the performance conditions for the LTIPs granted in 2004 had been partially achieved and
were avallable for exercise At a meeting of the Committee on 27 May 2008 the performance conditions for the financial year
ended 31 March 2008 were determined to have been achieved, resulting in the vesting in full of the LTIPs granted in 2005

The Shanks Group plc Employee Share Trust has been established for the purpose of granting awards under the LTIP and to hold
shares 1n the Company either purchased in the market or new shares subscribed for, with funds provided by the Company or its
subsidiaries As at 31 March 2008 the Employee Share Trust did not hold any of the Company's shares

Figure 1. Shanks Group pic Total Shareholder Return versus FTSE Support Services Sector Index
for the period 1 April 2003 to 31 March 2008

The graph shows the Total Shareholder Return of the Company and that of the FTSE Support Services Sector Index over the five-
year perod to 31 March 2008 This Index has been selected as 1t 1s a broad equity index of which Shanks Group plc is a
constituent member

Share Optlon Schemes

The Committee believes that share ownership by employees encourages the matching of long term interests between employees
and shareholders All UK employees including Executive Directors, subject fo certain service conditions, may participate in HM
Revenue & Customs approved Savings Related Share Option Scheme (SRS0S) Senior executives were also able to participate in
an Executwe Share Option Scheme (ESOS) at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee Grants of options under the ESOS
were discontinued in August 2005 when this scheme was replaced by the LTIP

Under the terms of the SRSOS for UK employees, options may be granted during the ten year period to July 2015 to acquire up to
10% of the 1ssued equity share capital of the Company, including options granted under the ESOS and LTIP Options are granted at
the higher of the nominal value of an ordinary 10 pence share and an amount determined by the Remuneration Committee being
not less than 80% of the market value Employees held options over nearly O 7m shares under the SRS0S as at 31 March 2008
At the AGM held on 26 July 2007 the shareholders approved an amendment to the SRSOS rules to extend the dates upon which
invitations to apply for share options could be made to employees to include the pericd forty two days commencing from the AGM

Under the terms of the discontinued ESOS, options could be granted duning the ten year period to August 2005 to acquire up to 5%
of the 1ssued equity share capital of the Company The exercise of optiens granted under the ESOS, is subject to a performance
condition, achievement of which 1s a pre-requisite for exercise of options The condition Is tested once only after a period of three
years and If it 1s not achieved the relevant options will lapse Options granted after 26 July 2001 will only be exercisable If the
Group’s EPS, calculated on a consistent basis, exceeds the growth in Retall Price Index over the same period by at least nine
percentage points Duning the year the Committee confirmed the performance conditions for the £ES0S granted in 2004 had been
met and therefore was avaitable for exercise At a meeting of the Committee on 27 May 2008 the performance condiions for the
financial year ended 31 March 2008 were determined to have been achieved resulting in the vesting of the final tranche of
executive options granted in 2005
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The Remuneration Committee applied a different performance condition for options granted under the ESOS prior to 26 July 2001
These options may not be exercised unless the growth in the Group’s EPS over the period of any three consecutive years after the
date of grant equals or exceeds the increase in the Retail Price Index over the same period by at least six percentage points
Dunng the year the Committee re-tested the performance conditions for the ESOS granted in 2000 and 2001 and confirmed these
had been achteved and as a result these options were availlable for exercise

Directors’ Service Contracts and Notlce Periods

The Remuneration Committee has agreed that the policy with regard to the notice penod for Executive Directors s one year
Accordingly, Mr T Drury and Mr F Welham have rolling service contracts dated 3 September 2007 and 21 July 2005, respectively,
which require one year's notice from the Company In the case of notice from the Director, Mr T Drury 1s required to give one year's
notice and Mr F Wetham, six months In the event of early termination, the Remuneration Committee will consider carefully what
compensation should be paid taking into account the circumstances of the particular case

As has been detailed in the Directors’ Report, Mr Averill stood down from his position as Group Chief Executive and Director with
effect from 30 September 2007 However, In line with tus notice period Mr Avenll continued to be employed by the Company on an
adwvisory basis untill the end of May 2008 Payments from that date were Iimited to the Director’s contractual remuneration incluchng
basic salary and benefits for the unexpired portion of the notice penod, being a salary of £187,000 and car allowance/medical
insurance benefit of £14,000 for the period 1 October 2007 to 31 March 2008 Any entittement to the exercise of LTIPs awarded
previously is governed by the rules of the relevant scheme Pensionable service I1s accrued for the unexpired portion of the notice
penod

The Non-executive Directors do not have service contracts as their terms of engagement are governed by letters of appontment
Mr P Delaunois had and, post tus retrement from the Board in July 2007, continues to have an agreement to provide consultancy
services to the Group's Belgian subsidiary companies which can be terminated on gving three month's notice by either party

Date of Date of
appointment as bector inibal letter of appointment Term of appantment
A Auer 16 May 2005 10 May 2005 Renewable three year term
P Johnson 16 May 2005 10 May 2005 Renewable three year term
E van Amerongen 9 February 2007 12 January 2007 Renewable three year term
S Riley 29 March 2007 12 January 2007 Renewable three year term

External Appointments

The Remuneration Committee acknowledges that Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-executive Directors of other
quoted companies which have no business relationship with the Group and that these duties can broaden their expenence and
knawledge to the benefit of the Company Executive directors are imited to hold one such position and the policy is that fees may
be retained by the Director, reflecting the personal nsk assumed in such appointments Mr M Averill had Board approval for two
Non-executive positions during his last year in office The fees received from these appointments until his retirement from the
Board were £35,000

Directors’ Interests In Ordinary Shares
The Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company both during the year and at 27 May 2008 were as follows

As at 1 Apnl 2007 As at 31 March 2008

or date of appomtment and 27 May 2008 or

If later date of ratirement If eartrer

M Averill 78,206 229,637
A Auer 10,000 10,000
P Delaunocis 1,500 -
T Drury - 15,000
P Johnson 1,585 1,685
B Pointon 3,000 3,000
S Ritey - -
E van Amerongen - -
F Welham - -
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The auditors are required to report on the information contamned in the remaining section of the Remuneration Report

Directors’ Remuneration

Performance Other 2008 2007
Basic salary/fees related bonus emoluments Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Chalrman
A Auer 100 - - 100 78
| Clubb {retired 27 July 2006) - - - - 33
Executlve Directors
M Avenlt {retired 30 September 2007) 187 - 14 201 536
T Drury (appointed 1 October 2007) 187 136 86 409 -
f Welham 235 146 37 418 273
Non-executive Directors
P Delaunots {retired 26 July 2007) 12 - 14 26 70
P Johnson 40 - - 40 33
B Pointon (retired 26 July 2007) 13 - - 13 35
S Riley (appotnted 9 February 2007) a5 - - 35 3
E van Amerongen (appomnted 29 March 2007) 38 - - 38 6
Total 847 282 151 1,280 1,067

Notes

0]

()

(1)

Other emoluments for Mr M Avenlt and Mr F Welham include such tems as car allowance and medical insurance which are not
pensionable In the case of Mr F Welham this also includes Company contributions to the Defined Contnibution section of the
Shanks Group Pension Scheme Other emoluments for Mr T Drury include relocation assistance, a car allowance, medical
insurance and a cash element, paid in lieu of pension scheme contnbutions, equating to 25% of salary All of these items are
non pensionable

Other emoluments for Mr P Delaunois are for fees relating to consultancy services provided to the Group’s Belgian subsidianes
by S A CGO of which Mr P Delaungis is a shareholder and director As at the date of his rettrement from the Board these fees
amounted to £14,000, although these fees continue to be paid for cngoing consultancy services at a rate of £42,000 per
annum

The Non-executive Directors do not participate in the annuat bonus plan and do not receive any pension contributions from the
Group

Directors’ Penslon Benefits

Mr M Averdl and Mr F Welham are both members of the Final Salary (Defined Benefit) section of the Shanks Group Pension
Scheme, which 15 a funded scheme, approved by HM Revenue & Customs In the case of Mr Welham, pension benefits are capped
at the nottonal HM Revenue & Customs earnings cap, which 1s reviewed annually For the year to 31 March 2008 the notional cap
was £112 800 Under the terms of this scheme the Executive Directors have

»

at retirernent, and subject 10 length of service, a pension of up to two thirds of basic salary,
an employee contribution of 7% of basic salary,
a lump sum death in service benefit of four times basic salary, and

a spouse’s pension on death
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The following table shows the movement in Directors” pension benefit dunng the year

Directors’ Final Salary Penslon — Benefits

Transfer

value of

Transfer value Transfer value Increase in

Increase In at 3103 08 at 319307 accrued penston

Increase In accrued of pension of pension Increase in - dunng the year

accrued pension Accrued benefits benefits transfer value  net of inflation

Age at pension  during the year pension at accrued at accrued at  less Directors’  less Diectors

310308 dunng the year  net of unflation 310308 310308 310307 contrioutions contrbutions

(n) {1t} () (v} (v) v )

£000 pa £000 pa £000 £000 £0600 £000 £000

M Avenll 56 19 11 234 4,830 4,123 681 208
F Welham 43 3 2 31 355 221 126 21

Notes

m

()

()
(W)

)

Mr F Welham was subject to the HM Revenue & Customs cap on approved pension benefits and was provided with additional
pension benefits for basic salary in excess of the cap via the Defined Contnbution section of the Shanks Group Pension
Scheme The Company contributed £21,000 into this section of Mr Welham’s pension dunng the year and 1s included in the
‘other emoluments’ sectien of the Derectors’ remuneration table shown on page 37 The value of Mr Welham’s fund in the
Defined Contnbution section as at 31 March 2008 including his own contributions was £40,000

The increase in accrued pension during the year represents the difference between the totaf accrued pension at the end of the
year and the equivalent amount at the beginning of the year

The pension entittement shown is that which would be patd annually on retirement based on service at the end of the year

The transfer value has been calculated on the basis of actuanal advice in accordance with Actuanal Guidance Note GN11
The calculation 1s based on the assumption that pensions will be paid from the earliest retirement age possible without the
application of actuanal reduction factors (at age of 57 for Mr M Avenll and 62 for Mr F Welham)

Mr Avenll resigned as a Director on 30 September 2007 His transfer value has been calculated on tus pensionable pay as at
30 September 2007 He remamed a member of the Scheme to the year end, and the increase in accrued penston and transfer
value reflects accrual of benefits over the whole year

The increase n transfer value has been calculated taking into account market conditions and the Directors’ ages at 31 March
2007 and 31 March 2008

Directors’ Interests In Share Options
The following Directors held options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company

Cption Number Number
Date of Normal Exercise Dates price ati Granted Lapsed  Exercised at 31
Share Optlons * grant From To {pence)  Apnl 2007 \n year n year in year March 2008#
M Averill E 05 06 00 06 06 03 05 06 O7 1800 150,000 - - 150,000 -
S 26 09 02 01 11 07 3004 08 116 0 8,495 - - 8,495 -
S 250903 011108 30 04 09 840 3,773 - - - 3,773
S 010906 011109 300410 1505 1,255 - - - 1,255
F Welham [ 05 06 00 06 06 03 05 086 07 1800 20,000 - - 20,000 -
E 04 06 01 05 06 04 04 06 08 176 5 20,000 - - 20,000 -
E 020804 03 08 07 02066 14 1150 25,000 - - - 25,000
) 250903 011108 3004 09 840 18,869 - - - 18,869

* (E} Executive Share Qption Scheme and (S} Savings Relateg Share Option Scheme

# or at date of retirement If earlier
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Notes

(1) The option price 1s the price at which the option was granted The pnice I1s set by the Remuneration Committee but 1s not less
than 80% (Savings Related Scheme) and 100% (Executive Scheme)} of the average market pnce of the shares over the iast
three dealing days immediately preceding the date of the invitation to subscribe (Savings Refated Scheme) or the date of grant
(Executive Scheme} The performance conditions relating to the exercise of Executive Share Options are shown on
pages 35 and 36

(n) The market price of the shares on 1 June 2007 when Mr M Avenll and Mr F Welham exearcised their executive share options
was 271 27 pence whilst the price on 16 November 2007 when Mr M Avenl! exercised his savings related share option was
208 87 pence

Directors’ Interests In Long Term Incentive Plan
The foltowing Directors have been made notional allocations of shares under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan

Qutstanding Awards Outstanding

awards at  Awards made Awards lapsed exercised awards at Share price on
31 March during during dunng 31 March Date of date of award  Performance Restricted
2007 the year the year the year 2008#% award {pence) penod end penod end
M Avenit 290,000 - 4,350 285,650 - 020804 1150 310307 02 08 07
240,000 - - - 240,000 06 06 05 144 75 310308 06 06 08
213,000 - - - 213,000 05 06 06 1700 31 03 09 0506 09
T Drury - 150,000 - - 150,000 28 09 07 2330 310310 280910
F Welham 75,000 - - - 75,000 06 06 05 144 75 310308 06 06 08
94,000 - - - 94,000 05 06 06 1700 310309 05 06 09
- 75,000 - - 75,000 05 06 07 2735 310310 05 06 10

# or at date of retirement If earler

Notes
() The performance conditions refating to the vestng of the Long Term Incentive Plan awards are shown on pages 34 and 35

(1} The market price of the shares on 3 August 2007 on the vesting of Mr M Averill's 2004 Long Term Incentive Plan was
232 4 pence

The highest closing mid-market price of the ordinary shares of the Company dunng the year was 281 pence and the lowest closing

mid market price dunng the year was 195 pence The mid-market price at the close of business on 31 March 2008 was 260 pence

Other Interests
None of the Directors had an interest in the shares of any subsidiary undertaking of the Company or in any significant contracts of
the Group

By order of the Board

29 May 2008
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statement of directors’ responsibilities

n respect of the Annual Report, the Directors  Remuneration Report and the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors” Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
aceordance with applicable law and regulations

Company taw requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the Directors have
prepared the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of
affars of the Company and the Group and of the profit of the Company and Group for that period

In prepanng those financial statements, the Directors are required to

» select surtable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

« make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

+ state whether the financial statements comply with iFRSs as adopted by the European Union,

» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue
In business, and

» nclude a fair review of the development, performance and position of the business, together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in prepanng the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the Remuneration Report
comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985 and as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS
Regutation They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the

Company's website lLegislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemmnatton of financial statements may
differ from legistation in other junisdictions
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independent auditors’ report to the members of
Shanks Group plc

We have audited the group and parent company financial statements (the ‘financial statements') of Shanks Group plc for the year
ended 31 March 2008 which compnse the Consolidated Group and Parent Company income Statements, the Consoclidated Group
and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Consolidated Group
and Parent Cotnpany Statements of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein We have also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
that I1s descnbed as having been audited

Respective responsibifities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibihittes for prepanng the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements 1n
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set
out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility 15 to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited In
accordance with refevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing {UK and Ireland) This report,
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
prior consent In writing

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financiat statements
and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared In accordance with the Companies
Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation We also report to you whether in our
opinion the nformation gwven i the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the financial statements The information given in the
Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented m the Chairman's Statement, Chief Executive's Statement, Business
Overview, Operating Review, Financial Review and Corporate Responsibility that 1s cross referred from the Business Review section
of the Directors’ Report

In addion we report to you if, in our opinien, the company has not kept proper accountng records, If we have not receved all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or If information specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the
Combined Code (2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report If it does not
We are not required te consider whether the board's statements on internal control cover all nsks and controls, or form an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it 1s consistent with the audsted financial
statements The other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the upaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report,
the Financial Highlights, Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive's Statement, the Business Overview, Operating Review, Financial
Review, Corporate Responsibility, Corporate Governance Statement, Consolidated Five Year Summary and alf other information as
referenced by the contents page of the Annual Report We consider the implications for our report If we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements Qur responsibilities do not extend to any other
information

Basls of audit opinlon

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices
Board An audnt includes examumnation, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures i the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments made by the directors In the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the group's and company’s circumstances, cansistently applied and adequately disclosed
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independent auditors’ report to the members of
Shanks Group plc

continued

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the infarmation and explanations which we considered necessary In order
to provide us with suffictent evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other sregulanty or error in
forming our opinion we afso evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited

Opinion
In our opiion
+ the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adepted by the European Union, of the state of

the group's and the parent company's affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of the group's and parent company’s profits and cash
flows for the year then ended,

+ the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group finanaial statements, Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation, and

+ the nf 1on given in the Directors’ Report 15 consistent with the financial statements

nooukﬂﬂzak—lc@doé' W .

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London

29 May 2008
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consolidated income statement

year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007

Note £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 5637 5085
Cost of sales (458.5) {412 9)
Gross profit 105 2 956
Administrative expenses before exceptional items (51 8) {49 4)
Exceptional profit on disposal of properties 1.9 -
Total admimstrative expenses {49 9) 149 4)
Operating profit 23 553 46 2
Finance charges
Interest payable (23 8) (18 2)
Interest recewvable 127 112
Change n fair value of interest rate swaps 29 69
Total finance charges 6 (14 0) {01)
Profit before tax 2 41.3 461
Tax 7 (13.0) {14 8)
Profit for the year 283 313
Dividend per share 8 6.2p 59
Earnings per share
— basic 9 12.0p 13 3p
- diluted 9 12.0p 13 3p

consolidated statement of recognised income and expense

year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007
Note £m £m

Exchange gain {loss) on translation of foreign operations 24 28.1 {39}
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes 22 16.0 05

431 {(34)
Deferred tax in respect of defined benefit pension schemes (47T {01)
Net Income {expense) recognised directly In equity 39.4 {35)
Profit for the year 28.3 313
Total recognised income and expense for the year 24 677 278
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consolidated balance sheet

at 31 March 2008

At

M

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
Note £m £m
Nan-current assets
Intangible assets 10 273.7 198 3
Property, plant and eguipment 11 28758 2090
Cther investments and loans to joint ventures 12 16 18
Trade and other recewvables 17 1507 1419
Retirement benefit assets 22 9.4 -
Deferred tax assets 14 3.7 108
726 6 561 8
Current assets
lnventories 15 77 54
Trade and other receivables 17 152.8 1194
Current tax recetvable 14 21
Cash and cash equivalents 18 532 427
2151 1696
Total assets 9417 731 4
Current llablilties
Borrowings 19 (81) (28 9)
Trade and other payables 20 (175 5) {127 3)
Current tax payable (16.2) {13 4)
Provisions 21 (4.1) {6 3)
{203 9) (175 9}
Non-current Habilitles
Borrowings 19 (371 8) (271 2)
Other non-current liabilies 20 (18.5) {2 3)
Deferred tax liabilities 14 (39 1) (27 4)
Provisions 21 (28.3) {22 5)
Retirement benefit obligations 22 - (8 4)
{457 7) (331 8}
Total Habilities (661.6) (507 7)
Net assets 280.1 2237
Equity
Share caprtal 23 237 235
Share premium 24 974 940
Exchange reserve 24 29.2 11
Retained earnings 24 1298 1051
Total equity 24 2801 2237

The Financial Statements on pages 43 to 84 were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed for issue on 29 May

2008
They were signed on I1ts behalf by

A

A Auer Welham
Charman p Finance Director
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consolidated cash flow statement

year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007
Note £m £m

Net cash from operating activitles 25 871 713

Investing activities

Purchases of intangible assets {0 5) (11)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment {(47.7) (39 3)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment 5.3 27

Financial asset capital advances (17 1) (30 9)
Financial asset capital repayments 88 14

Acquisitions of subsidiary and other businesses {47.5) (65 3)
Inceme received from other investments 04 11

Net cash used In investing activitles (98 3) {131 4)
Financing activitles

Interest paid (21 1) (17 1}
Interest received 106 112

Proceeds from issue of shares 23 03

Dmdends paid (14 3) (13 4)
Increase in borrowings 38.5 646

Increase in obligations under finance leases 38 09

Repayments of obligations under finance leases 27} {30}
Net cash flow from financing activities 171 435

Net Increase (decrease) In cash and cash equivalents 59 {16 6)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4.6 {01)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 427 594

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 532 427
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company income statement

year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007
Note £m Em
Continuing operations
Admunistrative expenses (3.4) (2.3)
Administrative expenses — exceptional 3 (137 0) -
Total administrative expenses (140 4) (2 3)
Other operating expense — exchange (A7 7) (13)
Operating loss 23 {158 1) {3 6)
Income from shares n subsidiary undertakings 187.5 -
Finance charges
Interest payable {19 8) {10 2}
Interest recevable 6.1 25
Total finance charges 6 (13 7) {(77)
Profit (loss) before tax 157 {11 3)
Tax credit 7 69 46
Profit (loss) for the year 22.6 6 7)
company statement of recognised income and expense
year ended 31 March 2008
2008 2007
Note £m £m
Actuarial gain on defined benefit penston schemes 22 16.0 05
Deferred tax in respect of the above an {0 1)
Net income recognised directly in equity 11.3 04
Profit (loss) for the year 226 &7
Total recognised Income and expense for the year 24 339 (6 3)
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company balance sheet

at 31 March 2008

At

At

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 02 02
investments in subsidiary undertakings 12 4696 3798
Retirement benefit assets 22 94 -
Deferred tax assets 14 - 48
479.2 3848
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 17 184.0 248
Current tax recenvable 81 45
Cash and cash equivalents 18 376 386
2297 67 9
Total assets 708 9 452 7
Current llabilities
Borrowings 19 - {10)
Trade and other payables 20 {3 5} 4 8)
Provisions 21 (3.1) (39
{6 6) 97)
Non-current llabllitles
Borrowings 19 {128 5) {80 3)
Other non-current habilities 20 (376 3) (181 G}
Deferred tax habilities 14 (1€} -
Retirement benefit obligations 22 - 84)
(506 4) (269 7)
Total liabilities (513 0) (279 4}
Net assets 1959 1733
Equity
Share capital 23 237 235
Share premium 24 1214 1180
Retained earnings 24 50.8 318
Total equity 24 1959 1733

The Financial Statements on pages 46 to 84 were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed for Issue on
29 May 2008
They were signed on its behalf by

Mo D0

A Auer N Welham
Chairman up Finance Director
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company cash flow statement

year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007
£m £m
Net cash from operating activities
QOperating loss (158 1} (3 6)
Net imcrease (decrease) in provisions 1308 27)
Exchange loss 1T 7 13
Share-based payments 0.8 06
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (8 8) (4 4)
(Increase) decrease i recewables {159 2} 34
Increase in payables 1005 413
Cash generated by operations {67 5) 403
Income taxes received 48 09
Net cash from operating actlvities (62.M 412
Investing activities
Dwidend received 57.8 -
Net cash from investing activitles 578 -
Financing activitles
Interest paid (18 9) 98
Interest received 6.1 25
Proceeds from 1ssue of shares 23 03
Dmdends paid (14 3) (13 4}
Increase (repayment) of borrowings 287 (22 4)
Net cash flow from financing actlvities 39 (42 B)
Net decrease In cash and cash equivalents (10) (1 6)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 386 40 2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year a7.6 386
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notes to the financial statements |

1  Accounting policies — Group and Company
General Information
Shanks Group plc 1s a public hmited company incorporated and domciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act
1985

Basls of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reparting Standards {IFRS) as required by
Article 4 of the European Union IAS Regulation and with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS The financial statements are prepared on the historicat cost basis, except for derivative financial
instruments, which are stated at far value The policies set out below have been consistently applied The Group has applied
all accounting standards and interpretations 1ssued relevant o its operations and effective for accounting perods beginring on
1 April 2007

During the year, the Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures and the related amendment to 1AS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements which are required to be implemented from 1 Apnt 2007 Other than increased disclosure
concerning financial instruments and management of capital, IFRS 7 has not had an impact on reported profits or net assets

During the year, the Group has early adopted IFRS 8 Operating Segments in order to facilitate a greater understanding and
improve the transparency of the Group's reported results Accordingly, the Group has restated its segmental information in
note 2 There has been no impact on reported profits or net assets

In July 2007 IFRIC 14 The Limit on Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Reguirements and their Interaction was issued It
Iimits the recognition of a defined benefit asset when mimmum funding requirements exist within a retirement benefit plan
IFRIC 14 was implemented by the Group from 1 April 2007 and this has had no impact on reporied profits or het assets :

Other accounting standards and interpretations in 1ssue at the date of approval of these financial statements but not yet
effective are not expected to have a matenal tmpact on the financial statements

The preparation of financial statements (n accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and |
assumptions that affect the apphcation of policies and reported amounts of assets and habilibes, income and expenses |
Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results

ultimately may differ from those estimates The most significant Judgements made relate to assumptions concermning discount

rates, future returns on assets and future contnbution rates in connection with the Group's retirement benefit schemes (see

note 22) In making these assumptions, the Group takes advice from quahfied actuanes Other significant judgements made

retate to provisions and PFl contracts (see below)

Basis of consolldation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Shanks Group plc and all its subsidiary
undertakings (subsidiaries) Entities which are jointly controlled with another party or parties (jont ventures) are incorporated in
the financial statements by proportional consolidation The results of subsidiaries and Joint ventures acquired or sold dunng
the year are Included In the consolidated financial statements up to, or from, the date contro! passes Wholly owned subsidiary
companies set up under PFl contracts are fully consolidated by the Group

PFl contracts

The Group’s PFI contracts are all \ntegrated Waste Management contracts In these contracts, the existing Local Authority
waste management services are operated by the Group from tnception of the contract The PFI contract requires the bullding of
new infrastructure to add to that inherited from the previous service provider and all nights to the infrastructure pass to the
Local Authority at the termination or expiry of the contract The payments made to contractors for the construction of the
nfrastructure are accounted for as financial assets The Group accounts for the service element as revenue and the repayment
element 1s deducted from the financial asset Interest receivable I1s added to the financial asset based on the rate impfied in
the contract payments Reviews are undertaken regularly to ensure that the financial asset will be recovered over the contract
Iife

Borrowing costs relating to contract specific external borrowings are expensed in the income statement
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notes to the financial statements

continued

1 Accounting policles continued
Bid costs are expensed in the income statement until the Group 15 appointed preferred bidder and there I1s a high probability
that a contract wil be awarded Bid costs incurred after this point are capitaised within trade and other recevables When the
contract 1s awarded, the costs are included in the relevant financial asset

Revenue
Revenue represents the invoiced value of waste streams processed and other services provided including landful tax but
excluding sales taxes Revenue Is recognised when processing occurs or when the service I1s provided

Exceptional ttems

ltemns are classified as exceptional and disclosed separately due to their size or incidence to enable a better understanding of
performance These Include but are not imited to the change in fair value of financial instruments and the profit or loss on
disposals of properties

Share-based payments

IFRS 2 Share-based Payments has been applied to grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 which had not vested
as of 1 April 2005 The fair value of options granted 1s expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting perod, based on the
Group’s estimate of shares that wilf eventually vest Adjustments to the amounts expensed are only made n respect of non-
market related factors

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation 1s @ component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major ling of business
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the critena to be classified as
held for sale, if earler

Intangible assets

{1y Goodwilt
Goodwill anses when the cost of acquinng subsidiaries and businesses exceeds the fair value attributed to the net assets
acquired Capitalised goodwill is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis Any impairment 15 charged immediately to
the income statement and 1s not subsequently reversed

Goodwill anising on acquisitions prior to the date of transition to IFRS (31 March 2004) has been retained at the previous
UK GAAP net book value following impairment tests Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not
been reinstated

The profit or loss on disposal or closure of a business 1S calculated after taking into account any goodwill excluding
amounts previously written off to reserves prior to 1898

(1) Landfill void
When landfill operations are acquired, tandfill void 1s capitalised based on the farr value of the void acquired and s
amortised over its estimated useful life on a void usage basis

{m) Other intangbles
Other Intangible assets are capitalised on the basis of the fair value of the assets acquired or on the basis of costs
incurred to purchase and bnng the assets into use These are amortised over the estimated useful Iife on a straight hine
basis as follows

Computer software 1 to 5 years
Waste permits 5 to 20 years
Other 5 to 10 years
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1  Accounting policles continued
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment except for freehold land 1s stated at cost less depreciation and provision for any Impatrment
Freehold land 1s not depreciated

(v Buildings, plant and machinery
Depreciation 1s provided on these assets 10 write off thelr cost by equal annual instalments over the expected useful
economic lives The expected useful hfe of bulldings 1s 25 to 50 years Plant and machinery lives are

Computer equipment 1 to 5 years

Mobile plant 5 years

Generation eguipment 8 to 15 years

Heavy goods vehicles 5 to 10 years |
Other items 3 1o 20 years

(W) Llandfil! sites
Site development costs including engineering works and the discounted cost of final site restoration are capitalised These
costs are written off over the operational life of each site based on the amount of void space consumed

Impalrment of assets

Assets other than goodwill are reviewed for impairment whenever events or ctrcumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 15 estimated 1n order to determine the extent of
any impairment loss The recoverable amount 1s the higher of farr value less costs to sell and value in use In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value If the recoverable amount I1s estimated to be
less than the carrying amount the asset 1s reduced to the recoverable amount An impairment loss 1s recognised immediately
as an operating expense

Leased assets

{1y Finance leases |
Where the Group has substantially all the rnisks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset, the lease 15 treated as a |
finance lease Leased assets are included In property, plant and equipment at the total of the capital elements of the |
payments during the lease term and the corresponding obligation 15 included in payables Depreciation I1s provided to write
off the assets over the expected useful [ife

() Operating leases
All leases other than finance leases are treated as operating leases Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to
the Income statement in the year to which they relate The obligation to pay future rentals on operating leases I1s shown In
note 27 to the accounts

Inventorles
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value and are measured on a first in first out basis

Govemment grants and subsldies
Capital related government grants are released to the iIncome statement evenly over the expected useful hves of the assets to
which they relate Revenue grants and subsidies are credited in the same penod as the items to which they relate

Unprocessed waste
The accrual or deferred income relating to unprocessed waste is calculated at the higher of sales value or processing cost

Site restoratlon provision

Full provision I1s made for the net present value (NPV) of the Group's unavoidable costs in relation to restoration habiities at ds
landfill sites and this value I1s capitalised and amortised over the useful life of the site In addition the Group continues to
provide for the NPV of intermediate restoration costs over the ltfe of its landfill sites and mineral extraction sites, based on the
quantity of waste deposited or mineral extracted in the year
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notes to the financial statements

continued

1 Accounting policles continued
Aftercare provision
Prowiston 1s made for the NPV of post closure costs at the Group's landfill sites based on the quantity of waste deposited in
the year Similar costs incurred dunng the operating life of the sites are written off directly to the income statement and not
charged to the provision

Discounting

All long term provisions for restoration, aftercare and onerous leases are calculated based on the NPV of estimated future
costs The effects of inftation and unwinding of the discount element on existing provisions are reflected within the financial
statements as a finance charge The real discount factor currently applied 1s 2%

Retirement benefits

The Group accounts for pensions and simiar benefits under the amended IAS19 Employee Benefits For defined benefit plans,
obhgations are measured at discounted present value whilst plan assets are recorded at market value The operating and
financing costs of the plans are recognised separately in the income staterent and actuanal gains and losses are recognised
in full through the statement of recognised income and expense Surpluses on defined benefit plans are recogmsed only to the
extent that they are recoverable Movements In irecoverable surpluses are recognised immediately in the statement of
recognised Income and expense

Payments to defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement as they become due The Group participates
in several multremployer schemes in the Netherlands These are accounted for as defined contribution plans as it 1s not
possible to spiit the assets and habiliies of the schemes between participating companies, and the Group has been informed
by the schemes that it has no obhigation to make additional contnbutions in the event that the schemes have an overall deficit

Tax

(1} Current tax
Current tax payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from profit before tax m the income
statement because It excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible i other years or that are never
taxable or deductible The habiity for current tax s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted, or substantially
enacted, by the balance sheet date

() Deferred tax
Deferred tax 1s recognised in fuli where the carrying value of assets and liabdities in the financtal statements Is different
1o the corresponding tax bases used In the computation of taxable profits Deferred tax habilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
taxable profits will be avallable agamst which deductible temporary differences can be utiised Deferred tax is calculated
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability 1s settled or the asset is reaised Deferred tax
1s charged or credited In the Income statement, except where it relates to items charged or ¢redited through the statement
of recognised income and expense of directly to reserves, when it I1s charged or credited there

Forelgn currencles

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated into sterhing at the year end exchange rate
Transactions and the results of overseas subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures in foreign currencies are translated at the
average rate of exchange for the year and the resulting exchange differences are recognised in the Group’s exchange reserve
Cumulative exchange differences are recognised In the income statement in the year in which an overseas subsidiary
undertaking 1s disposed of The Group apples the hedge accounting principles of 1AS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition
and Measurement relating to net investment hedging to offset the exchange differences ansing on foreign currency
denominated borrowings with the translation of foreign operations Net investment hedges are accounted for by recognising
exchange rate movements in the exchange reserve, with any hedge ineffectiveness being charged to the income statement in
the penod the ineffectiveness arises
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1 Accounting policies continued
Financlal instruments

0]

(i

(n

()

v

(vi}

Trade receivables
Trade recewables do not carry interest and are stated at thew nominai value reduced by appropnate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts

Financial assets relating to PF1 contracts
Financial assets relating to PFl contracts are classified as loans and receivables and are initially recegnised at the fair
value of the consideration paid and subsequently amortised using the effective interest rate method

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivatents comprise cash balances and call deposis with @ matunty of three months or less

External borrowings

Interest beanng bank loans are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue costs Finance charges, including
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct 1ssue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis to the
Income statement using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrylng amount of the borrowings to the
extent that they are not settled in the penod in which they anse

Trade payables
Trade payables on normal terms are not interest bearing and are stated at thewr nominal value

Dervative financial instruments

As part of the Group's PFl contracts, the Group has a number of interest rate swaps These swaps are measured at fair
value at each reporting date with the gains or losses between perod ends being taken to finance charges in the income
statement

{vii) Other recevables and other payables

Other recewvables and other payables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method

pDividends
Dividends are accounted for on a cash basis and are not accrued In the balance sheet

Segmental reporting
The Group's orgamisational structure reflects the national nature of markets in which 1t operates, with divisions in the
Netherlands, Belgium, the United Kingdom and Canada
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2 Segmental reporting
The Group operates In the Netherlands, Belgium, the United Kingdom and Canada As discussed in the Business Overview on

pages 7 to 11 the waste markets are different in each member state of the European Union As a result, the Group 1s
crganised and managed mainly by geographical location Each geographical location can be analysed according to the following
types of activity

Solid Waste Non-hazardous soltd waste collections, transfer and recycling
Landfill and Power Landfill cisposal {including contaminated soils) and power generation from tandfill gas
Hazardous Waste Industnal cleaning, hazardous waste transport, treatment {(including contaminated soils) and disposal

and contaminated land remediation

Organic Treatment Anaerobic digestion and tunnel composting of source segregated organic waste streams
PFI Contracts Long term United Kingdom mumictpal waste treatment contracts
Sand Quarry Mineral extraction

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in note 1, except that pension expense
for the United Kingdom 1s recognised and measured on the basis of cash payments to the penston plan The profit measure
the Group uses to evaluate performance 1s trading profit Trading profit I1s operating profit before the amortisation of acquisition
intangibles excluding landfill void and computer software and exceptional items The Group accounts for inter segment trading
on an arm’s length basis The nformation for the 2007 comparatives has been restated m the new format

2008 2007

Revenue £m £m
Netherlands Solid Waste 189.5 1691
Hazardous Waste 100 6 858

Organic Treatment 72 -

Intra-segment revenue (2 6) {1 8}

294 7 253 0

Belgium Solid Waste 772 709
Landfill and Power 180 209

Hazardous Waste 40.9 43 8

Sand Quarry 22 25

Intra-segment revenue {13.2) {14 5)

125.1 1236

United Kingdom Solid Waste 751 696
Landfill and Power 152 135

Hazardous Waste 10.9 01

PF1 Contracts 432 400

Intra segment revenue - -

144 4 1332

Canada Organtc Treatment 14 -
Inter segment revenue (19) (13}
Tota! revenue 5637 5085
Group 547 3 494 0
Share of joint ventures 16.4 145
Total revenue 663.7 5085
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2 Segmental reporting continugd

2008 2007
Profit before tax £m £m
Trading Profit*

Netherlands Solid Waste 30.0 266
Hazardous Waste 95 84

Organic Treatment 1.6 -

Country Central Services (2 4) (30)

37.7 320

Belgum Solid Waste 7.4 58
Landfill and Power 83 111

Hazardous Waste 33 34

Sand Quarry 8.7 08

Country Central Services (3 5) {3 8)

16 2 173

United Kingdom Solid Waste 64 46
Landfill and Power 50 38

Hazardous Waste 17 12

PFi Contracts 0.4 02
PFl Bid Team (09) {(11)

Country Central Services (87 (5 4)

69 33

Canada Organic Treatment 0.1 -
Group Central Services (5.0) (5 3)
Total trading profit 55.9 47 3
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (2.5} {11)
Exceptional profit on disposal of properties 19 -
{0 6) 11

Total operating profit 553 46 2
Group 801 422
Share of joint ventures 52 40
Total operating profit 5563 46 2
Finance charges Interest payable (23 8) (18 2)
Interest recevable 12.7 112

Change n far value of interest rate swaps (2 9) 69
Total finance charges {14 0) (01)
Profit before tax 41.3 46 1

* Tradmg profit 15 operating profit before amortisation of acquisition intangibles excluding landfill void and computer software
and exceptional tems

The Company operates solely in the United Kingdom praviding Central Services

shanks annual report 2008 55



PR

notes to the financial statements

continued

2 Segmental reporting continued

2008 2007

Net assets £m £m
Netherlands Gross noncurrent assets 451 3 3291
Gross current assets 78.8 54 ¢

Gross liabilities (117 6) (67 3)

412.5 3167

Belgium Gross non-current assets 55.0 419
Gross current assets 375 324

Gross liabilities (62 6) (47 7)

29.9 266

Umted Kingdom Gross non-current assets 199.8 1796
Gross current assets 435 370

Gross habtlities (37.0) (34 5)

206 3 1821

Canada Gross non-current assets 7.2 -
Gross current assets 04 -

Gross habilities (0 5) -

71 -

Group Central Services  Gross non-current assets 96 04
Gross current assets 03 05

Gross ltabtties (87 (17 3)

1.2 (16 4)

Total Gross non-current assets 7229 551 0
Gross current assets 1605 124 8

Gross liabilities (226.4) (166 8)

Net operating assets 6570 5090
Current tax (14.8) {11 3)
Deferred tax (35.4) (16 6)
Net debt (326.7) (257 4)
Net assets 2801 2237
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Segmental reporting continued

2008 2007
Other disclosures £m £m
Netherlands Capital expenditure 318 261
Depreciation 23.2 203
Amortisation of intangibles 35 23
Belgium Capital expenditure 118 71
Depreciation 71 63
Ameortisation of intangibles - -
United Kingdom Caprtal expenditure 56 30
Depreciation 38 34
Amortisation of intangibles 04 -
Canada Capital expenditure 21 -
Depreciation 02 -
Amortisation of intangibles o1 -
Total Capital expenditure 51.3 36 2
Depreciation 343 300
Amortisation of intangibles a0 23
Profit for the year
Profit for the year 1s stated after charging {crediting)
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Staff costs (see note 4} 1316 1187 25 23
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
— Owned assets 321 279 - -
- Held under finance leases 22 21 - -
Amortisatton of intangible assets (charged to cost of sales) 40 23 - -
Reparrs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment 316 284 - -
Net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 31 {(10) - -
Imparment of Investment i subsidiary undertakings {note 12} - - 133 4 -
Make-whole payment relating to amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 3.6 -
Trade recewvables impairment 0.8 08 - -
Government grants (01) {0 1) - -
COperating lease costs
- Minimum lease payments 153 121 01 01
- Less sublease rental income {0.2) (02} - -
15.1 119 0.1 o1
Represented by
- Operating lease rentals — Land and buildings 49 32 01 o1
~ Operating lease rentals — Plant and machinery 10.2 87 - -
151 119 0.1 01
Audrtors’ remuneration
— Audit of parent company and consolidated accounts o1 01 o1 01
— Audit of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.4 03 o1 01
- Tax services 0.5 06 05 06
Total payments to auditors 10 10 0.7 o8

At 31 March 2008 the amount due to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for fees not yet invoiced was £0 1m
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4 Employees

2008 2007
Number Number

The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year was as follows
Netheriands 2,161 1,974
Belgium 1,031 1,019
United Kingdom 914 828
Canada 5 -
Group Central Services 14 15
4,125 3,836
2008 2007
£m £m

The tota! remuneration of all employees comprnsed

Wages and salanes costs 105.7 950
Employer's social secunty costs 18.2 171
Employer's pension costs (see note 22) 7.7 66
1316 1187

The disclosure above relates to the Group The average number of persons employed by the Company was 14 (2007 15), with
the related wages and salanes costs, employer’s social security costs and employer's pension costs amounting to £1 8m

(2007 £1 6m), £0 3m (2007 £0 4m}) and £0 4m (2007 £0 3m) respectively
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5 Share-based payments
Group and Company
As described 1n the Remuneration Report, the Group i1ssues equity-settled share-based payments under a Savings Related

Share Option Scheme {SRS0S), an Executive Share Option Scheme {ESOS) and a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for key

executives
Outstanding options
SRSOS ES0S LTIP
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Options price Options price Options
Number pence Number pence Number
Outstanding at 31 March 2006 929,938 103p 3,655,000 154p 1,716,000
Granted during the year 124,507 151p - - 682,500
Forferted dunng the year {42,4786) 114p - - -
Expired dunng the year (82,742) 104p (1,423,000) 155p {666,000)
Exercised dunng the year (188,385) 116p (117,000) 129p -
Outstanding at 31 March 2007 740,842 107p 2,015,000 155p 1,732,500
Granted dunng the year 104,630 186p - - 751,400
Forfetted dunng the year {43,995} 131p - - -
Expired dunng the year {17,493) 130p (125,000) 141p {7,725)
Exercised dunng the year {100,523) 111p {1,390,000) 161p (507,275)
Outstanding at 31 March 2008 683,461 117p 500,000 141p 1,968,900
Exercisable at 31 March 2008 17,557 116p 55,000 115p
Exercisable at 31 March 2007 9,574 145p 1,005,000* 178p
*Subject to performance conditions
At 31 March 2008
Range of price per share 24p to 186p 113p to 144p
Weighted average remamning contractual life 3 years 3 years 2 years
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5 Share-based payments continued

Falr value of options granted during the year

5RS0S LTIP
2008 2007 2008 2007

Black Black
Valuation model Scholes Scholes Binomial Binomial
Weighted average fair value 66p 47p 147p a6p
Weighted average share price 233p 177p 265p 170p
Weighted average exercise price 186p 151p - -
Expected volatility 31% 33% 33% 33%
Expected life 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Risk free interest rate 51% 4 7% 56% 4 7%
Dividend yield 4 0% 4 0% - -
Expected dividends - - 20p/40p 19p/38p
Correlation - - 21% 14%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the histoncal volatility of the Cormpany's share price over 3, 5 and 7 years
prior to the date of grant The risk free interest rate 15 based on the term structure of UK Government zero coupon bonds The
expected life used In the models has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-

transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations

Charge for the year

The Group and the Company recogrised total expenses of £0 8m (2007 £0 6m) relating to equity settled share-based

payments

Finance charges

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Interest payable’

Interest payable on borrowings wholly repayable within five years 12.8 a3 50 45
Interest payable on other horrowings 81 76 139 53
Share of interest of joint ventures 03 01 - -
Unwinding of discount on long term landfill liabihties 08 o7 - -
Unwinding of discount on deferred consideration 09 o1 - -
Amortisation of bank fees 09 04 0.9 04
Total interest payable 238 18 2 19.8 102

Interest recelvable
interest receivable (3.8) {34) (6.1) {2 5)
Interest recevable on financial assets relating to PFI contracts (8.9} (7 8) - -
Total interest recewvable 12 7) {11 2) {6.1) {2 b)
Change In fair value of PFl interest rate swaps 29 69 - -
Net finanee charges 14.0 01 13.7 77
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7 Tax
The tax charge {credit) based on the profit {loss) for the year 1s made up as follows

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Current tax UK corporation tax at 30% (2007 30%)
- Current year 5.5 52 (7.0} {4 5}
- Pnior year (1 6) {04) (1.4} {15)
Double tax rehef (29) (20) - -
Overseas tax
- Current year 108 80 - -
~ Prior year {2.1) 10 - -
Total current tax 97 118 (8 4) (6 0)
Deferred tax {see note 14}
— Current year 2.7 21 156 14
- Pnior year 06 09 - -
Total deferred tax 33 30 15 14
Total tax charge {credit) for the year 130 148 {6.9) (4 6)

The tax assessed for the year 1s higher than the United Kingdom standard rate of tax of 30% (2007 30%) The differences are
explained below

Group Campany

2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Total profit {loss) before tax 41.3 46 1 157 (11 3)

Tax charge {credit} based on UK tax rate 12.4 138 47 (3 4)
Effects of

Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior periods {(31) 15 (14) (15}

Profits taxed at overseas tax rates o1 05 - -

Non-taxable 1tems {15) o1 (121) (01)

Unrecognised tax losses 29 04 1.9 04

Other 22 (1 5) - -

Total tax charge (credit} for the year 13.0 148 (6.9) (4 8)

For both the Group and the Company, 1n addition to the amount charged to the income statement, deferred tax relating to
retirement benefit obhigations and share-based payments amounting to £4 9m (2007 £0 3m) has been credited directly to

equity

As a result of changes announced In the 2007 Budget, UK corporation tax will reduce from 30% to 28% effective from April
2008 and the deferred tax impact of this has been included above There will also be a phased withdrawal of industnal
bulldings allowances over a period of 4 years and a reduction in general pool writing down allowances from 25% to 20% which
will be enacted in the Finance Act 2008 [t 1s estimated that this will result in a £25m excephional tax charge in the year
ending 31 March 2009 This principally relates to the non discounted value of tax relief that would have been available on the
PFI infrastructure towards the end of the 25 year PFl contracts
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8 Dividends
Group and Company
2008 2007
£m £m
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year
Final dividend paid for the vear ended 31 March 2007 of 4 Op per share (2006 3 8p) 95 89
Intenm dividend paid for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 2 Op per share (2007 19p) 48 45
143 i34
Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 4 2p per share (2007 4 Op} 99 a4
9 Earnings per share
Group
2008 2007
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 2362 234 8
Effect of share options in 1ssue 0.5 o8
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earmings per share 2367 2356
Calculation of basic and adjusted basic earnings per share
Earmngs for basic earnings per share being profit for the year (£m) 283 313
Change In fair value of Interest rate swaps (net of tax) (£m) 2.1 {4 B)
Amocrtisation of acquisition intangibles (net of tax) (£Em}) 19 09
Exceptional profit on disposal of properties {net of tax) (£m) (1.9) -
Eamings for adjusted basic earmings per share (£m) 304 274
Baslc eamnings per share (pence) 12 Op 13 3p
Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence) (see note below) 12 9p 11 7p

Calculation of diluted earings per share
Earnings for basic eamings per share being profit for the year (£m) 283 313
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares {£m) - -

Earnings for diluted earnings per share (£m) 283 313

Diluted earrings per share {pence) 12 Op 13 3p

The Directors believe that adjusting earnings per share for the effect of the amortisation of acquisition intangibles excluding
landfill void and computer software and exceptional items enables comparison with historical data calculated on the same
basts Adjusting for amortisation of acquisition intangibles brings the Group’s adjusted measure Into line with general practice
Exceptional items are those items that need to be disclosed separately on the face of the income statement because of their
size or mcidence Changes In fair values of interest rate swaps that the Group is required to enter into In relation to 1its PFI
arrangements are considered to be exceptional items
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10 Intanglble assets

Goodwill  Landfill void Other Total
Group £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2006 1425 - 52 1477
On acquisition of businesses 316 203 73 592
Additions - - 11 11
Disposals - - (0 3) (03)
Exchange {4 0) - (01} {4 1)
At 31 March 2007 1701 203 132 2036
On acquisition of businesses 249 - 17 4 42 3
Additions - - 04 oy}
Exchange 308 36 35 379
At 31 March 2008 2258 239 34.5 284 2
Accumulated Impairment/amortisation
At 31 March 2006 - - 33 33
Amaortisation charge for the year - 12 11 23
Disposals - - (03) (0 3)
At 31 March 2007 - 12 41 53
Amortisation charge for the year - 11 29 40
Exchange - 03 09 12
At 31 March 2008 - 26 1.9 10.5
Net book value
At 31 March 2008 2258 21.3 266 273.7
At 31 March 2007 170 1 191 91 198 3
At 31 March 2006 1425 - 19 144 4

Of the total goodwill of £225 8m (2007 £170 im}, £200 5m (2007 £148 9m) relates to the Netherlands

Goodwill Impalrment

Impairment testing Is carmed out at segment level on an annual basis The Group estimates the recoverable amount of goodwill
using projected cashflows for the next twenty years discounted at the Group's estimated average cost of capital (9% after tax)
The cash flows are based on projections prepared by management covenng & five-year penod, and include no growth
assumptions after the end of the current five-year plan The projections also assume that the current five-year plan 1s achieved
The calculations use effective tax rates specific to each separate segment

Other Intangible assets impairment

Other intangible assets includes site or waste permits, customer lists and other acquired intangible assets as well as
computer software Dunng the year there has been no indication of any impairment Accordingly, no impairment review has
been carried out
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Land and Landfiil Plant and

bulldings sites machinery Total
Group £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2006 104 4 42 9 2997 447 0
On acquisition of businesses 16 8 25 66 259
Additions 57 16 289 362
Disposals (07) {01) (24 9) (25 7)
Reclassification 48) 23 o7 (1 8)
Exchange (27) (08 (73) {10 8)
At 31 March 2007 1187 48 4 3037 470 8
On acquisition of businesses 209 - 70 279
Addions a5 29 389 513
Disposals {1 4} (0 1) {9 6) (11 1}
Exchange 322 55 525 20 2
At 31 March 2008 1799 56 7 3925 629.1
Accumulated depreclation
At 31 March 2006 284 308 204 2 2634
Depreciation charge for the year 66 39 195 300
Disposals 07) (0 1) {23 2) (24 O)
Rectassification 42) 23 o7 12)
Exchange {0 8) (0 8) (4 8) 64
At 31 March 2007 293 361 196 4 261 8
Degreciation charge for the year 59 15 269 343
Disposais {0 5) - (8 4) 89
Exchange 14 8 49 347 54 4
At 31 March 2008 495 425 2496 an.s
Net book value
At 31 March 2008 1304 142 1429 2875
At 31 March 2007 894 123 107 3 2090
At 31 March 2006 76 0 121 55 1836

Included i plant and machinery are assets held under finance leases with a net book value of £12 Om (2007 £10 3m)

Deprecialion expense of £33 4m {2007 £29 1m) has been charged in cost of sales, and £0 9m {2007 £0 9m} in
administrative expenses

Land and Plant and

buildings machinery Total
Company £m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2008, 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2006 01 0.5 06
Accumutated depreciation
At 31 March 2008, 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2006 - 04 a4
Net book value
At 31 March 2008 o1 01 02
At 31 March 2007 01 01 02
At 31 March 2006 01 o1 02
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12 Investments

Group Company

Loans Other Investments

to joint unlisted n subsidiary

ventures  Investments Total undertakmgs

£im £m £m £m

At 31 March 2006 06 23 29 3658
Additions - - - 273
Repayments or disposals {0 6} {0 5) (11} (13 8)
Provision movement - - - 05
At 31 March 2007 - 18 18 3798
Addtions - - - 2232
Repayments or disposals - (0 4) {04 -
Provision movement - Q2 02 {133 4)
At 31 March 2008 - 16 16 469 6

Details of subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures are shown on page 84 and form part of these financial statements

Duning the year the Company acquired Shanks Investments from other Group companies in exchange for intercompany loans
Following the acquisition and subseguent dvidend distnbution, an impairment provision of £134 6m was considered necessary

In relation to the Group's interest 1n Jjoint ventures, the assets, habiiities, ncome and expenses are shown below

2008 2007
£m £m
Noncurrent assets 13.7 121
Current assets 48 43
Current habiltties (81) 38
Non-current {iabilities (4 2) (4 3)
Net assets 92 83
Income 16 4 145
Expenses (11 5) {10 6)
Profit before tax 49 39
Tax (1.4) {12)
Share of profit after tax for the year from joint ventures 3.5 27

The joint ventures have no significant contingent liabibities to which the Group 13 exposed nor has the Group any significant
contingent hiatilities In refation to its interest in joint ventures

The share of capitai commitments of the joint ventures are shown in note 26
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13 Business comblnations

{a} On 13 Apni 2007 the Group entered into a contract to acquire 100% of the share capitai of Orgaworld B V 1n the Netherlands,
for an intial consideration of £7 3m and with deferred consideration payable over the next five years Orgaworld 1s involved In
the composting and anaerobic digestion of biodegradable waste The goodwill recogrised 15 attributable to Orgaworld's strong
market position and technological know-how From acquisition to 31 March 2008, Orgaworld has contributed £7 2m to revenue
and £0 4m to profit after tax The aggregate book value of the assets and habilittes acquired and the provisional fair value to

the Group, pending completion of the evaluation of the busmess, were as follows

Fayr Provisional
Boock value fair
value adjustment value
£m £m £m
Intangible assets - 67 67
Property, plant and equipment 139 10 14 9
Trade receivables o8 - a8
Current tax receivable 03 - 03
Cash o7 - o7
Trade payables (2 3) - {2 3)
Borrowings (12 6) - {12 6)
Deferred tax habilities {10) {19) (29
Provisions (01) - {01)
Net assets acquired (0 3) 58 55
Provistonal goodwill 146
201

Satisfied by
Cash consideration 73
Deferred consideration (incluching £10 6m which I1s condrtional) 125
Costs incurred 03
Total consideration 201

{b} On 12 December 2007 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Tammer Beheermaatschappy B V In the Nethertands,
for an mtial consideration of £5 6m Tammer is involved n industrial and commercial waste collection and recycling The
goodwill recogrised 1S attnbutable to synergles expected to anse post acquisition From acquisition to 31 March 2008, Tammer

has contributed £2 Om to revenue and £0 1m to profit after tax The aggregate book value of the assets and habilities

acquired and the provisional fair value to the Group, pending completion of the evaluation of the business, were as follows

Fair Provisional
Book vaiue fair
value adjstment value
£m £m Em

Intangible assets - 19 19

Property, plant and equipment 39 18 57

Trade recelvables and other recevables 17 - 17

Current tax recevable 01 - 01

Cash 04 - 04

Trade payables and other payables {12) - (12)
Borrowings (50} - (5 0)
Deferred tax habilities (0 5) 09 (14)
Met assets acquired {Q 6) 28 22

Provisional goodwiill 54

76

Satisfied by

Cash consideration 56

Deferred consideration 17

Costs incurred 03

Total consideration 76
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13 Business combinatlons — continued

{c) On 7 November 2007 the Group acquired 100% of the share caprtal of Wastecom Limited in the United Kingdom, for a
consideration of £6 4m Wastecom 1s a recycling and waste transfer business The goodwilt recognised 1s attributable to
expected long term synergy benefits from the amalgamation of operations From acquisition to 31 March 2008, Wastecom has
contnbuted £1 3m to revenue and reduced profit after tax by £0 1m The aggregate book value of the assets and hiabilities
acquired and the provisional fair value to the Group, pending completion of the evaluation of the business, were as follows

Fair Provisional

Book value fair
value adjustment value
£m £m £m
Intangible assets - 56 56
Property, plant and equipment 41 10 51
Trade recewvables and other recevables 06 (01) 05
Trade payables and other payables (03} - (03}
Borrowings (36) 11 47
Deferred tax liabilities - (14) 14)
Net assets acquired o8 40 48
Provistonal goodwit 16
64

Satisfied by
Cash consideration 64
Total consideration 64

{d) Dunng the period the Group completed the acquisition of five other tuck in businesses The goodwill recognised is attributable
10 synergy benefits through the amalgamation of the acquired businesses with existing businesses From acquisition 1o
31 March 2008, the businesses contributed £5 9m to revenue and £0 4m to profit after tax The agdregate book value of the
assets and habilittes acquwed and the provisional fair value to the Group, pending completion of the evaluation of the

businesses, were as follows
Fair Provisional

Book value faur
value adjustment value
£m £m £m
Intangible assets - 32 32
Property, plant and equipment 12 o1 13
Trade recevables and other recevables o7 - o7
Cash 02 - 02
Trade payables and other payables {1 1) 01 1m
Deferred tax habibities - {0 6) 08)
Net agsets acquired 10 28 38
Provistonal goodwill 30
68

Satisfied by
Cash consideration 65
Deferred consideration 03
Total consideration 68

{e} If all of the acquisitions had been completed on 1 April 2007 wnstead of the dates above, total Group revenue and Group profit
for the year would have been approximately £575 3m and £28 4m respectively on a pro forma basis The pro forma amounts
include the results of the acquired companies from the date of acquisition together with pre-acquisiion results from 1 Apnl
2007 to the acquisition date as adjusted for the effect of significant fair value adjustments The pro forma information 15
provided for comparative purposes only and does not necessanly reflect the actual results that would have occurred, nor is 1t
necessanly indicative of future results of operations of the combined companies and businesses

(f} For acquisitions completed in the year ended 31 March 2007 there have been ho amendments to the provisional fair values
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14 Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s provided 1n full on temporary differences under the hiability method using applicable local tax rates Deferred tax
assets and hlabilites are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there 15 an intention to settle the

halances net

Retrement Other
benefit Tax Interest Capital timing
schemes losses rate swaps allowances differences Jotal
Group £m £m £m £m Em £m
At 31 March 2006 65 63 22 (22 6) 51 (2 5)
Acquisitions - o7 - (8 9) {(31) {11 3}
{Charge) credit to income statement {186) 48 {20) 30 (7 2) (30)
Charge to equity {0 1) - - - {02) {0 3)
Exchange - - - a3 02 05
At 31 March 2007 48 118 02 {28 2) 52) (16 6)
Acquisitions - 01 - 61) (0 4) 64}
{Charge) credit to income statement 17 {21) 08 16 {19 (33)
Charge to equity 47N - - - - @an
Exchange - 05 - (3 1) (18) (44)
At 31 March 2008 {16} 10.3 10 (35 8) (9.3) (35 4)
Deferred tax assets (16) 24 10 (18) 3.7 a7
Deferred tax liabilitles - 7.9 - (34 0) (13.0) {391)
At 31 March 2008 (16) 103 1.0 (35 8) {9 3) {35.4)
Deferred tax assets 48 38 02 (13) 33 108
Deferred tax liabihties - 80 - (26 9) (8 5) (27 4)
At 31 March 2007 48 118 02 {28 2) 52) {16 6)

As at 31 March 2008, the Group has unused trading losses (tax effect) of £17 9m {2007 £20 4m) available for offset agamnst
future profits A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £10 3m (2007 £11 8m) of such losses No deferred tax

asset has been recognised In respect of the remaiming £7 6m {2007 £8 6m) due to the unpredictability of future profit

streams Tax losses may be carned forward indefinitely

No ability has been recognised on the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of
subsidianies because the Group 1s in a position to control the timing and method of the reversal of these differences and 1t 1s

probable that such differences will not give rise to a tax hability in the foreseeable future

Retirement Other

benefit timing
schemes differences Total
Company £m £m £m
At 31 March 2006 65 - 65
{Charge) credi to income statement {16) 02 {14}
Charge to equily (0 1) 02) (03}
At 31 March 2007 48 - 48
{Charge) credrt to iIncome statement (17) 02 (1 5)
Charge to equity (4 7) {0 2) (4 9)
At 31 March 2008 (1 6) - (1.6)

As at 31 March 2008, the Company has unused tax trading losses (tax effect) of £7 1m {2007 £6 2m} available for offset
agamnst future profits No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the losses due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams Tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely
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Inventores
Group
2008 2007
£m £m
Raw materials and consumables 6.6 52
Work n progress 05 -
Finished goods 06 02
1.7 54
Financlal Instruments
Carrying value and falr value of financial assets and financial liabilities
Group Company
Carrying value Carrying value
2008 2007 2008 2007
Financial assets Note £m £m £m £m
Loans and recelvables:
Financial assets relating to PFl contracts 17 158 7 1499 - -
Trade and other recewvables 17 144 8 1114 184 0 248
Cash and cash equivalents 18 532 427 376 386
a56 7 3040 221.6 634
The Group considers that the fair value of financtal assets 1s not matenatly different to their carrying value
Group Company
Carrying vatue Falr value Carrying value Fair value
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Financial liabilities Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Loans and payables.
Bank overdrafts and
short term loans 19 - 22 - 22 - 10 - 10
Bank loans 19 3252 2534 3252 253 4 116 0 697 116 0 697
Senror notes 19 411 350 42.0 359 125 106 126 108
Finance lease obligations 19 101 90 101 20 - - - -
Trade and other payables 20 194.0 129 6 194 0 1296 3798 1858 3798 1858
Perivative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps 19 35 05 35 05 - - - -
573.9 4297 574 8 4306 508 3 267 1 5084 267 3

The fair value of the senior notes 1s measured by discounting the future cash flows at the market interest rate set by swaps
with an equivalent interest pattern The fair value of interest swaps is measured by reference to the cost of forectesing the
swap position at the year end Norne of the change in fair value of interest rate swaps 15 attnbutable to changes in the Group’s

credit nsk

Risk management

The Group IS exposed to market risk (interest rate nisk and foreign exchange risk), iquidity nisk and credit nsk Group Treasury
ts charged with managing and controliing risk relating to the financing and lrquidity of the Group under policies approved by the
Board of Directors Group Treasury does not enter into speculative transactions
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16 Financial instruments continued
Interest rate risk
A substantial part of the Group's borrowings are at floating rates which exposes the Group to interest rate risk The Group’s
core borrowings are mainly at floating rates except for the serior notes which are at fixed rates The debt relating to PFl non
recourse borrowings 1s at floating rates and the Group has entered into interest rate swaps as a condition of the related debt
The interest rate swaps represent a hedge of the interest cash flows and although hedge accounting under IAS 39 would allow
changes In the fair value of interest rate swaps to be recognised directly in reserves, the Group believes that it 1s not worth
expending significant resources fulfilling the onerous documentation requirements of IAS 39 The Interest rate swaps are
therefore classified as held for trading In accordance with 1AS 39 The swaps are presented in non-current liabilities together
with the related long term borrowings since the Group beheves this best reflects the commerctal reality of the instruments

Changes in interest rates could have a significant impact on banking covenants relating to interest cover and on the interest
charge in the income statement The Group manages this risk by fixing the interest rates on a proportion of s total

borrowings The proportion of borrowings fixed at any one time 1s dependent on forecast interest rate cover

In order to measure the nsk, borrowings and the expected interest cost for the year are forecast on a quarterly basis ang
scenarios run using management's expectations of a reasonably possible change in Interest rates

Interest expense volatility remained within acceptable limits throughout the year The Group’s exposure to, and the way it
manages interest rate nsk has not changed from the previcus year

The weighted average effective interest rates at the balance sheet dates were as follows

2008 2007

Welghted Weighted

average average

Floating Fixed interest Floating Fixed Interest

rate rate rate rate rate ratg

Group £m £m % £m £m %

Financlal assets

Financial assets relating to PFl contracts - 158 7 56 - 1499 56

Cash and cash equivalents 343 - - 176 - -

Short term deposits 18.9 - 54 251 - 53
Financlal llabilitles-

Bank overdrafts and short term loans - - - 22 - 48

Senor notes - 411 69 - 350 69

Bank foans 3262 - 55 2534 - 51

interest rate swaps (123 8) 1238 53 (126 6} 126 6 53

Excluded from the analysis above 1s £10 1m (2007 £9 Om) of amounts payable under finance leases as set out in note 19,
which are subject to fixed rates of interest In addrition, trade and other receivables and payables have been excluded as they
are not interest bearing

The average term for short term deposits 1s no more than seven days
For the Company, the effective interest rate on short term deposits was 5 4% (2007 5 3%) with an average term of 1 day
{2007 30 days} The effective interest rate on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents was 5 0% (2007 nil) The weighted

average effective interest rates relating to the Company were nil (2007 4 8%) for Euro bank overdrafts, 6 9% (2007 6 9%) for
senlor notes and 5 4% (2007 4 7%) for bank loans
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16 Financlal instruments continued

Dernvative financial instruments — interest rate swaps

The notional pnncipal amount of the cutstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 March 2008 was £123 8m
(2007 £126 6m) The expiry dates of the contracts range from 16 April 2023 (earliest) to 31 March 2025 (latest}

Interest rate sensitivity {assuming all other variables remamn constant}

2008 2007
Income Erquity intome Equsty
sensitivity sensitivity sensitvity sensitivity
£m £m £m £m

1% Increase In interest rates
Dervatives 13 100 14 105
Non derivatives (2.5) {2 5) (19 {19)
(1.2) 75 (0 B) 86

1% decrease In interest rates
Denvatives (1.3) {11 2) {14) 11 7
Non derivatives 25 25 19 19
12 (8.7} 0% (2 8)

Forelgn exchange risk

The Group operates in Europe and Canada and i1s exposed to foreign exchange nsk for movements between the Euro, Canadian
Doltar and Sterling The majonty of the Group’s subsidianies conduct their business n their respective functional currencies,
therefore there 1s limited transaction risk Foreign exchange nsk arnses mainly from net investments in foreign operations This
exposure 1s reduced by funding the investments as far as possible with borrowings m the same currency The Group applies
hedge accounting pnnciples to net investments in foreign operations and the related borrowings Duning the year, the Group
acquired Orgaworld which has operations in Canada, exposing the Group to movements in the Canadian Dollar This foreign
investment 1s hedged through borrowings in Canadian Dollars

The Group has designated the carrying value of Euro borrowings of £113 5m (2007 £80 3m) (fair value of £113 6m

{2007 £80 5m)) as a net Investment hedge of the Group's investments denominated in Euros The hedge was 100% effective
(2007 100%) for the year ended 31 March 2008 and as a result the related exchange loss of £17 1m (2007 £2 6m gain) on
translation of the borrowings into Sterling has been recognised In the exchange reserve

Foresgn exchange rate sensitivity (assuming all other vanables remain constant)
The following table details how the Group's imcome and equity would increase If there were a 10% increase in the respective
currency against sterling A 10% decrease would have an equal and opposite effect

2008 2007

Incomea Equity Income Equity
sensitivity sensitlvity sensitivity sensitivity
£m £m £m £m

10% Increase In foreign exchange rates against sterling
Euro 34 82 33 70
Canadian dollar - - - -

34 82 33 70

Liquidity risk

Liquidity nsk 1s the nisk that the Group does nat have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due As
well as term borrowing under a syndicated loan facility, the Group mamtains uncommitted lending factities with a range of
banks for working capital purposes The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows 1o ensure that faciity
draw downs are arranged as necessary and an adequate level of headroom 1s mamtained The Group’s exposure to, and the
way it manages lguidity risk has not changed from the previous year
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16 Financlal Instruments continued
Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

Core PF1 companles Total Group

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Group £m £m £m £m £m Em
Expiring within one year - - - - - -
Expinng between one and two years - - - - - -
Expiring in more than two years 39.5 1001 18.1 321 57.9 1322
395 1001 181 321 579 1322

In addition, the Group had access to £27 3m (2007 £25 Om) of undrawn uncommitted working capital faclities

As at 21 March 2008, the Company had undrawn committed borrowing faciliies at floatng rates of £39 5m expiring In more
than two years (2007 £100 1m)

Maturity profile of non-current borrowings

Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

£m Em £m £m

Between one and two years 211 65 125 -
Between two years and five years 246 6 166 4 116.0 80 3
QOver five years 1041 983 - -
3718 2712 128.5 803

Security of borrowing facilities

The Group's principal bank loans are unsecured but are subject to cross guarantees within the Group, excluding the PFt
companies (see note 28) Each PFl company has loan facilities which are secured by fixed and floating charges on the future
cash flows of PFI contracts

Credit risk
Credit nisk 1s the nisk of financial loss where counterparties are not able to meet their obhgations

Surplus cash, when not used to repay borrowings, is placed on deposit with banks and money market funds In accordance with
a policy that specifies the mimimum acceptable credit rating and the maximum exposure to each counterparty At 31 March
2008 the amount of credit nsk totalled £63 2m (2007 £42 7m}

Credit nsk on derivatives where the fair value 1s positive 1s closely monitored to ensure that it remaing within the hmits set for
each counterparty At 31 March 2008 the credit nsk was £Nil (2007 £0 4m)

Trade and other recevables comprse mainly amounts due from customers for services performed Management consider that
the exposure to any single customer Is not significant and that where credit guality 1s in doubt, adequate provision has been
made for probable losses At 31 March 2008 the credit nisk amounted to £144 8m (2007 £111 4m) The Group does not
hold any collateral as security

The financial assets relating to PFI contracts are recoverable from the future revenues relating to the PF contracts
Management consider that as the counterparties for the future revenues are UK local authorities or councils, there 1s mimimal
credit nsk At 31 March 2008, the credit nsk was £158 7m (2007 £149 9m)

Capital risk management
The Group maintains a group funding strategy to ensure that the Group maintains an appropriate debt to equity ratic as well as
an appropriate debt matunty profile The strategy 1s based on the requirements of the Company’s Articles of Association, which

state that debt should be mited to three times the level of capital and reserves

The Group's funding strategy has not changed from the previous year
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Financial Instruments continued

The Group has to comply with a number of banking covenants which are set out in the agreements for bank loans and senior
notes There are financial covenants which are measured using the performance of the Core Group, excluding PFl companies,
and relate to interest cover, the ratto of debt to EBITDA and the net worth of the Group There are other restrictions in the loan
documentation concerning acquistions, disposals, secunty and other 1ssues The Group has complied with its banking

covenants

Trade and other recelvables

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m im
Non-current assets*
Financial assets relating to PFl contracts 148 8 1417 - -
Other recevables 19 02 - -
1507 141 9 - -
Current assets.
Trade receivables 1291 1023 - -
Provision for imparment of receivables {4.4) 42) - -
Trade recewables — net 124 7 81 - -
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 1837 245
Financial assets refating to PFl contracts 99 82 - -
Other recewvables 85 40 a2 02
Prepayments and accrued income 87 91 o1 01
1528 1194 184 0 24 8
Movement in the provision for impairment of recevables
Group
2008 2007
£m £m
At 1 Apnil 2007 42 40
Charged to income statement o8 08
Utilised (0.6) {0 6)
At 31 March 2008 44 42
Ageing of trade recewvables that are past due but not impaired
Group
2008 2007
£m £m
Neither impaired nor past due 574 46 0
Not impaired but overdue by less than 3 months 641 503
Not impaired but overdue by between 3 and 6 months 28 16
Not impaired but overdue by more than & months 04 02
Impaired 4.4 42
Impairment prowvision {4 4) 42)
124.7 98 1
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17 Trade and other recelvables continued
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19

The carrying amounts of trade and other recewvables are denominated in the following currencies

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Sterling 191.7 1782 840 248
Euro 111 4 831 995 -
Canadian Dollar 04 - 05 -
3035 2613 184 0 248
Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m Em
Cash at bank and in hand 34.3 176 32.0 135
Short tearm deposits 189 251 56 251
53.2 427 37.6 386
The carrying amounts of cash and of cash equivatents are denominated in the following currencies
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Sterbing 124 307 179 382
Euro 396 117 197 04
Canadian Dollar 10 - - -
us Dollar 02 03 - -
632 427 376 386
Borrowings
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Current borrowings
Bank overdrafts and short term loans - 22 - 10
Bank loans 4.5 240 - -
Finance lease obligations 36 27 - -
81 289 - 10
Non-current borrowings.
Senior notes 411 350 12,5 106
Bank loans 3207 2294 116.0 697
Interest rate swaps 35 05 - -
Finance lease obligations 65 63 - -
3718 2712 1285 803
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Borrowings continued
The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following currencies

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m Em
Sterling 1337 1250 150 -
Euro 2393 1751 1135 813
Canadian Dollar 69 - - -
3799 3001 1285 813
The Group’s finance lease liabilities are payable as follows

2008 2007

Minlmum Mintmum

lease lease
payments Interest Principal payments Interest Principat
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m
Less than one year 44 (0.8) 36 31 {0 4) 27
Between one and five years 58 (¢7) 51 61 {0 6) 5h
More than five years 17 (03) 1.4 09 (01) 08
11.9 {1 8) 10.1 101 {11) 20

The Group has an option to purchase leased assets at the end of the lease term There are no restnctions imposed by lessors

to take out other debt or leases

Trade and other payables and other non-current liabitities

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Current liabilities.

Trade payables 799 529 02 03
Other tax and social secunty payable 141 123 o1 o1
Other payables 10.4 58 0T 05
Accruals and deferred income 570 44 8 25 39
Unprocessed waste 141 114 - -
Government grants - 01 - -
1755 1273 35 48

Non-current liabilities
Amounts owed to group undertakings - - 376.3 181 0
Deferred consideration 18.2 22 - -
Government grants 0.3 01 - -
185 23 3763 181 0

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables and other non-current liabilities are denominated i the following currencies

Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Sterling 331 332 828 66 4
Euro 160 4 96 4 2970 1194
Canadian Dollar 0.5 - - -
1940 1296 3798 1858
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21 Provisions

Group Company
Site restoration

and aftercare Other Total Cther
£m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2007 210 78 288 39
Provided - cost of sales 12 - 12 -
Provided - finance charges 08 - o8 -
On acquisition of businesses - 01 o1 -
Utilised (©4) 15) (19) (0 8)
Exchange 30 c4 34 -
At 31 March 2008 25.6 68 324 3.1
Current 05 36 41 31
Non-current 251 32 28.3 -
At 31 March 2008 256 68 324 31
Current 08 55 63 39
Norcurrent 202 23 225 -
At 31 March 2007 210 78 288 39

Site restoration
Site restoration provision as at 31 March 2008 refates to the cost of final capping and covering of the landfill sites The
Group's minimum unavordable costs have been reassessed at the year end and the net present value fully provided for

An element of the clesing provision relates to costs of £0 5m that are expected to be paid next year The remaining part of the
provision relates to restoration costs that are expected ta be paid over a penod of up to twenty five years from today These
costs may be impacted by a number of factors including changes in legislation and technology

Aftercare

The total post closure costs of landfill sites, including such items as monitoring, gas and leachate management and licensing,
have been estimated by management based on current best practice and technology avarlable These costs may be impacted
by a number of factors including changes In legislation and technology The dates of payments of these aftercare costs are
uncertain but are anticipated to be over a penod of approximately thirty years from closure of the retevant landfill site

Other

Other provisions principally cover onerous |leases, warranties and indemnities The net present value of the rental on vacant
leasehold properties has been provided in full These payments will be made over the next five years Under the terms of the
agreements for the disposal of the United Kingdom landfill and power and other United Kingdom operations, the Company has
given a number of warranties and indemnities to the purchasers which may give nse to payments
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(a)

Retlrement benefit schemes

Group

2008 2007

£m £m

UK defined contribution schemes 05 03
UK funded defined benefit schemes 15 14
QOverseas pension schemes 5.7 49
Total pension cost 7.7 66

United Kingdom

The Group and Company’s pnincipal pension scheme 1s the Shanks Group Pension Scheme which covers eligible United
Kingdom employees and has both funded defined benefit and defined contribution sections The Group also has two other
small funded defined benefit schemes, which are mcluded in the defined benefit disclosures below Pension costs for the
defined benefit section are determined by an independent qualified actuary on the basis of tnenntal valuations using the
projected unit method

Assumptlons

The most recent actuanal valuation of the pnncipal funded defined benefit pension scheme operated by the Group dated 5
April 2006 have been updated by independent qualified actuanes to take account of the requirements of 1AS 19 Employee
Benefits in order to assess the habilities of these schemes at 31 March 2008 The marn assumptions were as follows

2008 2007

%pa %pa
Biscount rate 69 54
Future salary growth 5.2 47
Rate of increase In pensions payment {fixed 3%} 30 30
Rate of increase tn pensions payment (cap 5%) 3.6 32
Rate of increase in pensions payment {cap 2 5%) 24 24
Rate of price inflation 37 32

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality iImprovements The

assumptions are that a member currently aged 65 will live on average for a further 22 years If they are male and for a further
24 years if they are female The assumptions used by the independent quakfied actuanes are the best estumates chosen from

a range of possible actuarnal assumptions

Income statement

2008 2007

£m £m

Operating profit Current service cost 15 14
Other finance items Interest charge on scheme habilities 58 51
Expected return on scheme assets (72) (5 9)

{1.4) (0 8)

Net pension cost before tax o1l 06
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22 Retirement benefit schemes continued
Statement of recognised Income and expense

2008 2007

£m £m

Loss on actual return less expected return on scheme assets (7 6) (08)
Expenence gain ansing on scheme habilities 0.3 15
Gain {loss) ansing on changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities 233 02
Actuanal gain 160 05

Cumulative actuanal gains and losses recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense since 1 April 2004 are

£18 Om (2007 £Nil)

History of experience gains and losses

2008 2007 2006 2005
Market value of scheme assets (£m) 874 98 4 841 716
Present value of scheme habilities (£m) (88 0) {106 8) (104 4) (88 5)
Surplus (deficit) in the schemes (£m) 9.4 (8 4) (10 3) {16 9)
Expenence adjustments ansing on scheme assets (£m) (7 8) {0 8) 117 18
% of scheme assets 7.8% 0 8% 12 4% 2 5%
Experience adjustments arsing on scheme habthities (£m} 0.3 15 - 08
% of scheme liabilities 0.3% 14% - 0 9%

Balance Sheet

The aggregate fair values of the assets in the Group's defined benefit schemes, the aggregate net pension liabilities and therr

expected weighted average long term rates of return are set out below

Expected long term Net pension Plan assets as

rate of return fund % of total assets

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

%pa %pa £m £m % %

Equities a6 87 61.9 659 63.6 670

Government bonds 4.6 47 34.8 307 35.7 312

Corporate bonds 53 54 04 o4 a4 a4

Cash 60 55 03 14 0.3 14

Total market value of assets 974 98 4 1000 1000
Present value of scheme labilites (88.0) (106 8)
Net surplus {deficit) in the schemes 94 (8 4)
Related deferred tax (hability) asset (2.6) 25
Net penston asset (hability) 68 (5 9)

The overall expected rate of return on scheme assets 1s 7 1% (2007 7 4%) and 1s a weighted average of the expected rates of
return on each asset class The Group employs a bulding block approach in determirung the fong term rate of return on
penslon plan assets Historical markets are studied and assets with higher volatiity are assumed to generate higher returns
consistent with widely accepted capital market pninciples The overall expected rate of return I1s then derived by aggregating the
expected return for each asset class over the actual asset allocation for the schemes as at 31 March 2008

At 31 March 2008 the IAS 19 net retirement benefit surplus was £9 4m (2007 deficit £8 4m) The change 1s due to a £19m
decrease In liabilties mainly as a result of the increase in discount rate used to calculate the liability at the year end 1n
accordance with the accounting standard The year end discount rate of 6 9% (2007 5 4%) reflects corporate bond rates at
the year end and has led to a significant movement in the |AS 19 calculation for accounting purposes at 31 March 2008 The
amount of the surplus vanes If the main financial assumptions change, particularly the discount rate If the discount rate
Increased or decreased by O 1% the IAS 19 asset would increase or decrease by circa £1 5m
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22 Retirement benefit schemes continued
Movement in scheme assets during the year

2008 2007
£Em £m
At 1 Aprd 2007 984 941
Expected return on plan assets 72 59
Actual return less expected return on plan assets (7.6) {0 8)
Employer contnbutions 19 20
Member contributions o4 04
Benefits paid {(29) (32)
At 31 March 2008 974 98 4
Movement in scheme liabilitles durlng the year
2008 2007
£m £m

At 1 Apnil 2007 (106 8) (104 4}
Current service cost (1 5) {14)
Interest cost on plan liablities (58) (51)
Experience gains 03 15
Changes in assumptions 23.3 (02)
Member contnbutions (0.4) (04)
Benefits paid 2,9 32
At 31 March 2008 (88.0) (106 8}

The estimated contnbutions expected to be paid to the schemes in the year ending 31 March 2009 are £2 Om

(b) Overseas
in the Netherlands, employees are members of either a multremployer pension scheme or other similar externally funded
schemes These schemes are treated as defined contribution plans as It 1s not possible to separately identify the Group’s
share of the assets and liabiliies of those schemes The Group has been informed by the schemes that it has no obligation to
make additional contributions in the event that the schemes have an overall deficit In Belgium, the Group operates small
defined contribution schemes The total cost in the year for overseas pensions was £5 7m (2007 £4 9m)

23 Called up share capital

2008 2007
Group and Company £m £m
Authorised 350 million (2007 350 million) ordinary shares of 10p each 350 350
Allotted, called up and fully paid 237 militon {2007 235 mulhion) ordinary shares of 10p each 237 2356

Dunng the year 1,897,798 (2007 305,385) ordinary shares were allotted following the exercise of options under the
Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan and Executive and Savings Related Share Option Schemes for an aggregate consideration
of £2,346,545 (2007 £371,631) Further disclosures relating to share-based payments are set out in note 5
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24 Statement of changes in shareholders’ funds

Share Share Exchange Retalned

capital premium reserve eamings Total
Group £m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2006 235 937 50 86 4 2086
Recognised income and expense for the year - - B9 317 278
Dividends paid - - - (13 4) (13 4)
Share-based payments - - - 06 06
Tax on share-based payments - - - {02) 02)
lssue of share capital - 03 - - 03
At 31 March 2007 235 a4 0 11 1051 2237
Recognised income and expense for the year - - 281 386 677
Dwidends paid - - - {14 3} (14 3)
Share-based payments - - - 08 08
Tax on share-based payments - - - (0 2} {0 2)
Other reserves movement - - - (12) 12
Issue of share capital 02 34 - - 36
At 31 March 2008 23.7 974 29.2 1298 280.1

The exchange reserve compnses all foreign exchange differences ansing since 1 April 2005 from the translation of the

financial statements of foreign operations as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Group’s net investment in

foreign operations

Share Share Retained

capital premium earnings Total
Company im £m Em £m
At 31 March 2006 235 1177 511 192 3
Recognised income and expense for the year - - (6 3) (6 3)
Dwvidends paid - - (13 4) (13 4)
Share-based payments - - 06 08
Tax on share-based payments - - {0 2) (0 2)
Issue of share capital - 03 - 03
At 31 March 2007 235 1180 318 173 3
Recognised mcome and expense for the year - - 339 339
Dividends patd - - (14 3) (14 3)
Share-based payments - - o8 a8
Tax on share-based payments - - o2 (02}
Qther reserves movement - - (12) (12)
Issue of share capital 02 34 - 36
At 31 March 2008 237 121 4 508 1959
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25 Notes to the cash flow statement

2008 2007
Group £m £m
Net cash from operating activities
Operating profit 553 46 2
Amortisation of intangible assets 40 23
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 34.3 300
Charge for long term landfill provisions 10 21
Exceptional gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment {19) -
Earmings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation {"EBITDA”) 92,7 806
Non-exceptional gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (12) {1 0)
Decrease th provisions (17) (4 3)
Share-based payments 08 06
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 806 759
{Increase) decrease in Inventones (13) 37
Decrease In recewables (14 0) {73)
Increase In payables 202 89
Cash generated by operations 955 812
Income taxes paid {8.4) {9 9)
Net cash from operating activities 87.1 713
Consolidated movement in net debt
2008 2007
£Em £m
Net increase {decrease) i cash and cash equivalents 59 {16 &)
Increase 1n borrowings and finance leases {39 6) (62 5)
Amortisation of loan fees {0 9) {0 4}
Exchange (foss) gain (318) 40
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps (2.9) 69
Movement in net debt (69.3) {68 6)
Net debt at beginning of year (257 4) (188 8)
Net debt at end of year (326 7) (257 4)
Analysis of net debt
At At
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 532 427
Current borrowings (81) (28 9)
Non-current borrowings {371 8) (271 2)
Total Group net debt {326 7} (257 4)
At At
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Core Business net debt (211.7) (134 0)
PFl companies net debt (111.5) (122 9)
Total Group net debt before fair value of interest rate swaps {323 2) {256 9)
Fair value of PFl interest rate swaps (35) 05)
Total Group net debt (326 7) {257 4}
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26 Capital commitments

2008 2007
Group £m £m
Contracts placed for future capital expenditure on financial assets 110 236
Contracts placed for future capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment 15.5 49
Share of Joint venture future capital expenditure 06 24
The Company had no capital commitments (2007 £Nil)
27 Financial commitments
2008 2007
Group £m £m
Commitments under noncancellable operating leases expiring
Within one year 68 50
Later than one year and [ess than five years 330 i79
After five years 48.9 44 9
887 678
Future mimmum lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases {1 4) 29
87.3 649

The Company has commitments under non-cancellable leases of £0 5m expining after five years (2007 £0 6my)

28 Contingent llabilitles
Group and Company
Under the terms of the sale agreement with Terra Firma for the disposal of the Group's landfill and power operations, the Group
has given a number of indemnities and warranties relating to the disposed operations

The Company and certain subsidianes have, in the nermal course of business, given guarantees and performance bonds
retating to the Group’s contracts

The Company has given guarantees In respect of the Group's and subsidiary undertakings’ bank borrowing facihittes totalling
£28 6m (2007 £24 6m)

Joint Ventures
The Group’s joint ventures have no significant contingent habihties
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Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiarles

A list of the Company’s principal subsidianes 1s set out on page 84 Transactions with subsidiaries relate to interest on
Intercompany loans and management charges Net interest expense was £11 2m (2007 £4 9m) and management charges
received were £2 O0m (2007 £2 1m) Total outstanding balances are isted in notes 17 and 20

Remuneratlion of key management personnel

Key management compnses the Board of Directors The disclosures required by the Companies Act 1985 and those specified
by the Financial Services Authonty relating to Directors’ remuneration {including pension benefits and incentive plans), interests
in shares, share options and other interests, are set out within the Remuneration Report on pages 34 to 39, and form part of
these financial statements

Dunng the year Mr P Delaunais, a non-executive Director of the Group, received £14,000 (2007 £40,000) for consultancy
services provided to the Belgian subsidiaries Mr P Delaunois is a shareholder and director of S A CGO and the fees were paid
to this company

Post balance sheet events

On 1 April 2008 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of the Foronex group for a cash consideration of £16 4m
Foronex I1s a leading player in the wood waste and by-products market i the Benelux The purchase price allocation, mcluding
the fair value of the mmdividual assets and liabilities has nct been finalised
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subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures

at 31 March 2008

Subsidiary undertakings
The Company held, through wholly owned subsidiaries, 100% of the i1ssued share capital of the following principal trading
subsichanes, all of which have been consolidated in the Group's financial statements

Country of incorporation

Princlpal Group subsidiary undertakings

Shanks Waste Management Limited UK
Shanks s a Belgium
Shanks Hamnaut s a Beigium
Shanks Ligge-Luxembourg s a Belgium
Shanks Bruxelles s a Belgium
Shanks Vlaanderen n v Belgium
Shanks Transport n v Belgium
Shanks Nederland B V Netherlands
lcovaBV Netherlands
BY van Viiet Groep Milieudienstverleners Netherlands
Viko BV Netherlands
Klck Containers B V Netherlands
Transportbedryf van Viiet BV “Contrans” Netherlands
Afvalstoffen Terminal Moerdijk B V “ATM" Netherlands
Reym BV Netherlands
Smink Beheer BV Netherlands
Orgaworld B V Netherlands

Subsidlary undertakings holding PRl contracts

Shanks Argyll & Bute Limited UK
ELWA Limited UK
Shanks Dumfries and Galloway Limited UK

Joint Ventures

The Company held, through wholly owned subsicdianes, the following interests in matenal joint venture companies, all of which
operate as waste management companies The Group's share of profits and gross assets and liabilities have been incorporated in
the Group's financial statements

% Group Most recent Country of

holding year end Incorporation

Avondale Environmentat Limited 50% 31 March 2008 UK
Caird Bardon Limited 50% 31 December 2007 UK
Geohess {UK) Limited 50% 31 December 2007 UK
Silvamo n v 50% 31 December 2007 Belgium
Marpos nv 45% 31 December 2007 Belglum
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consolidated five year financial summary

at 31 March 2008

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS UK GAAP
£m £m £m £m £m

Consolldated Income statement
Revenue B63 7 508 5 442 5 420 4 4096
Trading profit from continumg operations before exceptional items 55.9 47 3 389 360 318
Finance charges — interest (8 5) (5 8) {4 2) 4 7) {12 2)
Finance charges - other (2.8) (12) omn {0 B6) {10}
Profit from continuing operations before exceptional
tems and tax (Headline Profit) 448 403 340 307 186
Amortisation of acquisition mntangibles {25) (11) - - -
Exceptional tems {(10) 69 (37) 11 0) -
Goodwill amortisation - - - - (10 Q)
Profit before tax from continuing operations 413 46 4 303 187 26
Tax (13 0) {14 8) (10 5) (71) {5 0)
Profit after tax from continuing operations 28.3 313 198 126 36
Profit after tax from discontinued operations - - 10.6 650 56
Profit for the year 28.3 313 30.4 776 92
Consolidated balance sheet
Non-current assets 726 6 561 8 466 0 4337 549 7
Other assets less llabilities {119 8) (80 7) {68 6) {66 0) {103 3)
Net debt (326 7) {257 4) {188 8) (178 7) (302 1)
Net assets 2801 2237 2086 1890 1373
Share capital and share premium 1211 117 5 1172 1166 116 5
Reserves 159 0 106 2 91 4 724 208
Total equity 280.1 2237 2086 1890 1373
Financlal ratios
Adjusted basic earnings per share 12 9p 11 7p a6p 87p 89p
Basic earmngs per share i2 Op 13 3p 13 0p 331p 3¢gp
Dvidends per share 6 2p 5 9p 57p 57p 57p

Note Comparative figures for 2004 are stated under UK GAAP The consolidated income statement for this year has been
re-presented i IFRS format, but with underiying figures accounted for under UK GAAP
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notice of annual general meeting

Notice 15 hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Shanks Group plc will be held at the offices of Royal Bank of
Scotland/ABN Amro, 250 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 4AA on 24 July 2008 at 11 00 a m for the purpose of transacting the
following bustness

Ordinary business
Resolutions 1 to 6 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions

(1)

{2)

3

(4

(5)

(6)

To receve the audited accounts for the year ended 31 March 2008 together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2008

To declare a final dividend of 4 2 pence per ordinary share of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2008

To elect Mr Tom Drury as a Director of the Company

To re-elect Mr Adnian Auer as a Director of the Company

To re-appoint PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next general meeting at
which accounts are laid and to authornse the Directors to determine the remuneration of the auditors

Special business
Resolutions 7 and 12 will he proposed as ordinary resolutions and resotutions 8 to 11 as speciat resolutions

(N

{8)

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution of the Company

“THAT, in substitution for any previous authonty under section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 {the “Act™}, the Directors be
generally and unconditionally authonsed, pursuant to section 80 of the Act, to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot
relevant secunties {within the meaning of that section of the Act) up to an aggregate neminal amount of £7,896,000 for a
penod expiring {unless previously renewed, vaned or revoked by the Company 1n general meeting) on the date being fifteen
months from the passtng of this resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company next
held following the passing of this resolution, save that the Company may make an offer or agreement before such expiry which
would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after the expiry of this authority and the Directors may aliot relevant
secunties pursuant to such offer or agreement as if the authonty conferred hereby had not expired ”

To consider and, If thought fit, pass the following resolution as a special resolutron of the Company

“THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 7 set out i the notice of the annual general meeting of the Company convened for
24 July 2008, the Directors be empowered, pursuant to section 95 of the Companes Act 1985 (the “Act™), to allot equity
secunties (within the meaning of section 94 of the Act) wholly for cash pursuant to the authority conferred on them by such
resolution 7 and/or where such allotment constitutes an aliotment of equity securities by virtue of section 84{3A) of the Act,
as If section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power s imited to

{a} the allotment of equity secunities in connection with a rights 1ssue, open offer or other pre-emptive offer in favour of
holders of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company {excluding any holder holding sharas as treasury shares) on the
register on a date fixed by the Directors where the equity securnities respectively attnbutable to the interests of such
holders are proportionate {as nearly as practicable) to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held by them on that
date subject to such exclusions or other arrangements in connecticn with the rights 1ssue or other offer as the Directors
deem necessary or expedient

(1) to deal with equity securities representing fractional entitiements, or

(i} to deal with treasury shares, or
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(9)

(1) to deal with legal or practical problems arising in any overseas temtory, the requirements of any regulatory body or any
stock exchange or any other matter whatsoever, and

{b) the aliotment {otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities for cash up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £1,184,000,

but so that this authority shall expire {unless previously renewed, vaned ot revoked by the Company In general mesung) on the
date being fifteen months from the passing of this resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of
the Company next held following the passing of this resolution, save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or
agreement which would or might reguire equity secunties to be allotted after the expiry of this power and the Directors may
allot equity secunties pursuant to such offer or agreement as If the power conferred hereby had not expired”

To consider and, If thought fit, pass the following resolution as a special resolution of the Company

“THAT the Company be and 1s generally and unconditionally authonsed for the purposes of section 166 of the Companies Act
1985 (the “Act”™) to make market purchases {within the meaning of section 163(3) of the Act of ordinary shares 1n the capitat
of the Company provided that

{a) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby authonsed to be purchased shail be 23,690,000 (being approximately
10% of the Company's issued ordinary share capital at the date of passing of this resolution),

{b) the maximum price which may be paid for an ordinary share I1s an amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle
market quotatiens for an ordinary share as denved from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business
days iImmediately preceding the day on which the ordinary share ts purchased, and the minimum price which may be paid
for an ordinary share 1s ap amount equal to the nominal value of the share (in each case exclusive of assoclated
expenses), and

{c) unless previously renewed, varied or revoked, the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the next
annual genera! meeting of the Company or on 23 January 2010, whichever is the earlier, but a contract of purchase may
be made before such expiry which will or may be completed wholly or partly thereafter, and a purchase of ordinary shares
may be made In pursuance of any such contract”

(10) To consider and, If thought fit, pass the following resolution as a special resclution of the Company

“THAT the Articles of Association produced to the meeting, marked “A” and initialled by the Chairman of the meeting for the
purpose of dentification, be adopted as the Artictes of Assoctation of the Company In substitution for and to the exclusion of
the existing Articles of Assoctation of the Company”

{11) To consider and, If thought fit, pass the following resalution as a special resolution of the Company

“THAT, subject to resolution 10 set out in the notice of annual general meeting of the Company convened for 24 July 2008
being passed and with effect from 12 01 a m on 1 October 2008 (or such later date as section 175 of the Compantes Act
2006 shall be brought into force), Article 98 of the Company's Articles of Association adopted pursuant to such resolution 10
be deleted In its entirety and replaced by Article 99 as set out In the document produced to the meeting marked “B” and, for
the purposes of identification, initialled by the Chairman of the meeting ”
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notice of annual general meeting

continued

{12) To consider and, If thought fit, pass the following resofution as an ordinary resolution of the Company

“THAT In accordance with section 366 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company and its subsidiaries be and are hereby
authorised

{1} to make political donations 1o political parties, political organisations and/or tndependent election candidates, not
exceeding £25,000 n total, and

(N} to incur political expenditure, not exceeding £25,000 in total,

dunng the penod beginming on the date of the passing of this resolution and ending on the earller of eighteen months from the
date of this resolution and the concluston of the Company's annual general meeting to be held in 2009”7

For the purpose of this resolution the terms “political donation”, “political parties”, “independent election candidates”, “political
orgamsation” and * political expenditure” have the meanings given by sections 363 to 365 of the Companies Act 2006

By Order of the Board

p . % Registered office
Shanks House

Phillp Griffin-Smith 211 Blochairn Road
Company Secretary Blochairn
29 May 2008 Glasgow

G21 2RL

Appendix to the notice of annual general meeting

Allotment of Shares (Resolutions 7 and 8)

The Directors may not allot new shares in the Company unless authonsed by shareholders in general meeting Resolution 7 seeks
authority to allot new shares up to the maximum nominal value of £7,896,000 representing approximately 33 33% of the nominal
value of the Company's 1ssued share capital (excluding treasury shares) as at the close of business on 27 May 2008, being the
latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document The Company does not currently hold any shares in treasury and
there are no plans at present to issue new shares, except as needed to satisfy the exercise of options under the Company’s
employee share schemes If the Directors wish to allot new shares for cash, the Companies Act 1985 states that the new shares
must be offered first to existing shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholdings An offer of this type Is called a ‘rights
1ssue’ or an ‘open offer’ and the shareholders’ entitlement to be offered the new shares 1s known as a ‘pre-emption nght' For
legal, regulatory and practical reasons, however, it might not be possible or desiable for new shares allotted by means of a rights
Issue or open offer to be offered to certain shareholders, particularly those resident overseas Furthermore, it might in some
circumstances be in the Company’s interests for the Directors to be able to allot some shares for cash without having to offer them
first to existing shareholders To enable this to be done, shareholders” statutory pre-emption rights must be disapplied

Accordingly resolution 8 seeks to empower the Directors to allot equity securities as 1f shareholders’ statutory pre-emption rights
chid not apply to such allotment

{a) sub-paragraph {a) of resolution 8 seeks authonty for the Directors to make any arrangements which may be necessary to deal
with any legal, regulatory or practical problems arising from a rights 1ssue, open offer or other pre-emptive offer in favour of
ordinary shareholders, for example, by excluding certain overseas shareholders from such issue or offer, and

(by sub-paragraph (b) of resolution 8 seeks the disapplication of shareholders’ statutory pre-emption rights by empowering the
Directors to allot shares for cash on a nen pre-emptive basis but only for new shares with a maximum aggregate nominal value
of £1,184,000 which s equivalent to approximately 5% of the Company's 1ssued share capital prior to the publication of this
document The authority under resolution 8 would also cover the sale of treasury shares for cash
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Both resolutions 7 and 8 are in ine with standard practice and the guidelines tssued by the Investment Committees of the
Association of British [nsurers and the Nationat Association of Pension Funds Resolution 8 also has regard to the Pre-Emption
Group's 2006 Statement of Pninciples on Disapplying Pre-Emption Rights

The proposed authorities under resolutions 7 and 8, if granted, will apply until the date being fifteen months from the passing of
this resclutton or, If earlier, at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company next held following the passing of these
resolutions

Purchase of Own Shares (Resolution 9)

The Companies Act 1985 permits a company to purchase its own shares provided the purchase has been authornised by
shareholders in general meeting Resclution 9, if passed, would give the Company the authority to purchase its own issued ordinary
shares at a price of not less than ten pence per share and not more than 5% above the average of the middle market quotations of
the Company’s ordinary shares as shown on the London Stock Exchange Daily Officialt List for the five dealing days before the
purchase 1s made The authority would be to purchase a maximum of approximately 10% of the Company’s ordinary share capital in
Issue on 27 May 2008, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document, and would expire at the end of
the next annua! general meeting or on 23 January 2010, whichever Is the earlier The Directors’ present intentions are that in
certain circumstances it may be advantageous for such purchases to be made If they believe that they are generally in the best
interests of the shareholders and {except In the case of purchases intended to satisfy obligations under share schemes} the
expected effect of any purchase would be to increase earnings per share of the remaining shares

The Directors would only exercise the authority after careful consideration, taking into account market conditions prevailing at the
time, other investment opportunities, appropnate gearing levels, the expected effect on the return on embedded value and the
overall financial posihion of the Group Purchases would be financed out of distrtbutable profits and shares purchased would etther
be cancelled and the number of shares In issue reduced accordingly or held as treasury shares As at 27 May 2008, there were
options and LTIP awards over 3 1m ordinary shares in the capital of the Company which represent 1 3% of the Company's 1ssued
ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares) If the authority to purchase the Company’s ordinary shares were exercised in full,
those options would represent 1 5% of the Company’s 1ssued ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares) As at 27 May
2008, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document, the Company did not hold any treasury shares and
no warrants over ordinary shares in the capital of the Company existed

Adoption of new Articles of Association (Reselutlons 10 and 11)

The Directors believe that the Articles of Association of the Company should be updated to reflect and take full benefit of some of
the new provisions of the Companies Act 2006 Act {the “2006 Act™} which have been brought in to effect to date There have also
been a number of other legislative, regulatory and best practice developments since the Company’s Articles of Association were
adopted that the Board believes should be reflected in the Company's Articles of Association Accordingly, the Board considers it
prudent to replace the Company’s existing Articles of Association with new Articles which take account of those developments (the
“New Articles”™)

The 2006 Act represents a major reform of UK companies’ legislation and is being brought into force in stages, beginning in
January 2007 with full implementation scheduted by October 2009 Qver the course of the next year the Company intends to
conduct a further review of the New Articles in order to identify any additional amendments that might be necessary following the
full implementation of the 2006 Act in October 2009 It 1s the Board's intention that any further amendments will be put to
shareholders at the annual general meeting 1n 2009 A copy of the New Articles and a copy of Article 99 dentified 1n resofution 11
will be avallahble for inspection from the date of this document until the conclusion of the annual general meeting during normal
business hours on any weekday at the registered office of the Company and at the offices of Dickson Minto WS at Royal London
House, 22 25 Finsbury Square, London EC2A 1DX The New Articles will also be available for inspection at any time until the
conclusion of the annuat general meeting on the Company's website www shanks co uk and shall be avallable at the venue of the
annual general meeting from 15 minutes prior to and until the conclusion of the meeting The principal changes ansing from the
adoption of the New Articles, other than changes which are of a minor, technical or clanfying nature and also some more minor
changes which merely reflect changes made by the 2006 Act, are set out below References to Article numbers are references to a
particular Article in the New Articles
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notice of annual general meeting

continued

Articles that duplicate statutory provisions

Certain provisions (n the current Articles which repficate provisions contained in compames legislabion are in the main amended to
bring them into line with the 2006 Act Certain examples of such provisions, including provisions as to convening general meetings
and proxies, are detailed below

Treasury Shares

Since 1 December 2003, listed companies that buy back shares out of distnbutable profits have been able to hold up to 10% of
the nominal value of their 1Issued share capital in treasury, rather than having to cancel them Treasury shares can provide some
useful flexiblity to companies as they may sell treasury shares in small amaunts and without the need to incur the costs of a new
share 1ssue in order to raise additional capital Consequential amendments have been made In the New Articles to reflect the
treasury shares regime

Uncertificated Shares

The existing Articles do not contain detatled provisions dealing with the holding of shares in uncertificated form and the rules
governing the CREST uncertificated secuntres system set out in the Uncertificated Securiies Regulations 2001 {the “2001
Regulations™} Various provisions are therefore included in the New Articles to accommeodate this matter (in particular, Articles 14
and 34) However, there 15 nothing in the New Articles which obliges shareholders to hold their shares through CREST and
shareholders may continue to hold their shares in certificated form should they so wish

Electronic Communications and CREST

The New Articles contain a number of provisions designed to maximise the Company's ability to use electronic systems for
communication with shareholders and for dealing in shares through CREST Companies have been able to communicate with
shareholders by electronic means {1 e emaill) in respect of certain types of infarmation for some years However, the 2006 Act
extends this to all shareholder information {including company notices, documents and other information) and enables a company
to invite shareholders to agree that information may be suppled by means of a website The New Articles allow the Company to
take advantage of the changes in the 2006 Act which may fead to administrative cost savings In the future The 2006 Act enables
the Company to use electronic communications with shareholders as the default position by placing documents on the Company’s
website unless shareholders expressly elect to receive hard copy documents It 1s important to note that before implementing the
default pesition the Company 1s required to write to all shareholders to give them the opportumty to decide whether they would
prefer to receive decumentation in hard copy form Various provisions are included in the New Articles to allow the Company to
communicate with shareholders via electronic means and to give the Directors the discretion to use efectronic communications to
distrnibute notices of meetings, annual reports, accounts and summary financtal statements The New Articles alse reflect the 2001
Regulations and the 2006 Act by permitting members holding uncertificated shares to appoint, instruct, amend and revoke proxy
appointments using the CREST system

In addition, the New Articles simplify procedures for transacting the business of the Board by permitting the convering of meetings,
serving of notice of resignation, appointment of alternates and execution of Directors’ resolutions by electronic means

Form of resolutions

The existing Articles contain provisions referning to “extraordinary” resolutions and “extraordinary” general meetings These
concepts have been abolished under the 2006 Act Meetings of shareholders other than annual general meetings are referred to
simply as “general meetings” Any resolution requiring a 75% majority will be a “special” resolution Where for any purpose an
ordinary resolution 1s required a special resolution shall also be effective

Convening of general meetings and annual general meetings

The prowvistons of the existing Articles dealing with the convening of general meetings and annual general meetings and the length
of notice required to convene such meetings are amended in the New Articles to conform to the new provisions of the 2006 Act In
particwar, general meetings to consider special resolutions can now be convened on 14 clear days’ notice whereas previously 21
clear days' notice was required An annual general meeting still requires 21 clear days’ notice
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Votes of members

Under the 2006 Act proxies are entitled to vote on a show of hands whereas under the existing Articles proxies are only entitled to
vote on a poll The time himits for the appoimtment of proxies have also been altered by the 2006 Act so that weekends and bank
holidays do not need to be counted in determining the time himits for lodging of proxies Multiple proxies may be appointed provided
that each proxy 1s appointed to exercise the nghts attached to a different share or class of shares held by the shareholder

Corporate representatives

The 2006 Act permits a corporate shareholder to appoint multiple corporate representatives who can attend, speak, vote and count
towards a quorum at any general meeting However, where multiple corporate representatives exercise votes in different ways, the
2006 Act provides that no votes have been exercised The New Articles reflect the provisions of the 2006 Act

Age restriction on directors

The existing Articles provide that no person shall be appointed or reappointed to the Board once they have attained the age of 65
vears and any person attaining such age shall vacate his or her office at the next annual general meeting held after his or her 65th
birthday This has been deleted in the New Articles as it may fall foul of age discnmination legislation

Retirement of directors by rotation

The Combined Code on Corporate Governance recommends that all Directors must submit themselves for election at every third
annual general meeting following the meeting at which they were elected or last re elected The New Articles reflect this position
and delete reference to retirement by rotation

Confilcts of Interest

The New Articles retain the provisions of the existing Articles n relation to Directors’ conflicts of interest However, it 1s intended
that with effect from 1 October 2008 these provisions will be amended to reflect new provisions of the 2006 Act n relation to
Directors” conflicts of interests which are expected to come into force on that date The 2006 Act sets out Directors’ general duties
which largely codify the existing law but with some changes Under the 2006 Act, from 1 October 2008 a Director must avoid a
situation where he has, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or may conflict, with the Company’s interests The
requitrement 1s very broad and could apply, for example, If a Director becomes a Director of another company or a trustee of another
organisation The 20086 Act allows Directors of public companies to authonse conflicts and potential conflicts, where appropnate,
insofar as the articles of association contain a provision to this effect The 2006 Act also allows articles to contain other provisions
for deahing with Directors’ conflicts of interest to avord a breach of duty There are safeguards which will apply when Directors
dectde whether to authonse a conflict or potential conflict First, only Directors who have no interest in the matter being considered
will be able to take the relevant decision, and secondly, in taking the decision, the Directors must act in a way they consider, In
good farth, will be most likely to promote the Company’s success The Directors will be able to impose limits or conditions when
giving authorisation if they think this 15 appropriate [t 1s also proposed that the New Articles should contain provisions relating to
confidential information, attendance at Board meetings and the availability of Board papers to protect a Director being in breach of
duty If a conflict of interest or a potential conflict of interest arises Resolution 11 proposes that the New Artrcles will, with effect
from 1 October 2008, contain provisions giving the Directors authonty to approve situations involving Directors’ conflicts of interest
and to allow conflicts of interest to be dealt with by the Board

Borrowing Powers

The New Articles contain (at Article 101} a provision regulating the Board's authonty to authonse the Company to borrow money H
permits borrowing of up to 3 times the level of the Company’s “adjusted capital and reserves” without further shareholder approval
A stmtlar provision 1s set out in the current Articles However, the method of calculating the “adjusted capital and reserves” and the
definition of “borrowings” has been updated in the New Articles to reflect current practice The updates are generally of a technical
nature although there are some commercial changes For example, in calculating the reserves no account will be taken of any
retirement scheme surplus or deficit The calculation of the limit of borrowings I1s also adjusted so that items such as cash in hand,
cash deposits, short term assets and any security deposit in the nature of cash or short term assets lodged in secunty of the
obhgations of a member of the Group are ¢redited against the amount of borrowings when determirung whether the relevant mit
has been exceeded
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continued

Indemnity

The 2006 Act aliows companies to indemnify their Directors and other officers and to provide to therr Directors funds to cover the
costs of defending legal proceedings brought against them on an “as incurred” basis In addition, a company may mdemnify the
Directors of an associated company (including directors of an associated company that Is a trustee of an occupational pension
scheme 1n respect of any liability incurred by the Director in connection with the company’s activities as trustee of the scheme}
Since Directors are increasingly being added as defendants in actions aganst compames and litigation 1s often very lengthy and
expensive, the Board believes the nsk of Directors being placed under significant financial strain Is increasing This may impact on
the ability of the Company to recrurt and retain members of the Board of an appropnate calibre Accordingly, the New Articles take
advantage of the new law The Board believes that the power of the Company to indemnify its Directors In the manner described
above Is farr and reasonable and introduces a more appropriate batance of nsk and reward

Political donatlons (Resolutlon 12)

The majority of the Companies Act 2006 provisions on political donations, sections 362 379, came Into force on 1 October 2007
As with the Companies Act 1985, & company may not make a political denation or incur pofitical expenditure unless It has been
authonsed by ordinary resolution or the political donation does not exceed £5,000 when aggregated with all Group political
donations in the past twelve months Whilst it remans the Company’s policy not to make political donations or to incur political
expenditure the terms “poiiical donation”, “political parties”, “independent election candidates”, “pelitical organisation” and
“political expenditure” are widely defined in the Companies Act 2006, and it 1s possible that the defimtions may Include

activities which the Company might carry on in the ordinary course of its business, such as participation In functions attended by
politticians or participation in review of Governmental policy or law reform Therefore, In common with other companies, the Company
1s seeking shareholder approval, on a precautionary basis and to avoid unwitting contravention of the Companies Act 2006, to incur
a level of expenditure to cover these activiies Any donations made or expenditure incurred under the authority will be disclosed in
the Company's next annual report

Notes

1 Members are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of thetr nghts to attend and to speak and vote on therr behalf at
the meeting A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the nghts
attached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company A member
present in person or by proxy shall have one vote on a show of hands and on a poll every member present in person or by
proxy shall have one vote for every ordinary share of which he/she 1s the holder A form of proxy for use by shareholders in
connection with the meeting 1s enclosed with this document The form of proxy should be deposited with the Company's
registrar, Computershare Investors Services PLC at PO Box 82, The Pavilions, Bndgwater Road, Bristol, BS$9 622 no later than
11 00 am on 22 July 2008

2 The return of a completed form of proxy will not prevent a member from attending and voting 1n person at the meeting should
he/she so wish

3 Any person to whom this notice 1s sent who is & person nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to emoy
information nghts (a8 “Nominated Person”) may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she
was nominated, have a nght to be appointed {or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Annual General Meeting If
a Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or does not wish to exercise 1t, he/she may, under any such
agreement, have a right to give Instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise of voung nights

4 The statement of the nights of shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in note 1 above does not apply to
Nominated Persons

5 To be enttled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, and for the purpose of the determination by the Company of
the votes they may cast, shareholders must be registered in the Register of Members of the Company by 6 00pm on 22 July
2008 {or, In the event of any adjournment, 6pm on the date which ts two days before the time of the adjourned meeting)
Changes to the Register of Members after the relevant deadline shall be disregarded in determining the nights of any person to
attend and vote at the meeting

92 shanks annual report 2008



& In order to facilitate voting by corporate representatives at the meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the meeting so
that (1) If a corporate shareholder has appointed the chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative with instructions
to vote on a pofl in accordance with the directions of all of the other corporate representatives for that corporate shareholder
present at the meeting then, on a poll, those corporate representatives will give voting directions to the chairman of the
meeting and the chairman will vote (or withhold a vote) as corporate representative In accordance with those directions, and (1)
If more than one corporate representative for the same corporate shareholder attends the meeting but the corporate
shareholder has not appointed the chatrman of the meeting as its corporate representative a designated corporate
representative will be nominated, from those corporate representatives who attend, who will vote on a poll and the other
corporate representatives will give voting directions to that designated corporate representative Corporate shareholders are
referred to the guidance 1ssued by the Institute of Chartered Secretares and Admmistrators on proxies and corporate
representatives (www icsa org uk) for further details of this procedure The guidance includes a sample form of representation
letter if the chairman s being appointed as described in {1} above

7  CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for
the annual general meeting to be held on 24 July 2008 and any adjournment{s) thereof by using the procedures described in
the CREST Manual CREST Persona! Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have
appointed a voting service provide(s}, should refer to thewr CREST sponsor or voting service providers, who will be able to take
appropniate action on their behalf In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be vahd,
the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with CRESTCo’s
specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manuail The
message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a
previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be vahd, be transmitted so as to be received by the Issuer’s agent {ID 3RAS0) by
the latest trme(s) for receipt of proxy appointments specified tn the notice of meeting For this purpose, the time of receipt will
be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which
the 1sstier's agent Is able to retrieve the message by enguiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST After this time any
change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means
CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that CRESTCo does not
make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages Normal system timings and himitations wilt therefore
apply In relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions 1t is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take or, if
the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to
procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) takes such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a
message Is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular times In this connection, CREST members and,
where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those secttons of the CREST
Manual concerning practical imitations of the CREST system and timings The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy
Instruction In the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the uncertificated Secunties Regulations 2001

8 As at 27 May 2008 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this docurnent), the Company’s 1ssued capital
consisted of 236,928,379 ordinary shares, carrying one vote each Therefore, the totat number of voting nghts in the Company
as at 27 May 2008 was 236,928,379 votes

Documents on display

Coples of the fotlowing documents are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company and at the offices of Dickson
Minto W S, 22/25 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1DX during nermal business hours, Monday to Friday (public holidays excepted)
up to and including the date of the annual general meeting and at the place of the annual general meeting from fifteen minutes
pnor to and unti the close of the meeting (1) executive directors’ contracts of service, (1) non executive directors’ letters of
appointment, (1) curent Articles of Association of the Company, (iv) a draft of the proposed New Articles of Association of the
Company, (v) a draft of proposed replacement Article 99
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shareholder information

at 31 March 2008

Analysis of shareholders as at 31 March 2008

Holders % Shares held %

Private shareholders 2,012 621 10,070,467 43
Corporate shareholders 1,229 379 226,857,912 957
3,241 1000 236,928,379 1000

Size of shareholding Holders % Shares held %
260,001 - 5,000 2,472 763 4,284,045 18
5,001 - 25,000 438 135 4,600,220 19
25,001 - 50,000 77 24 2,879,488 12
50,001 - 100,000 61 19 4,324,434 18
100,001 - 250,000 76 23 12,684,846 54
250,001 - 500,000 39 12 13,749,995 58
over 500,000 7 24 194,405,351 821
3,241 1000 236,928,379 1000

Registrar services

Administrative enquines concerning shareholdings in the Company should be made to the Registrar, Computershare Investor
Services PLC, PO Box 82, The Pawviltons, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6727 Computershare can also be contacted by telephone on
0870 707 1290

Shareholders can also manage their holding online by registering at www ulk computershare com/investor

Shareholders who do not currently have their dividends paid directly to a bank or building society account and who wish to do so
should complete a mandate form obtamnable from Computershare Tax vouchers are sent to the shareholder’s registered address
under this arrangement, unless requested otherwise Shareholders are strongly encouraged to receive their cash dividends by direct
transfer as this ensures dividends are credited promptly and efficiently

If you receive more than one copy of our Annual Report, it may be that your shares are registered under two or more names Should
you wish to combine such holdings into a single account please contact Computershare

Low cost share dealing service

Pershing Securities Limited offer an execution only, low cost postal share dealing service for UK resident investors, should they so
wish, to buy or sell small certificated holdings of Shanks Group plc ordinary 10 pence shares Further information may be obtained
from the Pershing Securities telephone helpline on 020 7661 6617

Shareholder warning — unsolicited mail

In recent years many companies have become aware that their shareholders have recewed unsolicited telephone calls or
correspondence concerning investment matters These are typically from overseas based ‘brokers’ who target UK shareholders
offering to sell them what often turns out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments They can be very persistent
and extremely persuasive It 1s not just the novice investor that has been duped In this way, many of the victims had been
successfully mvesting for several years Shareholders are advised to be very wary of any unsolictted advice, offers to buy shares at
a discount or offer of free company reports
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If you receive any unsclicited investment advice

« make sure you get the correct name of the person and organisation and make a record of any information they give you,
« check that they are properly authorised by the FSA before getting involved You can check at www fsa gov uk/register,

» the FSA also maintains on its website a ist of unauthonised overseas firms who are targeting, or have targeted UK investors
Any approach from such an organisatien should be reported to the FSA so that this hist can be kept up to date and any other
appropriate action can be constdered If you deal with an unauthorised firm, you would not be ehigible to receive payment under
the Financial Services Compensation Scheme The FSA can be contacted by completing an online form at
www fsa gov uk/pages/doing/regulated/law/alerts/form shtmi or if you do not have internet access, on 0845 606 1234, and

« nform our Registrars on G870 707 1290

Detaits of any sharedealing faciliies that the Company endorses wili be included in Company mailings More detailed information on
this or similar activity can be found on the FSA website www fsa gov uk/consumer

Share price Informaticn
On 31 March 2008, the middle market price of Shanks Group plc ordinary 10 pence shares was 260 pence per share, having
varted duning the year between a low of 195 pence and a high of 281 pence

The ISIN code for the Company's ordinary shares s GB0007995243 and the SEDOL {Stock Exchange Official Daily List) number 1s
0799524 Share price mnformation on Shanks Group plc ts widely availlable In the financtal press and on finanoal websites

SharegGift

If shareholders have only a small number of shares whose value makes it uneconomic to sell, they may wish to consider donating
them to the chanty ShareGift {registered chanty no 1052686) Further information may be obtained from their website at

www sharegift org or by calling 020 7930 3737

Company Websites

The Shanks Group plc website, containing Company details, financial information and current news can be found at

www shanks co uk The website for Shanks companies within Belgium can be found at www shanks be and that for the Netherlands
at www shanks nl

financial calendar

9 July 2008 Ex~-dnadend date for final 2008 dividend

11 July 2008 Record date for final 2008 dividend

24 luly 2008 Annual General Meeting

1 August 2008 Payment of final 2008 dmvidend

November 2008 Announcement of interim results and dividends

January 2009 Payment of nterim dmidend

31. March 2009 2009 financial year ends

June 2009 Announcement of 2009 resuits and dvidend recommendation
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company information

CORPORATE HEAD OFFICE*
Shanks Group ple

Astor House

Station Road

Bourne End
Buckinghamshire SL8 5YP

Tei 00 44 (0) 1628 554920
Fax OO 44 (0) 1628 524114
website www shanks co uk
e-mail info@shanks co uk

*Corporate Head Office relocating to Dunedin House, Auckland Park, Mount Farm, Milton Keynes, Buckinghamshire, MK1 1BU in

Summer 2008

PRINCIPAL OFFICES

THE NETHERLANDS

Shanks Nedertand

PO Box 171

3000 AD Rotterdam

The Netherlands

Tel 00 31 (0) 10 280 5300
Fax Q0 31 (0) 10 280 5311

REGISTERED OFFICE
Shanks Group plc
Shanks House

211 Blochairn Road
Bfochairn

Glasgow G21 2RL

Registered In Scotland No 77438

BELGIUM

Shanks Belgium

Rue Edouard Behn, 3/1.
BE 1435

Mont Saint Guibert
Belgium

Tel 00 32 (0) 1023 3660
Fax 00 32 (0) 1023 3661

corporate advisers

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Principal Bankers

ABN AMRO Bank nv

Barclays Bank plc

Fortis Bank s a

HSBC Bank plc

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc
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Financial Advisers
Greenhill & Co Internationat LLP

Solichtors
Ashurst LLP
Dickson Minto WS

GROUP COMPANY SECRETARY
Phiip Grffin Smuth, FCIS

UNITED KINGDOM

Shanks Waste Management
Dunedin House

Auckland Park

Mount Farm

Milton Keynes
Buckinghamshire MK1 1BU
Tel 00 44 (0) 1908 650650
Fax 00 44 (0) 1908 650699

Corporate Brokers
Hoare Govett Limited

Financial Public Relatlons Advisers
Cibigate Dewe Rogerson
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